
Wellbeing Board

Date: Friday 22 January 2021

Time: 10.00 am Public meeting Yes

Venue: This meeting is being held entirely by video conference facilities
Click here to view the meeting

Membership
Councillor Izzi Seccombe (Chair) WMCA Wellbeing Portfolio Holder
Councillor Paulette Hamilton (Vice-Chair) Birmingham City Council
Councillor Nicolas Barlow Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor John Beaumont Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough Council
Councillor Kamran Caan Coventry City Council
Councillor Les Caborn Warwickshire County Council
Councillor Stephen Craddock Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Karen Grinsell Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Jasbir Jaspal City of Wolverhampton Council
Councillor Farut Shaeen Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council
Wayne Brown West Midlands Fire Service
Andy Hardy STP Systems Leader NHS
Paul Jennings STP Systems Leader NHS
Paul Maubach STP Systems Leader NHS
Alison Tonge NHSE
Sue Ibbotson Public Health England
Guy Daly Universities (Coventry)
Sarah Marwick Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner
Sean Russell Director of  Implementation for Mental Health, 

Wellbeing & Radical Prevention
Lina Martino Public Health England

Quorum for this meeting shall be seven members.

If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact:

Contact Wendy Slater
Telephone 0121 214 7016
Email wendy.slater@wmca.org.uk

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/WestMidlandsCA


Agenda
Page 2 of 2

AGENDA
No. Item Presenting Pages

1.  Apologies for Absence Chair None

2.  Declarations of Interest
Members are reminded of the need to declare 
any disclosable pecuniary interests they have in 
an item being discussed during the course of the 
item being discussed during the course of the 
meeting. In addition, the receipt of any gift or 
hospitality should be declared where the value of 
it was thought to have exceeded £25 (gifts) or 
£40 (hospitality)

None

3.  Minutes of the last meeting Chair 1 - 4

4.  Matters Arising Chair None

5.  Chair's Remarks (if any) Chair None

6.  Health of the Region (HoR)  Report Ed Cox /Mubasshir 
Ajaz

5 - 138

7.  Post HoR Wellbeing Programmes Update :
 Strategic Transformation & Recovery 

Board

 BAME Thrive

 Physical Activity : lifestyle scoping 

 Intelligence Hub

Rebecca Farmer  
Sean Russell  
Simon Hall 

Lina Martino

139 - 160

8.  Working Together to promote active travel and 
health - West Midlands Active Travel Fund

Simon Hall/Deborah 
Fox

161 - 164

9.  Presentation : Commonwealth Games Legacy Simon Hall None

10.  Thrive at work Update Sean Russell 165 - 170

11.  Items for future meetings Chair None

12.  Date of the next meeting - 26 March 2021 at 
10.00 am

None



Page 1 of 4

Wellbeing Board

Friday 16 October 2020 at 10.00 am

Minutes

Present
Councillor Izzi Seccombe (Chair) WMCA Wellbeing Portfolio Holder
Councillor Paulette Hamilton (Vice-Chair) Birmingham City Council
Councillor Nicolas Barlow Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor John Beaumont Nuneaton and Bedworth Borough 

Council
Councillor Les Caborn Warwickshire County Council
Councillor Stephen Craddock Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Karen Grinsell Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Wayne Brown West Midlands Fire Service
Rebecca Farmer NHSE
Peter Ingham STP
Paul Maubach STP Systems Leader NHS
Guy Daly Universities (Coventry)
Sean Russell Director of  Implementation for Mental 

Health, Wellbeing & Radical Prevention
Lina Martino Public Health England

In Attendance
Mubasshir Ajaz West MIdlands Combined Authority
Ed Cox West Midlands Combined Authority
Simon Hall West Midlands Combined Authority
Jodie Townsend West Midlands Combined Authority

Item
No.

Title

13.  Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Caan, Councillor 
Jaspal, Andy Hardy, Paul Jennings and Alison Tonge.

14.  Nomination of Substitutes
The following substitutes had been received :

Peter Ingham for Paul Jennings and Rebecca Farmer for Alison Tonge.

15.  Chair's Remarks (to include  intro to new Head of Wellbeing & 
Prevention )
The Chair welcomed the new Head of Wellbeing and Prevention, Mubasshir 
Ajaz, to his first meeting of the Wellbeing Board. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Page 2 of 4

Mubasshir Ajaz outlined his background prior to joining the WMCA and 
reported that he wanted to focus on tackling health inequalities in the region. 
Mubasshir Ajaz also acknowledged the work undertaken by Sean Russell to 
date which was echoed by the Chair who conveyed her thanks and 
appreciation to Sean Russell on behalf of the board.

16.  Minutes of the last meeting
The minutes of the meeting held on 17 July 2020 were agreed as a true 
record.

17.  Single Assurance Framework - Impact on thematic board terms of 
reference
Jodie Townsend, Governance Consultant, presented a report on the Single 
Assurance Framework that was agreed by the WMCA Board on 24 July 
2020.

The report set out the purpose of the Single Assurance Framework, the 
proposed core roles and implications for thematic boards and portfolio 
improvements.

Jodie Townsend reported that standardised terms of reference had been 
developed for thematic boards to support core roles and to ensure a 
consistent approach is delivered across the WMCA for each portfolio area.

The approach set out in the report was endorsed and it was agreed that the  
current non-voting members of the board should continue to be members as 
the organisations they represented all played a key role in delivering/ 
supporting the health and wellbeing agenda in the region.

Resolved :

1. That the Single Assurance Framework requirements for thematic 
boards be noted;

2. That the proposed portfolio improvements for the Wellbeing Board be 
noted and 

3. That the amended terms of reference for the board as set out in 
Appendix A of the report be endorsed.

18.  Regional Health Impacts of Covid-19  Discussion Paper
The Director of Inclusive Growth and Public Service Reform, Ed Cox and 
Lina Martino, PHE/WMCA Consultant in Public Health, presented a 
discussion paper along with a slide presentation that set out the emerging 
findings from the impact of Covid-19 from the Regional Health Impact of 
Covid-19 (RHIC) Task and Finish Group. This included the underlying health 
inequalities in the region, key West Midlands insights, opportunities for 
change and the framework for commitments to action to unlock change for 
the region.

The Director of Inclusive Growth and Public Service Reform conveyed his 

Page 2



Page 3 of 4

thanks to colleagues and stakeholders who had supplied evidence to the 
task and finish group and asked for any comments on the commitments to 
action to be provided by the 21 October deadline. He advised that the 
WMCA would work with partners on agreeing the recommendations to 
Government.

It was noted that the findings, conclusions and recommendations from RHIC 
would form the basis of  the Health of the Region report (set out in the report) 
that would be submitted to the WMCA Board in November prior to the 
recommendations being submitted to Government.

The Director of Inclusive Growth and Public Service Reform reported that he 
would send a letter to all to reinforce the commitments made by various 
partners in the region. 

The Chair reported that it was important communities had confidence that 
change would happen in the region and acknowledged the dependency 
between health and wealth and the need to provide residents of the West 
Midlands with the best possible jobs, housing and skills.

Resolved:

1. That the outline of the Health of the Region Report as set out be 
noted;

2. That the WMCA gain Commitments to Action from local and regional 
partners be supported and

3. That the potential recommendations to Government as discussed be 
taken forward.

.

19.  Preparedness
Rebecca Farmer, NHSE, outlined the steps being taken by the NHS to 
prepare for the second wave of Covid-19.

In relation to an enquiry from the Vice- Chair, Councillor Hamilton regarding 
the Nightingale Hospital in the region and how often an assessment is made 
as to whether the facility should be utilised, Rebecca Farmer reported that an 
assessment is made on a weekly basis however, this would be reviewed 
more frequently if there was a surge in Covid cases.

Resolved: That the update be noted.

20.  Thrive Update
The Director of Implementation for Mental Health, Wellbeing and Radical 
Prevention, Sean Russell provided an update on the various Thrive 
programmes.

It was noted that 540 people had successfully found jobs from the Thrive into 
Work programme and over 400 businesses have joined the Thrive at Work 

Page 3



Page 4 of 4

programme at foundation level.

Sean Russell reported that 40,000 people had now been trained in mental 
health first and that the Thrive programmes would take on board the learning 
from the Covid-19 RHIC Task and Finish Group with regards to mental 
health. 

Sean Russell advised that the Thrive Awards that are usually held during 
January, might be held virtually next year and further details would follow in 
due course.

The Chair congratulated Sean Russell and the team for their work on mental 
health.

Resolved: That the update be noted.

21.  Physical Activity Strategy & Physical Activity Commissioner Proposal
The board considered a report of the Physical Activity Strategy Strategic 
Lead, Simon Hall that outlined the proposed future direction of the WMCA’s 
West Midlands on the Move Strategic Framework and set out ‘Halting the 
Gap’, Physical Activity Implementation Plan 2020/21 for approval.

The report set out the background to the Physical Activity Implementation 
Plan which included the impact of lockdown and the Birmingham 
Commonwealth Games.

Simon Hall outlined the report and 2 physical activity funding asks, notably a 
Physical Activity Fund; to focus on the co-design of community activities and 
to support the Commonwealth Games physical activity legacy and, social 
and walking prescribing and cycling region ; a pilot that would look at the 
impact of different incentives to encourage more BAME and vulnerable 
communities to take walking and cycling to improve their physical and mental 
health.

The board endorsed the report.

Resolved : That the ‘Halting the Gap’, Physical Activity Implementation Plan 
2020/21 as set out in the report be approved.

22.  Forward Plan
The Director of Inclusive Growth and Public Service Reform, Ed Cox 
reported that updates on Covid-19 RHIC and Thrive would be presented to 
the next meeting.

23.  Date of Next Meeting - 22 January 2021

The meeting ended at 11.53 am.

Page 4



Health of the 
Region 2020
Addressing health and wellbeing inequalities and 
the impacts of COVID-19 in the West Midlands

P
age 5

A
genda Item

 6



Contents

Foreword                                                                                                           4

Acknowledgements                                                                                               6

Executive Summary                                                                                                8

Introduction                                                                                                       13
Background                                                                                                            13

Health inequalities across the life course                                                                        14
Recognising the impacts of COVID-19                                                                          14

The Regional Health Impacts of COVID-19 Task & Finish Group                                                  15
Aims and purpose of report                                                                                          15
Comment on Black Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) phrase and representation                             16

Section 1 Health and health inequalities in the West Midlands region                                       17
1 1 Who are our people?                                                                                              17
1 2 Life expectancy and quality of life                                                                               21

Impacts of COVID-19 on length and quality of life                                                              25
1 3 Causes of ill health, early death and preventable disease                                                    35

Screening and early intervention                                                                                42
Impacts of COVID-19 on health behaviours and risks                                                         45

1 4 Causes of unhealthy lifestyles: understanding the ‘causes of the causes’                                   46
The economic and environmental impact of COVID-19                                                       50

2

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 6



1 5 Living with challenges                                                                                           55
Structural racism and ethnic disparities as determinants of health                                          55
Vulnerable children and young people                                                                          57
Disability and long-term health conditions                                                                     60
Inclusion health and vulnerable groups                                                                          61
Box 3: Impact of COVID-19 on women                                                                         64
Increasing risk of harm through violence and exploitation                                                   66
Box 4: Digital inclusion and the ‘digital divide’                                                                  67

Section 1 summary                                                                                                   69

Section 2  Opportunities for change                                                                           70
2 1 Closing the health and wealth gap through radical prevention                                               70
2 2 Inclusive growth within an inclusive economy                                                                  73
2 3 Place-based approaches and community-centred public health                                             75

2 3 1 Anchor institutions                                                                                          76
2 4 Local application and developing opportunities for action                                                    76

2 4 1 Crisis response                                                                                               78
2 4 2 Community engagement                                                                                  80
2 4 3 Data and intelligence                                                                                      83
2 4 4 Workforce wellbeing                                                                                       84
2 4 5 Innovation and system change                                                                            84

Section 2 summary                                                                                                   89

Section 3  Commitments to action and recommendations                                                   90
1  Improving outcomes for BAME communities                                                                   92
2  Tackling the wider determinants of health                                                                      94
3  Widening access to health and care                                                                             96
4  People-powered health                                                                                           98
Recommendations to Government                                                                                 100

References                                                                                                        101
Appendix 1 Call for Evidence Submissions                                                                    107
Appendix 2 Thematic analysis of qualitative evidence                                                       114

3

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 7



Foreword

Since the publication of the Marmot Review in 
2010, life expectancy in England has stalled and 
health inequalities have continued to widen  
Across the West Midlands Combined Authority, 
both life expectancy and healthy life expectancy 
remain lower the national average  This has been 
both exposed and exacerbated by the ongoing 
coronavirus pandemic, with our Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic (BAME) communities among 
those most affected 

To reduce widening and persistent health inequalities, a radical 
shift is needed to put communities at the heart of public health, to 
tackle systemic discrimination and disadvantage as a public health 
problem, and build healthy, resilient, connected and empowered 
communities  

While empowering individuals and communities to improve their 
own health is important, it is crucial to recognise that we all live 
within social and environmental contexts  Radical prevention is 
about tackling entrenched social disadvantage, working across 
the whole system to bring about a fundamental shift towards 
addressing the underlying causes of poor health  

The interdependence between health and wealth is the core 
theme that unites the work of the WMCA with that of health 
partners in the region  Health and wealth are two sides of the 
same coin; the impact of socioeconomic deprivation on health has 
long been recognised, but equally prosperity cannot be achieved 
without good health 

4

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 8



The key to building a healthier, fairer and greener West Midlands 
is to put health and wellbeing at the heart of our social, economic 
and environmental policies, and to ensure that every citizen is 
able to maximise their full potential at every stage of their lives  
Despite the challenges faced in responding to and recovering 
from the coronavirus pandemic, the renewed focus on health 
inequalities gives us a once-in-a lifetime opportunity to re-
evaluate, reset and redress the balance  And we must do this now 

In a recent interview, Sir Michael Marmot was asked about the 
urgency of tackling these issues and his response was very clear: 
“We address structural racism today, right now  We don’t say, ‘Oh, 
we’ll put it off while we deal with the crisis ’ No, we do it right now 
because it’s causing the problems right now ”

This report is a call to action for all of our partners and 
stakeholders to work together to address long-standing 
inequalities in the West Midlands, and to make a collective 
commitment to achieving positive change in our region 

Mayor Andy Street

Mayor of the West Midlands 
Combined Authority

Cllr Izzi Secombe
Portfolio holder for Wellbeing 

and Prevention, WMCA

Dr Mubasshir Ajaz
Head of Wellbeing and 

Prevention, WMCA

5

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 9



Acknowledgements

This report was written by the Core 
Group members to the WMCA 
Regional Health Impact of COVID-19 
Task and Finish Group  We are grateful 
to Dr Francis Howie, who contributed 
to the development of the initial draft  
The authors are grateful to all of the 
members to the Task and Finish Group 
who offered their time and expertise 
to steer this work 

We are also grateful to the Mayor 
of WMCA, Andy Street, the WMCA 
Strategic Leadership Team and the 
WMCA Health & Wellbeing Board 
members who have greatly supported 
this piece of work and its next steps 

We are particularly grateful to the 
organisations and individuals who 
responded to the Call for Evidence 
for their invaluable insight into the 
activities across the West Midlands in 
response to COVID-19, and the impact 
this has had  We are also grateful to 
participants in two BAME roundtables 
hosted by the mayor who provided 
helpful insights at the beginning and 
the end of this work  Without the 
submissions to the Call for Evidence 
and the roundtables, this report would 
not have been possible  A summary of 
evidence is listed in Appendix 1 

Written by

Dr Lina Martino
Consultant in Public Health leading PHE Population 
Health Intelligence Hub

Ed Cox
Director for Inclusive Growth and Public Service 
Reform, WMCA

Dr Mubasshir Ajaz
Head of Wellbeing and Prevention, WMCA

Sean Russell
Head of Thrive, WMCA

Grace Scrivens
Coordinator for Regional Health Impact of 
COVID-19 Task and Finish Group, PHE

6

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 10



The members to the Task and Finish Group were as follows: 

Jonathan Tew  Birmingham City Council 
Stephen Raybould   Birmingham Voluntary Service Council (BVSC) 
Paul Maubach   Black Country and West Birmingham CCG 
Mark Axcell  Black Country Healthcare NHS Foundation Trust  
Joy Warmington BRAP
Chris Ham   Coventry & Warwickshire STP 
Guy Daly   Coventry University 
John Denley   DPH Wolverhampton 
Amrick Ubhi Mayor’s Faith Network and Nishkam Centre
Alison Tonge  NHSE 
Lola Abudu   PHE 
Sue Ibbotson   PHE 
Lina Martino  PHE 
Grace Scrivens (Project Coordinator)  PHE 
Dave Rosser    University Hospitals Birmingham 
Mike Sexton University Hospitals Birmingham 
Emma Pearce Violence Reduction Unit 
Helen Paterson   Walsall MBC 
Ed Cox (Chair)  WMCA 
Claire Dhami WMCA
Sean Russell  WMCA 
Bec Riley   WMREDI 

7

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 11



Executive Summary

The Health of the Region 2020 report presents 
a comprehensive analysis of the health of the 
West Midlands population  In particular, it 
highlights national and regional evidence of the 
impacts of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic 
which shows that long-standing inequalities in 
physical and mental health have widened as a 
consequence of the pandemic, both through 
direct effects of the virus, and through indirect 
effects of the control measures taken – and 
particularly among our Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic (BAME) communities 

The report shows that:

• We must begin with the urgent task of improving outcomes for 
BAME communities  Targeted and immediate action to tackle 
structural racism is an urgent and immediate priority 

• But lasting change will only happen when we take a systemic 
approach to tackling the wider determinants of health and 
dealing with the structural inequalities we find in our economy, 
housing market, education, justice and transport systems 

• Similarly, we must tackle inequalities in the health and care 
system and widen access to health and care services  This 
requires a fundamental rebalancing of funding and focus on 
primary and preventative care 

• These challenges, in turn, will create the conditions in which 
people-powered health can flourish and healthy lifestyles can 
become the norm 

8

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 12



Health inequalities in the West Midlands:

• Even prior to the pandemic, there were entrenched and 
persisting health inequalities in our region  On average people 
in the WMCA have a shorter life expectancy than England 
overall, and spend more of their lives in poor health  Women 
in the WMCA live for 82 2 years on average (England 83 2) 
and spend 22 years in poor health; men live for 78 0 years on 
average (England 79 6) and spend 18 years in poor health 

• This is due largely to above national average rates of 
premature deaths from preventable causes (cardiovascular 
disease, cancer, liver disease and respiratory disease) as well as 
higher infant mortality rates  These correspond to higher rates 
of problem drinking, obesity (child and adult) and physical 
inactivity as well as lower cancer screening cover 

• Premature deaths from preventable causes in turn correspond 
to wider determinants of health, or the ‘causes of the causes’  
Most areas in the WMCA have a greater level of socioeconomic 
deprivation than the national average, with approximately a 
quarter of children living in low income households   Gross 
Disposal Household Income (GDHI) per person in 2017 was 
£16,479 compared with £19,514 in the UK as a whole 

• The lives of many people in the WMCA are hard, and 
unhealthy behaviours are often coping mechanisms for people 
who live in challenging circumstances, or reflect the limitations 
of the environments they live in  Often people want to make 
positive changes to improve their health, such as being more 
active or giving up smoking, but are not supported to do so 
and feel powerless to make positive change 

The impact of Covid-19 in the West Midlands

• In line with national findings, the pandemic has exposed and 
exacerbated existing health inequalities  The WMCA has a 
higher rate of cases overall than the region as a whole, with 
Birmingham and Sandwell most affected; rates are also high 
in Solihull, Walsall and Wolverhampton  The highest rates of 
COVID-19 related deaths are in more deprived areas, and areas 
with a greater proportion of residents from BAME communities 

• Lockdown and social distancing measures have had direct 
impacts on wellbeing and on health behaviours  Anxiety has 
increased significantly in the West Midlands region, with almost 
half of people surveyed (47 9%) reporting high levels of anxiety 
compared to a 2019 average of 21 9%   On average, people 
reporting feeling ‘often lonely’ ranged from 4 9% to 6 5% over 
this period; and was generally higher for younger people 

• Although the pathways are complex and multi-faceted, the 
fundamental link between health and wealth is still clear  
Ultimately, where people are already marginalised and 
excluded, they are likely to be left further behind as we 
respond to and recover from COVID-19 unless we actively 
work to address this  Engagement with stakeholders has 
consistently highlighted the need to address structural racism 
and discrimination, which interacts with social and economic 
determinants of health across the whole system 

9

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 13



A ‘radical prevention’ approach

• In order to address the immediate and emerging health 
impacts of Covid-19 and take steps towards a happier and 
healthier population, more resilient to future pandemics, we 
need to adopt a ‘radical prevention’ approach 

• Radical prevention means taking action as a whole system 
to tackle the underlying causes of poor health and health 
inequalities (the ‘causes of the causes’) and shifting to more 
person and community-centred approaches to health and 
wellbeing  Early intervention and prevention in the early years 
can have lifelong impact, as well as yielding significant return 
on investment 

• Radical prevention also involves demanding more inclusive 
economic growth which can reduce health inequalities  This 
can be done through improving access to employment, raising 
income, increasing community safety, improving housing quality 
and affordability, raising aspirations and improving educational 
outcomes, providing a high quality local environment and green 
space, enhancing social relationships and connectedness, and 
increasing opportunities for participation 

Commitments to action and recommendations

We have identified 4 key challenges arising from this work and 
for each of these challenges, the WMCA and its partners have 
made over 50 commitments to action and set out a series of 12 
recommendations to government  These are summarised in the 
tables on the following two pages 

• Challenge 1: Improving outcomes for BAME communities

• Challenge 2: Tackling the wider determinants of health

• Challenge 3: Widening access to health and care

• Challenge 4: People-powered health

10

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 14



Challenge 1: Improving outcomes 
for BAME communities

Selected Commitments to 
Action (full list in Section 3)

• PHE West Midlands will 
develop a BAME and 
Disparities workplan

• Birmingham and Solihull 
STP will routinely produce 
data with detailed analysis 
of factors including ethnicity 
and deprivation

• WMCA will develop a 
targeted Thrive mental health 
programme co-designed 
with BAME employers and 
employees

Recommendations to government

• Government should produce 
a clear and comprehensive 
action plan setting out how 
it will work with local and 
regional partners to take 
action on race disparities and 
associated risk factors 

• Government should 
commission further data, 
research and analytical 
work at the local and 
regional level to understand 
the geographical and 
place dimensions of race 
disparities in health 

Challenge 2: Tackling the wider 
determinants of health

Selected Commitments to Action 
(full list in Section 3)

• WMCA will work with partners 
to become a Marmot City-
Region and develop a 3-year 
action plan for change 

• The new multi-agency 
Midlands System 
Transformation Recovery 
(STaR) Board, working with 
PHE WM, will establish a 
Health Inequalities Working 
Group which will:

• support Integrated Care 
Systems to plan and 
be held accountable 
for addressing health 
inequalities within the 
populations they serve;

• provide standards, 
guidance and tools to 
ensure health inequalities 
are considered in the 
design and evaluation of 
new NHS services 

Recommendations to government

• The NHS should make local 
action on tackling health 
inequalities the focus of 
the NHS ‘Phase 4 Letter’ on 
Covid19 

• Government should make 
health and wellbeing outcomes 
a key driver of economic 
development and levelling-up 
policies including industrial 
strategy and local industrial 
strategies; the UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund; Towns Fund; 
and future devolution deals 

• Government should double the 
proportion of health and social 
care spending focused on 
prevention and public health 
from 5 to 10 percent over time 

11

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 15



Challenge 3: Widening access to health and care

Selected Commitments to 
Action (full list in Section 3)

• Black Country and West 
Birmingham CCG will develop 
an Academy to provide 
population health management 
capacity to the system  It 
is developing a number of 
population health management 
projects that will widen access 
to health and care including 
early diagnosis of cancer in 
vulnerable groups 

• Birmingham and Solihull STP 
will develop population health 
management within Primary 
Care Networks (PCNs) and 
ensure its primary care estate 
is under one digital domain by 
March 2021 promoting digitally 
enabled care for staff to work 
together in virtual multi-
disciplinary teams 

• University Hospitals 
Birmingham will use digital 
transformation to reduce 
health inequalities by enabling 
people to access healthcare 
and information in a more 
accessible way, including 
creating community diagnostic 
hubs in local neighbourhoods 

Recommendations to government

• Government should ensure 
that Local Authorities 
have sufficient powers to 
improve public health and 
reduce health inequalities, 
with Mayoral Combined 
Authorities providing support 
where they can add value 

• Government should support 
the WMCA’s proposal to 
establish digital screening 
hubs in high footfall transport 
locations 

• Government must close the 
gap in primary care provision 
between the most and least 
deprived neighbourhoods in 
terms of funding per patient 
and serving GPs 

• Government must widen 
its plans and increase its 
investment to tackle digital 
poverty with a particular 
focus on those who do not 
access health and care 
services online 

Challenge 4: People-powered health

Selected Commitments to 
Action (full list in Section 3)

• WMCA is committed to 
increase cycling from 3% 
to 5% of mode share by 
2023 through the delivery 
of the WM Cycling Charter 
and extending cycling and 
walking routes  

• WMCA will work with other 
Commonwealth Games 
Delivery Partners to develop 
a long lasting physical 
activity and wellbeing legacy 
for the region 

• Black Country & West 
Birmingham CCG PCNs 
will have recruited 63 social 
prescribing link workers, 
38 care coordinators and 
12 Health and Wellbeing 
Coaches by March 2021 and 
plan to recruit more than 200 
posts by March 2024 

• The Walsall for All Board will 
raise public awareness about 
the support available to 
improve mental and physical 
wellbeing through the 
Walsall Together partnership 

Recommendations to government

• Government should invest 
in the WMCA’s Radical 
Health Prevention Fund to 
drive forward innovation, 
social prescribing and other 
initiatives to tackle health 
inequalities in the region

• Government should pilot the 
Kruger report’s Community 
Right to Serve provisions for 
health and social care in the 
West Midlands 

12

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 16



Introduction

Background

National and regional evidence 
on the impacts of coronavirus 
(COVID-19) shows that 
inequalities in physical and 
mental health have widened as 
a consequence of the pandemic  
This is a result of both the direct 
effects of the virus, and the 
indirect effects through the 
control measures taken 1

Although this has led to an increased focus 
on health inequalities, particularly those 
affecting BAME communities,2 the reality 
is that these disparities have persisted 
for a long time  The recent update to the 
Marmot Review3 showed that even before 
the pandemic increases in life expectancy 
were slowing down, particularly in the 
most deprived areas of the country and 
especially for women  There is also a 
marked social gradient in healthy life 
expectancy, with people in the most 
deprived areas spending more of their lives 
in ill health  

It has long been recognised that the 
conditions in which we are born, grow, 
live, work and age have important 
implications for our physical and mental 
health, as individuals and across wider 
society – and that for many citizens in 
the West Midlands, these conditions 
are far from optimal  Broadly, greater 
socioeconomic deprivation is associated 

with poorer health outcomes  This is 
due to the impact of deprivation on the 
wider determinants of health – our social, 
physical and economic environments  
Housing, employment and skills, and 
social connections– ‘jobs, homes, friends’ 
– are key, and can be interpreted in their 
broadest senses  Again some of these 
effects are direct, and others are indirect, 
or mediated by health behaviours; for 
example, a lack of green space and poor 
air quality can have a direct impact on 
respiratory health and mental wellbeing, 
and also an indirect impact through 
reducing participation in physical activity 

 

13

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 17



Health inequalities across the 
life course

Health problems in working age and older 
adults reflect the impact of cumulative 
disadvantage across the life course  Child 
poverty rates have increased nationally and 
will continue to have long-term negative 
impacts on the lives of children, families 
and communities  On average, 22% of 
children were living in poverty before 
housing costs in England in 2017/18 – 30% 
after taking into account housing costs, 
and higher in areas with high housing 
costs  This increased to 47% for children 
in lone parent families, and over 70% for 
those living in workless families 4 

Taking a life course perspective to 
reduce health inequalities means acting 
as early as possible to reduce the 
cumulative disadvantage that begins in 
early childhood  However, it also means 
recognising that there are opportunities to 
improve health & wellbeing at any age 

Recognising the impacts 
of COVID-19

The Royal College of Physicians and Public 
Health England have worked with NHS 
Providers and the Provider Public Health 
Network to identify groups that may be 
disproportionately affected by COVID-19 
(Figure 1) 5 These include people with 
protected characteristics; those who are 
socioeconomically disadvantaged or live 
in deprived areas; and inclusion health and 
marginalised groups  

Social distancing and isolation can also have 
a detrimental impact on mental health and 
wellbeing, including through harmful health 
behaviours and reducing access to services 
and support  People who misuse or are 
dependent on drugs and alcohol may be at 
increased risk of becoming infected with the 
virus, and infecting others  They may also be 
more vulnerable to the impact of infection 
due to underlying conditions  Rough sleepers 
are a particularly vulnerable group and are 
unable in the ordinary course of events to 
self-isolate 

Understanding population vulnerabilities, 
risk factors and inequalities is important 
to inform both the acute response phase 
and the recovery and repair phase over 
the longer term  As well as mitigating the 

impact of COVID-19 it is important to ensure 
existing physical and mental health and 
wellbeing needs are being met, and that 
we continue to address health inequalities 
through improving the social and economic 
conditions in which people live  

Figure 1: Groups that may be 
disproportionately affected by COVID-19  
(adapted from PHE/RCP, 2020)

Socioeconomic/
Deprivation
(e.g. unemployed, 
low income, 
deprived areas)

Equality & diversity
(e.g. age, sex, race, 
religion, sexual 
orientation, disability, 
pregnancy & maternity)

Inclusion health & 
vulnerable groups
(e.g. homeless 
people; Gypsy, Roma 
& Travellers; sex 
workers; vulnerable 
migrants; people who 
leave prison)

Geography
(e.g. urban, rural)

14

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 18



The Regional Health Impacts of COVID-19 Task & Finish Group

The Regional Health Impacts of COVID-19 
(RHIC) Task & Finish Group was convened 
in June 2020 to focus on the relationship 
between the disparities in the health 
and economic impacts of the pandemic 
identified by the PHE review and wider 
health inequalities in the WMCA Region  
The group includes representation from 
the WMCA, PHE, local authorities, the 
NHS, universities and the voluntary & 
community sector  

An interim report6 was published by 
the WMCA and the PHE Population 
Intelligence Hub for the RHIC group in 
August 2020  This included analyses of 
population vulnerabilities, risk factors and 
inequalities, and occupational inequalities 
intersected with ethnicity which are 
discussed in the following section  The 
interim report also identified stakeholder 
concerns around the upcoming challenges 
facing the West Midlands over the coming 
months and the unique opportunities for 
action and partnership working presented 
by the pandemic 

The report was accompanied by a call for 
evidence7 which sought to understand 
experiences and impacts of COVID-19 

among individuals and communities; 
challenges and barriers for citizens, 
communities and organisations; examples 
of good practice in improving accessibility; 
and changes in approach and further 
support needs  A variety of reports, 
quantitative data and qualitative feedback 
was received in response to the call for 
evidence, which have informed subsequent 
sections of the report  A thematic analysis 
of qualitative submissions can be found in 
Appendix 2 

Aims and purpose of report

This report is divided into three sections to 
describe the extent of health inequalities 
in the WMCA region and opportunities 
for action, considering the relationship 
between health and wealth and the 
impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic  It 
should be viewed alongside the State of 
the Region report,8 which focuses on the 
economy and growth 

Part 1 of the report describes the health of 
the people who live in the West Midlands   
It shows where change was needed 
even before COVID-19, and how existing 
inequalities have been exposed and 
exacerbated by the pandemic 

Part 2 discusses how change can happen 
to build community resilience and embed 
prevention across all we do   It considers 
a new approach, taking full advantage 
of the many opportunities presented by 
a Combined Authority and its partners – 
and emerging opportunities following the 
COVID-19 pandemic   

Part 3 sets out priority areas for action and 
next steps, with a series of commitments 
for action from key partners 

15

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 19



Comment on Black Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) phrase and representation

In the aftermath of the PHE reports on adverse impact 
of Covid-19 on Black Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) 
communities, there has been an important debate around the 
appropriateness of the use of the phrase BAME as a collective 
for all ethnic minorities  The use of BAME has been debated for 
a few years9,10,11 and the phrase is mainly used in the UK, while 
the US prefer to use “person of colour” to identify the collective 12 
While useful in relating to national policy documents, there are a 
number of reasons why the phrase is problematic  

First, if the only qualification for inclusion in BAME is being 
non-white, then we miss out on many ethnic minority 
groups that identify as White Other, such as Roma people, 
Traveller communities or some Turkish or Arab communities 13 
Black British Academics have also argued that using BAME 
‘reproduces unequal power relations where white is not 
a visible marker of identity and is therefore a privileged 
identity’ 14,15 Secondly, experiences of people within the 
BAME categorisation are quite different, owing to their group 
identities and journeys within the UK  The nuances between 
South Asian groups’ experiences and also between Black 
African and Black Caribbean are important, and these are 
in danger of being masked with a collective phrase such as 
BAME16  There are also issues of intersectionality and multiple 
disadvantage within groups, based on gender, language, 
religion and/or sexual orientation 

Different phrases are used to describe people from ethnic 
minority backgrounds, but even the phrase ‘ethnic minority’ 
is contested  Some suggestions have included the use of 
‘racialised communities’ as an alternative, to describe groups 
of people who have essentially been at the receiving end of 
structural racism or othering  While others have opted to spell 
out BAME to indicate a heterogenous group and then go even 
more granular and state Pakistani, Bangladeshi or Vietnamese 
instead of Asian or Nigerian or Jamaican instead of Black or 
Black African or Caribbean  

Given there is a lack of a clear alternative, it seems there is 
still usefulness in the use of BAME classification, as it ensures 
consistency with current wide usage amongst public bodies 
and many other institutions  It is important to acknowledge 
the discourse and sensitivities around the classification and 
continue to use BAME as a collective phrase until a widely 
used alternative is agreed upon  

16

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 20



Section 1 

Health and health inequalities 
in the West Midlands region

This section describes the people who live in 
the WMCA’s seven constituent local authority 
areas, how long they live, and the factors that 
contribute to inequalities in health, wellbeing 
and quality of life  It also considers who is most 
vulnerable to COVID-19, both in terms of health 
and economic impacts 

1 1 Who are our people?

The West Midlands Combined Authority (WMCA) membership 
consists of 18 local authorities (seven of which are constituent 
members) and three Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) 
(Figure 2)   For the purpose of this report, the main focus will be 
on the seven constituent authority areas: Birmingham, Coventry, 
Dudley, Sandwell, Solihull, Walsall and Wolverhampton  However, 
many of the issues and approaches identified will be applicable 
across the West Midlands region as a whole, particularly in 
relation to groups that may be disproportionately affected by the 
health and economic impacts of COVID-19  

The WMCA has a population of approximately 2 9 million 
people  Birmingham is the largest constituent authority with 
approximately 1 1 million residents; the remaining population is 
more or less evenly distributed between the other six constituent 
local authorities   The population of the WMCA is diverse, both 
between and within Local Authority areas  

17

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 21



Population density is the highest in 
Birmingham, with 42 6 people per hectare 
and lowest in Solihull with 12 2 people 
per hectare (2019 mid-year population 
estimates, ONS)   The population has grown 
faster than previously anticipated and is 
projected to increase by 9 6% by 2038  

Figure 2: WMCA constituent authorities and 
Local Enterprise Partnerships

18

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 22



Population density is the highest in 
Birmingham, with 42 6 people per hectare 
and lowest in Solihull with 12 2 people 
per hectare (2019 mid-year population 
estimates, ONS)   The population has grown 
faster than previously anticipated and is 
projected to increase by 9 6% by 2038  

Figure 2: WMCA constituent authorities and 
Local Enterprise Partnerships

Age and sex

Figure 3 shows the distribution of female 
and male residents across 5-year age bands  
On average, the population is slightly 
younger than the England average and has 
a slightly higher proportion of working age 
people  However, this varies considerably 
across the region, ranging from 32 1 years in 
Coventry to 43 1 years in Solihull  

Table 1: WMCA population estimates by age group

Total Population Aged 0-15 Working age 
population

Aged 65+ Dependency ratio

2,916,415 626,190 1,839,350 450,875 0 59

49 5% male; 50 5% 
female

21 5% (England 
average = 19 2%)

63 1% (England 
average = 62 6%)

15 5% (England 
average = 18 2%)

England average 
= 0 60

Source: Mid-year estimates, ONS (2018)

Figure 3: WMCA population Estimates by 5-year age band 
Mid-year estimates, ONS (2018)

19

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 23



Ethnicity

The WMCA population is more ethnically diverse than that of 
both England and the West Midlands region overall, and a high 
rate of international net in-migration with variations in the origins 
of migrants means that this diversity is likely to increase with our 
growing population  In the WMCA an estimated 30 6% of our 
residents are from BAME groups compared with 14 0% in England 
and 17 4 across the whole of the West Midlands  This ranges from 
9 0% in Dudley to 43 0% in Birmingham  

We also have slightly more residents who were born outside the 
UK or do not have English as their main language, though the 
gap is far smaller  In the WMCA 16 6% of the population were 
born outside the UK (England average 13 8%), and just 5 7% are in 
households where no members have English as a first language 
(England average 4 4%; ONS Census 2011)   These figures will 
include people from White non-British backgrounds 

This reflects the nuanced relationship between ethnicity 
and nationality, and the fact that many families from diverse 
ethnic backgrounds have been settled in the UK for a number 
of generations  This is especially relevant when considering 
approaches to community engagement: although there may be 
characteristics and experiences that are common among specific 
groups, the categories are broad and it is important to understand 
the diversity of the populations – and their needs and experiences 
as individuals and families - within them  Rather than providing 
an in-depth analysis of the issues affecting specific demographic 
groups, these profiles serve as indicators of where further 
attention may be needed 

Sexual Orientation

In 2018, 94 4% of the England population aged 16 years and 
over identified as heterosexual or straight  This represents a 
continuation of the decrease seen since 2014, when 95 1% of the 
population identified themselves as heterosexual or straight  
2 3% of people identified as lesbian, gay or bisexual, with 0 6% 
identifying as ‘other’ and 2 8% stating that they did not know 
or did not want to say 17  It is acknowledged that there is likely 
to be underreporting of LGB identities, and the actual figure is 
estimated to be around 5-7% 18 

The East Midlands and West Midlands were the regions that saw 
the largest change in the proportion of people identifying as LGB 
over the last four years, with both increasing from 2014 to 2018 
(from 1 2% to 2 2% and 1 3% to 2 3% respectively) 

No robust data on the UK transgender population exists; however, 
the Government Equalities Office tentatively estimates that there 
are approximately 200,000-500,000 trans people in the UK 19

Faith or Belief

People in the West Midlands region have a greater level of 
religious affiliation than in England & Wales overall (ONS Census 
2011)   The majority of the population (60 2%) are Christian (E&W 
59 0%), and 6 7% are Muslim (E&W 5 0%)  22 0% declared that 
they have no religion compared with 25% in England & Wales 20

20

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 24



Disability

Almost 1 in 5 people in the West Midlands Metropolitan area 
(19 2%) has a limiting or long-term illness or disability  This is 
higher than England overall (ONS Census 2011) 

The Equality Act defines disability as any physical or mental 
impairment that has a substantial and long term effect on people’s 
ability to carry out day to day activities   This covers a broad 
spectrum of conditions including mobility difficulties, sight loss, 
hearing loss, people with mental health impairments, dyslexia and 
other neurodiverse conditions, speech impairments and people 
with learning disabilities   Progressive conditions such as HIV, 
cancer, dementia and multiple sclerosis are also included  

1 2 Life expectancy and quality of life

How long are lives?

Life expectancy is the average number of years that an individual 
is expected to live based on current mortality rates  People in 
the WMCA have shorter lives than the average for the UK, with 
women living a little longer than men in line with national trends 
(Table 2)  Life expectancy in the WMCA is 82 2 years for females 
and 78 0 years for males – this is 1 0 years lower than England 
for females and1 6 years lower for males respectively  This 
corresponds to a higher level of socioeconomic deprivation across 
the WMCA overall compared to the national average 

The length of life also varies significantly within the WMCA area   
People live longest in Solihull and lives are shortest in Sandwell 
and Wolverhampton, again reflecting patterns of socioeconomic 
deprivation  There is also variation within these areas  Inequality 
in life expectancy at birth is a measure of disparity which shows 
how much life expectancy varies with deprivation within England 
as a whole and within local areas  Within the WMCA region, 
inequality in life expectancy at birth is greatest in Coventry and 
Solihull, indicating that the relative advantages these areas have 
are not distributed evenly across their populations (see Table 2) 

Whilst most people live long lives, it is also sadly true that more 
babies die here before the age of one than they do on average 
in the rest of England   Our infant mortality rate is 6 7 per 1,000 
live births compared with a national figure of 3 9  Again, there 
are differences across the region, from 4 4 per 1,000 live births in 
Dudley to 8 2 in Sandwell  

21

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 25



Table 2: Overview of health inequalities in the WMCA

Indicators Period

En
gl

an
d

W
M

C
A

Bi
rm

in
gh

am

C
ov

en
tr

y

D
ud

le
y

Sa
nd

w
el

l

So
lih

ul
l

W
al

sa
ll

W
ol

ve
rh

am
pt

on

Deprivation score (IMD 2019) 2019 21 7 31 9 38 1 25 6 24 1 34 9 17 4 31 6 32 1

Life expectancy at birth (Female) 2016-18 83 2 82 2 82 2 82 1 82 8 81 1 84 1 82 0 81 4

Life expectancy at birth (Male) 2016-18 79 6 78 0 77 7 78 5 79 0 76 9 80 3 77 5 77 2

Inequality in life expectancy at birth (Female) 2016-18 7 5 - 5 6 8 3 7 6 8 0 9 8 8 8 6 3

Inequality in life expectancy at birth (Male) 2016-18 9 5 - 8 3 10 7 9 0 8 6 12 3 10 4 7 8

Infant mortality (persons <1 yr) – crude rate per 1000 
live births (2016-18)

2016-18 3 9 6 7 7 4 5 0 4 4 8 2 5 4 7 1 6 0

Mortality from causes considered preventable - age-
standardised rate per 100,000 population (2016-18)

2016-18 180 8 219 0 225 7 217 6 207 2 241 3 165 3 226 0 237 2

Source: PHE Public Health Profiles. Compared with England:

Quintiles:

Better

WorstBest Not applicable

Similar Worse

22

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 26



Quality of life

Health is not only measured in how long we live   It is also measured by the quality of our lives  Here too, the picture is generally not 
as good here as it is elsewhere in the UK  Healthy life expectancy is measured as the number of years we live in generally good health  
Data show the same pattern of below average outcomes, and of variation across and within our region (Table 3 & Figure 4)  

Table 3: Quality of life measures in the WMCA – local area comparisons 

Indicators Period

En
gl

an
d

W
M

C
A

Bi
rm

in
gh

am

C
ov

en
tr

y

D
ud

le
y

Sa
nd

w
el

l

So
lih

ul
l

W
al

sa
ll

W
ol

ve
rh

am
pt

on

Healthy life expectancy at birth (Female) 2016-18 63 9 59 8 59 6 62 5 60 3 57 9 64 3 55 7 58 0

Healthy life expectancy at birth (Male) 2016-18 63 4 59 6 59 2 61 9 59 4 57 1 65 3 56 4 58 7

School readiness: percentage of children achieving a 
good level of development at the end of Reception - % 

2018/19 - 71 8 - 68 0 69 0 67 1 66 8 72 6 67 5

Health-related quality of life for older people 2016/17 0 735 0 696 0 696 0 703 0 713 0 660 0 744 0 683 0 697

Self-reported well-being - high satisfaction score: % of 
respondents 

2018/19 7 8 - 7 4 9 8 8 1 8 9 6 7 10 5 7 8

Self-reported well-being - high happiness score: % of 
respondents 

2018/19 19 7 - 17 2 21 7 17 8 17 2 19 4 23 8 14 4

Source: PHE Public Health Profiles. Compared with England: Better Similar Worse

23

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 27



The foundations for good health begin 
in the earliest stages of life  School 
readiness is a key measure of early years 
development across a wide range of 
developmental areas, and is a useful 
indicator of whether children have had a 
good start in life  Children from poorer 
backgrounds are more at risk of poorer 
development and the evidence shows that 
differences by social background emerge 
early 21  In the WMCA the percentage 
of children achieving a good level of 
development at the end of Reception year 
is lower than the England average in all 
areas except Solihull  However, even in 
Solihull almost a third of children are not 
school ready at this stage (Table 3) 

Figure 4: Life expectancy and healthy life 
expectancy in the WMCA (2016-18)

 

 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

Healthy life expectancy (Women)

Life expectancy (Women)

Healthy life expectancy (Men)

Life expectancy (Men)

Age in years

England WMCA

22 years of poor health

18 years of poor health

24

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 28



Impacts of COVID-19 on length 
and quality of life

At present it is too early to say how life expectancy 
and healthy life expectancy may change over the 
longer term as a result of the pandemic  In addition to 
deaths resulting from COVID-19, it is also important to 
look at what is happening with trends in deaths from 
other causes 

Figure 5 shows rates of confirmed COVID-19 cases 
across the West Midlands region as of 29th October 
2020  It is clear that the WMCA has a higher rate 
of cases overall than the region as a whole, with 
Birmingham and Sandwell most affected  Rates are 
also high in Solihull, Walsall and Wolverhampton  

Figure 6 shows that there was an increase in excess 
deaths from the week ending 27 March, peaking in the 
week ending 10 April before declining and returning 
to baseline levels in the week ending 22 May  While 
many of these were COVID-19 related, a marked 
proportion of excess deaths during this period did not 
have COVID-19 mentioned on the death certificate, 
suggesting an increase in deaths from other causes 
during this period  As of October 2020, the overall 
rate of deaths in the WMCA region is not significantly 
different to previous years, with 6 0% of those deaths 
known to be COVID-19 related 

Figure 5: Confirmed COVID-19 cases in the West Midlands 
(up to 29 Oct 2020)

 

 

Confirmed COVID-19 Cases
West Midlands

¯

1:800,000

Shropshire

Staffordshire

Herefordshire

Warwickshire

Worcestershire

Solihull

Birmingham

Telford and Wrekin

Walsall

Dudley

Coventry

Sandwell

Stoke-on-Trent

Wolverhampton

Contains Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2020.  Contains National Statistics data © Crown copyright and database right 2020.
0 20 4010 km

Rate / 100,000
655.4

655.5 - 808.9

809.0 - 996.0

996.1 - 1352.3

1352.4 - 1647.7

25

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 29



Figure 6: Death occurrences in the WMCA (to 9 October 2020)

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/causesofdeath/datasets/deathregistrationsandoccurrencesbylocalauthorityandhealthboard

Week 41: WEST MIDLANDS LRF, death occurrences

ONS - Deaths registered weekly in England and Wales, provisional

Death occurrences in week 41 = 435

Excess death occurrences in week 41 (using 2015-19 weekly averages) = -22

Death occurrences mentioning COVID-19 in week 41 = 26

Death occurrences mentioning COVID-19 in weeks 1 to 41 = 3,302

(Note: Week 1 is currently not being displayed. Average counts were lower than expected and this is being investigated)
Historic average weekly deaths are presented here as the mean of the years 2015 to 2019

Weekly provisional figures on deaths occuring, minus the weekly average occurence 2015 to 2019, with proportion where 
coronavirus (COVID-19) was mentioned on the death certificate (week 41 - up to 9 October 2020)

week number

COVID-19 mentioned on 
the death certificate

COVID-19 not mentioned 

West Midlands ONS region WEST MIDLANDS LRF

-200
0

200
400
600
800

1,000

5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 41

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 41
average weekly deaths 2015-19

Excess deaths (2020 deaths minus 2015 to 2019 average) up to 9 October 2020

 Occurrence 

All deaths in 2020 by week, with proportion where COVID-19 is mentioned

Greater than the 
5 year average

Less than the 5 
year average

26

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 30



Who is most at risk?

Our interim report details existing risk factors and inequalities in 
the WMCA that are associated with increased risk of infection 
and death or complications from COVID-19  The risk associated 
with age – of those 80 or older – is lower in the WMCA area than 
the national average; however, this appears to be countered by 
other risk factors and inequalities, most notably socioeconomic 
deprivation, ethnicity, occupation and prevalence of excess 
weight and diabetes 

National data show that disabled people (those limited a little or 
limited a lot in their day-to-day activities) made up almost 6 in 
10 (59%) of all deaths involving COVID-19 during the period from 
2 March to 14 July 2020  After adjusting for region, population 
density, socio-demographic and household characteristics, the 
relative difference in mortality rates between those disabled 
and limited a lot and those non-disabled was 2 4 times higher for 
females and 2 0 times higher for males 22

Table 4: COVID-19 cases and deaths by Local Authority, WMCA  23 

Upper Tier Local 
Authority District 
name (2019)

IMD (2019) Average 
Rank per 1,000

Number of 
confirmed COVID-19 
cases

Rate of confirmed 
COVID-19 cases per 
100,000

Number of 
COVID-19 related 
deaths

Rate of COVID-19 
related deaths per 
100,000

% Est  Population 
BAME groups 2019

Birmingham 25 32 17,896 1,567 3 1,036 90 7 43 0

Coventry 19 43 4,054 1,091 2 218 58 7 29 1

Dudley 18 19 2,924 909 2 256 79 6 9 0

Sandwell 25 28 4,721 1,437 4 337 102 6 35 4

Solihull 12 51 2,703 1,249 2 208 96 1 12 5

Walsall 22 15 3,765 1,287 3 307 107 5 17 4

Wolverhampton 23 27 3,288 1,248 5 258 92 0 31 0

WMCA 20 88 39,351 1,343 68 2,620 89 4 30 6

West Midlands 14 26 65,597 1,105 4 4,778 80 5 17 4

England 16 36 647,025 1,149 5 38,996 69 3 14 0

27

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 31



Figure 7a: Rate of COVID-19 related deaths and area deprivation 
(WMCA, 21 October 2020)

2019 Population

`

Birmingham

Coventry

Dudley

Sandwell

Solihull

Walsall

Wolverhampton

WMCA

West Midlands

England

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Ra
te

 o
f C

O
VI

D
-1

9 
re

la
te

d 
de

at
hs

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00

 

IMD (2019) average rank per 1,000

Rate of COVID-19 related deaths per 100,000 population

Birmingham

Coventry

Dudley

Sandwell

Solihull

Walsall

Wolverhampton

WMCA
West Midlands

England

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50

Ra
te

 o
f C

O
VI

D
-1

9 
re

la
te

d 
de

at
hs

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00

% estimated population BAME groups

Rate of COVID-19 related deaths per 100,000 population

Figure 7b: Rate of COVID-19 related deaths and % estimated BAME 
population (WMCA, 21 October 2020) 

In line with national findings, aggregate data for the region shows 
that higher rates of COVID-19 deaths were broadly associated with 
greater levels of deprivation and a higher proportion of residents 
from BAME communities (Table 4 and Figures 7a and 7b)  National 
analyses showed that as of April 2020, men and women in the black 
community were over four times (4 2 and 4 3 times respectively) as 
likely to die from COVID-19 than the white population once age had 
been accounted for  Men of Bangladeshi and Pakistani origin were 
3 6 times more likely to have a COVID-19 related death, while the 
figure for women was 3 4 times more likely 24 

Once geography (region, area deprivation and whether rural/
urban), household composition, socio-economic status and health 
had been adjusted for, the risk reduced considerably: Black men 
and women were both 1 9 times more likely to die from COVID-19 
than the white population, while the figures for men and women 
of Bangladeshi and Pakistani origin were 2 1 and 1 6 respectively 

2019 Population

`

Birmingham

Coventry

Dudley

Sandwell

Solihull

Walsall

Wolverhampton

WMCA

West Midlands

England

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Ra
te

 o
f C

O
VI

D
-1

9 
re

la
te

d 
de

at
hs

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00

 

IMD (2019) average rank per 1,000

Rate of COVID-19 related deaths per 100,000 population

Birmingham

Coventry

Dudley

Sandwell

Solihull

Walsall

Wolverhampton

WMCA
West Midlands

England

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45 50

Ra
te

 o
f C

O
VI

D
-1

9 
re

la
te

d 
de

at
hs

 p
er

 1
00

,0
00

% estimated population BAME groups

Rate of COVID-19 related deaths per 100,000 population

28

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 32



The SAVI is an empirically informed measure of COVID19 
vulnerability for each Middle Super Output Area (MSOA) in 
England  The SAVI index investigates the association between 
each predictor (proportion of the population from Black, Asian 
and Minority Ethnic (BAME) backgrounds, income deprived, over 
80 years old, living in care homes, living in overcrowded housing 
and having been admitted in the past 5 years for a chronic health 
condition) and COVID19 mortality using a multivariable Poisson 
regression, whilst accounting for the regional spread and duration 
of the epidemic 

The SAVI provides a score for each MSOA in England that indicates 
the relative increase in COVID mortality risk that results from the 
level of each of the six vulnerability measures for each area 

Nationally, high levels of vulnerability to COVID-19 have been 
found to cluster in the North West, West Midlands and North 
East regions  Out of the 513 MSOAs covering the WMCA 3 
LEP area there were 49 MSOAs (10%) that had a score under 1 
whilst 15 MSOAs had a score of 2 plus (3%)  The most vulnerable 
MSOA within the WMCA 3 LEP area was Tettenhall South in 
Wolverhampton with a score of 2 89 for increase in risk (the 16th 
highest score in England)  Within the West Midlands region, 
there were high scoring clusters in Wolverhampton, Birmingham, 
Bromsgrove, Wyre Forest, Stratford-on-Avon and Rugby 

Figure 8: Small area vulnerability index (SAVI) score by MSOA, 
West Midlands (12 Jun 2020)

29

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 33



PHE’s more recent analysis,25 which 
included age, sex, deprivation, region and 
ethnicity, showed that the risk of dying 
following a positive test for COVID-19 
(pillar 1) was: 

• 70 times higher in people 80 years or 
older than those under 40

• Higher in males than females (2x in 
working ages)

• Higher in those living in the more 
deprived areas vs those living in the 
least deprived areas (2x)

• Higher in many Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic (BAME) groups than the 
White British ethnic group (up to 2x)

Compared with the White British group, 
the risk of dying following a positive pillar 1 
test was: 

• 2 0 times higher for the Bangladeshi 
group

• 1 4 times higher for the Pakistani group

• 1 3 times higher for the Chinese group

• 1 2 times higher for the Indian group

• 1 1 times higher for the Other Asian 
group

• 1 1 times higher for the Black Caribbean 
group

• 1 4 times higher for the Other Black 
group

• Not significantly different for those in 
the Other ethnic group

The analysis did not include comorbidities, 
and it was noted that other evidence 
had shown a marked reduction in risk of 
death by ethnic group among hospitalised 
patients when comorbidities had been 
taken into account  More recently, the 
Race Disparity Unit’s first quarterly report 
on progress to address COVID-19 health 
inequalities confirmed that the evidence 
showed an increased risk for Black and 
South Asian ethnic groups, with a reduced 
relative risk of mortality when taking into 
account socioeconomic and geographical 
factors associated with different ethnic 
groups such as occupational exposure, 
population density, household composition 
and pre-existing health conditions  It was 
noted that deprivation is a good marker of 
many of these factors  However, despite 
most of the increased risk for ethnic 
minorities being readily explained by these 

factors, it was not fully explained for some 
groups such as Black men 26

What this tells us is not that the risks 
presented by COVID-19 are any less severe 
for people from ethnic minority groups 
than we had first thought  It tells us what 
is driving those risks - namely occupation, 
housing, income - and is a powerful 
illustration of how structural disadvantage 
is entrenched in the social, economic and 
environmental determinants of health 

This is emphasised in the findings and 
recommendations of the Doreen Lawrence 
Review (2020) on the ‘avoidable crisis’ that 
is the disproportionate impact of COVID-19 
on people from BAME communities  
The review demonstrates how people 
from BAME communities have been 
overexposed, under protected, stigmatised 
and overlooked during the pandemic, and 
calls for urgent action to reduce health 
inequalities and tackle systemic racism 27

30

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 34



Box 1: Why have our Black & Minority Ethnic (BAME) communities 
been most affected by COVID-19?

National and regional evidence suggests that increased risk among BAME 
communities is due to a number of intersecting factors, including:

• Increased prevalence of chronic disease

• Reduced likelihood of using primary care services

• Being more likely to work in sectors associated with increased risk, 
particularly in the health and care, hospitality and transport sectors 

• Failure to protect key workers and a lack of PPE in the early stages of the 
pandemic

• Income inequality and deprivation, including household overcrowding

• A system that is inadequately equipped to address the issue, including a lack 
of complete and high-quality ethnicity data and a lack of funding where it is 
most needed

These factors are not independent of one another, but instead interact 
to increase not just the direct risks associated with COVID-19, but its 
socioeconomic and psychosocial impacts 

Systemic racism and discrimination operates across the health and wider system 
to influence all of these factors  

Regionally, this was explored in greater 
depth through the West Midlands Inquiry 
Into COVID-19 fatalities in the West Midlands 
published in August 2020 28  The Inquiry 
reported evidence given to Birmingham 
Health and Wellbeing Board that in 
March 2020, 64% of COVID-19 deaths in 
Birmingham City Hospital where from ‘the 
Black African and Asian communities’ and in 
April, the figure was 50%  It concluded that 
a ‘perfect storm’ of factors meant the BAME 
community was hit the hardest: increased 
prevalence of chronic disease, reduced 
likelihood of using primary care services and 
failure to protect key workers, particularly in 
the health and care, hospitality and transport 
sectors, placed individuals from BAME 
communities at disproportionate levels of 
risk  Income inequality was identified as a 
key factor in exacerbating the risk further  

These findings have been supported by 
regional analyses and additional evidence 
submitted by stakeholders  An analysis 
of occupation and its intersection with 
ethnicity revealed that the WMCA area has 
a higher proportion of jobs within sectors 
associated with a higher increase in excess 
all cause deaths and increased exposure to 
infection – and that jobs in these sectors are 
disproportionately held by ethnic groups 
associated with poorer COVID-19 health 
outcomes 29  Exacerbation of existing 

31

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 35



inequalities, disproportionate impacts on 
people from BAME communities and access 
to healthcare were prominent themes in the 
evidence provided by local stakeholders 
regarding the impacts of COVID-19 in their 
communities (see Appendix 2) 

The inquiry also highlighted system issues 
that make us inadequately equipped to 
tackle entrenched systemic discrimination, 
including a lack of complete and high-quality 
data on ethnicity, and a lack of funding 
where it is most needed  It was revealed that 
the most diverse areas in the West Midlands 
– Birmingham, Wolverhampton and Sandwell 
– have suffered the greatest cuts in public 
health funding over the last 5 years, with cuts 
of 9%, 8% and 15% respectively (England 
average 5%) 

A recent report from University Hospitals 
Birmingham NHS Foundation Trust, which 
found that there were more admissions 
from South Asian patients than would be 
expected based on the local population  
Those patients were admitted with a 
worse severity of COVID-19 respiratory 
compromise without a significant delay in 
presentation and experience a higher level 
of mortality even when differences in age, 
sex, deprivation and key comorbidities were 
taken into account 30

Overall, the factors driving the association 
between ethnicity and COVID-19 risks and 
outcomes are multi-faceted and interact 
with one another  Later in this paper in 
Section 1 5, we also consider the role of 
structural racism 

The role of underlying inequalities and 
structural disadvantage is nevertheless 
key, and it is clear that change is needed 
over the longer term to address these 
inequalities  In the short to medium 
term, it is important to identify where 
action can be more readily taken to 
improve outcomes  A review paper 
by the Scientific Advisory Group  for 
Emergencies (SAGE) of the drivers of 
increased COVID-19 incidence, mortality 
and morbidity among minority ethnic 
groups concluded that although the 
relative importance of different pathways 
causing ethnic inequalities in outcomes is 
not well understood, we should focus on 
understanding those that are immediately 
modifiable – for example occupation 
and healthcare access 31  The review also 
emphasised the importance of data quality, 
noting that limited information on the 
clinical presentation of the disease and 
the social determinants of health limits 
insights that can be gained from detailed 
quantitative analysis 

32

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 36



Overall, the factors driving the association 
between ethnicity and COVID-19 risks and 
outcomes are multi-faceted and interact 
with one another  Later in this paper in 
Section 1 5, we also consider the role of 
structural racism 

The role of underlying inequalities and 
structural disadvantage is nevertheless 
key, and it is clear that change is needed 
over the longer term to address these 
inequalities  In the short to medium 
term, it is important to identify where 
action can be more readily taken to 
improve outcomes  A review paper 
by the Scientific Advisory Group  for 
Emergencies (SAGE) of the drivers of 
increased COVID-19 incidence, mortality 
and morbidity among minority ethnic 
groups concluded that although the 
relative importance of different pathways 
causing ethnic inequalities in outcomes is 
not well understood, we should focus on 
understanding those that are immediately 
modifiable – for example occupation 
and healthcare access 31  The review also 
emphasised the importance of data quality, 
noting that limited information on the 
clinical presentation of the disease and 
the social determinants of health limits 
insights that can be gained from detailed 
quantitative analysis 

Impacts on wellbeing

Effects on wellbeing are more readily measurable at this point, 
although the issue of whether population wellbeing has declined 
as a result of the pandemic is less straightforward  Data on self-
reported wellbeing measures from the first week post-lockdown 
(week ending 22 March) to the most recent data available (w/e 02 
August) show that in England, percentages of people aged 16+ 
reporting high anxiety and low life satisfaction, self-worth and 
happiness were generally higher throughout 2020 than in 2019 32  

Nationally, while low self-worth and low life satisfaction have 
fluctuated over this period, anxiety and low happiness have 
generally declined since the start of lockdown  In the West 
Midlands region:

• The percentage of people reporting a high anxiety score was 
47 9% during the week ending 22 March compared with 41 2% 
during the week ending 02 August - baseline 21 9% (England 
averages 50 6 and 35 2 respectively – baseline 22 6)  In the 
West Midlands, anxiety was the only measure which showed 
a statistically significant increase from baseline to the most 
recent measure 

• The percentage of people reporting a low life satisfaction 
score was 3 8% during the week ending 22 March compared 
with 9 4% during the week ending 02 August – baseline 9 7% 
(England averages 7 7 and 8 1 respectively – baseline 5 7)  

• The percentage of people reporting a low self-worth score 
was 5 6% during the week ending 22 March compared with 
6 9% during the week ending 02 August - baseline 4 9% 
(England averages 7 0 and 7 7 respectively – baseline 2 9)  

• The percentage of people reporting a low happiness score was 
14 5% during the week ending 22 March compared with 10 7% 
during the week ending 02 August - baseline 8 4% (England 
averages 20 9 and 10 0 respectively – baseline 8 2) 

Loneliness is a key contributor to poor mental wellbeing  Figures 
9a and 9b show the percentages of people in England who 
reported feeling ‘often lonely’ or ‘never lonely’ since the start of 
April 2020   On average, people reporting feeling ‘often lonely’ 
ranged from 4 9% to 6 5% over this period; when disaggregated 
by age group, this was generally higher for younger people (16-
34) and lower for older people (65+), although this fluctuated over 
the lockdown period (Figure 9a)  Conversely, the percentages 
of people who reported feeling ‘never lonely’ was consistently 
highest for older people (65+) and lowest for younger people (16-
35), with those in the middle age group (36-64) consistently in 
between (see Figure 9b; England average range 17 9% to 21 7%)  

This may reflect those in education or employment experiencing 
greater changes to their usual levels of social contact as a 
result of lockdown  However, people who had an underlying 
health condition were consistently more likely to report often 
feeling lonely, which is consistent with data showing that a large 
proportion of adult social care users experience social isolation 
(see 1 5 below)  

33

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 37



Figure 9a: Trend in percentage of respondents who are often lonely in 
England, by age group

Figure 9b: Trend in percentage of respondents who are never lonely in 
England, by age group 

Data from the online mental health support services Kooth and 
Quell33,34 released in May 2020 demonstrated an increase in 
requests for support nationally compared to the same period 
in 2019, for both children and young people (33% increase) 
and adults (53% increase)  In areas that were most affected by 
COVID-19, there was a sharp increase in children and young 
people seeking support for bereavement and loss of families  
Among adults, the health of others was a key concern, as well as 
the pressures of changing work cultures and environments, and 
increases in loneliness, sadness and depression  In the Midlands 

region overall, presentations to the service by children and young 
people decreased for sadness, sleep issues, family relationships 
and loneliness, but increased for eating issues, school/college 
worries and suicidal thoughts  Among both age groups there 
was a national increase in presentations relating to abuse; this is 
discussed further in section 1 5  It is important to note that these 
data only include those with access to online support, and may 
not reflect additional challenges faced by those who are digitally 
excluded (Box 4) 

34

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 38



1 3 Causes of ill health, early death and 
preventable disease

There are many different ways to answer the 
question of what causes early death and ill-
health  We need to know more about the 
different conditions which have led to the death, 
and we need to know more about what increases 
the risk of developing these conditions  

It is important to note that averages across local authorities may 
mask inequalities at smaller area levels, or between demographic 
groups  Nationally, there is a marked social gradient in the causes 
of premature death considered preventable, with significantly 
higher rates in more deprived areas  In addition, degree of caution 
is needed when interpreting data on service use and benefit 
claims  Higher values may reflect higher population prevalence 
of a condition, but alternatively they may indicate increased 
likelihood of diagnosis and access to support 

Conditions

Any death under the age of 75 years is considered to be a 
premature death, and many of the diseases that cause these 
deaths are preventable  The gap in life expectancy between the 
WMCA and England overall is due to increased premature death 
from a number of preventable conditions  Under 75 mortality from 
preventable cancers and from cardiovascular, liver and respiratory 
diseases are all higher in the WMCA than the national average  
This is broadly consistent among all constituent authorities, with 
the exception of Solihull where rates are generally lower  Alcohol-
specific mortality follows a similar pattern  Excess winter deaths, 
and deaths from drug misuse and suicide across the region 
generally reflect the national average, but this does not diminish 
their importance and impact 

35

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 39



Table 5: Health outcomes in the WMCA – local area comparisons 

Indicators Period

W
M

C
A

 
nu

m
be

r

En
gl

an
d

W
M

C
A

Bi
rm

in
g-

ha
m

C
ov

en
tr

y

D
ud

le
y

Sa
nd

w
el

l

So
lih

ul
l

W
al

sa
ll

W
ol

ve
r-

ha
m

pt
on

Pr
em

at
ur

e 
de

at
h

Under 75 mortality from cancer considered preventable - directly 
standardised rate per 100,000 population

2016-18 5,512 76 3 87 0 88 8 85 7 90 1 87 7 69 0 89 3 93 9

Under 75 mortality from cardiovascular diseases considered 
preventable - directly standardised rate per 100,000 population

2016-18 3,706 45 3 58 5 61 9 56 2 48 6 68 5 39 7 61 6 68 1

Under 75 mortality from liver diseases considered preventable - 
directly standardised rate per 100,000 population

2016-18 1,451 16 3 22 0 21 4 20 1 21 9 26 2 16 9 22 1 26 3

Under 75 mortality from respiratory diseases considered 
preventable - directly standardised rate per 100,000 population

2016-18 1,402 19 2 22 6 23 2 24 5 20 1 27 7 15 5 22 6 23 4

Excess winter deaths index (Aug 2017-Jul 2018) Aug17- 
Jul18

2,263 30 1 29 0 27 9 28 2 28 2 27 8 30 7 31 6 31 1

Alcohol-specific mortality - directly standardised rate per 
100,000

2016-18 1,155 10 8 15 6 15 0 13 5 16 0 20 7 9 6 16 1 18 9

Deaths from drug misuse - age-standardised rate per 100,000 
population

2016-18 - 4 5 4 6 6 3 3 3 4 2 1 2 4 8 4 6 4 0

Suicide (persons, 10+ yrs) – age-standardised rate per 100,000 
population

2016-18 - 9 6 - 8 1 8 6 9 7 10 6 12 2 8 2 9 0

Lo
ng

-t
er

m
 

co
nd

it
io

ns

Diabetes: QOF prevalence (18+) 2018/19 210,154 6 9 8 4 8 7 6 7 8 0 9 5 7 3 9 2 8 4

CHD: QOF prevalence (18+) 2018/19 98,372 3 1 3 1 2 7 2 3 4 1 3 6 3 2 3 9 3 1

People reporting a long term musculoskeletal (MSK) problem - % 2018/19 - 16 9 17 5 17 9 18 5 15 4 16 5 21 5 20 3 16 9

M
en

ta
l h

ea
lt

h 
pr

ob
le

m
s

Depression: Recorded prevalence (aged 18) 2017/18 - 9 9 9 6 9 2 9 3 11 7 8 6 9 0 10 5 10 0

Estimated prevalence of common mental disorders: % of 
population aged 16 & over (modelled)

2017 - 16 9 - 21 1 19 1 17 4 21 5 14 7 19 4 20 5

ESA claimants for mental and behavioural disorders: crude rate 
per 1,000 working age population

2018 59,470 27 3 33 3 36 0 31 4 24 9 37 0 22 0 36 5 35 2

Source: PHE Public Health ProfilesCompared with England: Better LowerSimilar SimilarWorse Higher

36

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 40



Mental health problems and inequalities

Physical and mental health are inextricably 
linked  Poor mental health is both a cause 
and consequence of poor health in general 
across the life course, with most mental 
health problems developing before the age 
of 25  People with severe mental illness 
(SMI) die 15-10 years earlier on average 
compared with the general population 
and two thirds of these deaths are from 
preventable physical illnesses, including 
cancer and heart disease  The determinants 
of physical and mental health problems 
often overlap; mental health problems 
disproportionately affect people living in 
poverty, those who are unemployed and 
who already face discrimination 35  Poor 
mental health also has a detrimental effect 
on health behaviours; for example, 40 5% 
of adults with SMI in England are smokers 
compared with 13 9% of the general 
population  In the WMCA these figures are 
40 3% and 14 6% respectively (PHE Tobacco 
Control Profiles)  

The health data show that mental health 
and well-being in the WMCA is of concern 
as well as physical health   As might be 
expected from an understanding of the 
causes of the causes of poor physical 
health, it also shows the pattern of 
variation between the different parts of the 

WMCA area   Here, the comparison with 
the UK average is not so stark; however, 
this should again be understood in the 
context that wellbeing across the UK is 
also of concern   

Walsall and Wolverhampton have a higher 
recorded prevalence of depression, and 
a higher proportion of people claiming 
ESA for mental and behavioural problems  
This is in in line with lower levels of self-
reported wellbeing in these areas  For 
Solihull these are generally lower  Among 
other areas, however, there appears to be 
little consistency between these indicators 
(Table 5)  Figure 10 shows the excess under 
75 mortality rate in adults with serious 
mental illness in the WMCA; rates are 
highest in Birmingham and Wolverhampton 
and lowest in Sandwell and Solihull 

37

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 41



Figure 10: Excess under 65 mortality rate in adults with serious mental illness

People from BAME communities are significantly more likely to 
suffer poorer mental health outcomes due to facing more barriers 
to accessing treatment and poorer experiences of services  Ethnic 
minorities are at an increased risk of involuntary detention under 
the Mental Health Act, but less likely to access earlier intervention 
and treatment  High levels of inequality in access to, and 
experience of, mental health care are also evident for children and 
young people; lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and/or queer/
questioning ‘plus’ (LGBTQ+); homeless people; and people living 
with physical or learning disabilities  There is often intersection 
across these groups and with other determinants of health 36

Causes of preventable disease

At its simplest, unhealthy lifestyles increase our chances of 
ill-health   There are four major, relatively straightforward, 
behaviours which will increase the risks of ill-health and death 
from these preventable diseases  These are smoking; taking too 
little exercise; eating too much of foods that are high in fat, salt 
and sugar; and drinking too much alcohol  Figures 11a and 11b 
show the main causes of preventable deaths in the WMCA, and 
the key health behaviours associated with those risks 

38

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 42



People in the WMCA are more likely than the England average 
population to smoke, drink too much alcohol, be overweight or 
obese, and be physically inactive (Figure 11b and Table 6)  In some 
cases, it can be seen that the figures are high nationally too   It is 
important that this does not dilute the need to pay attention to 
reducing these figures in the West Midlands  These are worrying 
signs that unhealthy lifestyles across the UK are very common 
and that improvements are not yet being made across the wider 
system to support people to live healthier lives 

Unhealthy lifestyles are not only evident amongst adults   
A younger generation of residents are now likely to grow up into 
being unhealthy adults, whose quality of life is not as good as it 
could be  Here, as nationally, this may be the first generation of 
children who do not live as long as their parents 

Figure 11a: Main causes of preventable mortality, WMCA 2016-18 Figure 11b: Prevalence of key health risks and behaviours, WMCA

39

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 43



Table 6: Health behaviours and risks in the WMCA – local area comparisons  

Indicators Period

W
M

C
A

 
nu

m
be

r

En
gl

an
d

W
M

C
A

Bi
rm

in
g-

ha
m

C
ov

en
tr

y

D
ud

le
y

Sa
nd

w
el

l

So
lih

ul
l

W
al

sa
ll

W
ol

ve
r-

ha
m

pt
on

Sm
ok

in
g

Smoking prevalence in adults (18+): current smokers - % (APS) 2019 - 13 9 14 6 14 8 15 1 13 5 15 3 12 6 15 0 15 1

Smoking status at time of delivery - % 2018/19  3,514 10 6 10 5 8 6 10 6 12 8 10 1 8 3 11 5 16 7

Smoking prevalence in adults with anxiety or depression (18+): 
current smokers (GPPS) - %

2016/17 - 25 8 25 6 26 6 24 9 22 9 27 2 17 4 28 1 25 5

Smoking prevalence in adults with a long term mental health 
condition (18+): current smokers (GPPS) - %

2017/18 - 25 6 26 6 24 9 22 9 27 2 17 4 28 1 25 5 34 5

A
lc

oh
ol

 a
nd

 d
ru

g 
us

e

Admission episodes for alcohol-specific conditions – DSR per 
100,000

2018/19 18,422 626 718 762 925 561 741 527 650 756

Percentage of adults who abstain from drinking alcohol 2011-2014 - 15 5 - 30 9 16 9 14 6 28 4 13 5 22 7 36 0

Percentage of adults drinking over 14 units of alcohol a week 2011-14 - 25 7 - 18 9 25 8 24 7 25 4 25 2 22 0 15 0

Percentage of dependent drinkers 2014/15 35,660 1 39 1 67 1 66 1 81 1 56 1 95 1 09 1 61 1 84

Admission episodes for alcohol-specific conditions (under 18s) – 
crude rate per 100,000

2016/17 – 
18/19

440 31 6 21 3 16 2 30 0 29 1 24 7 28 6 14 9 22 2

Estimated prevalence of opiate and/or crack cocaine use - crude 
rate per 1,000

2016/17  21,945 8 9 11 9 14 2 7 5 10 5 11 7 7 8 11 0 13 6

N
ut

ri
ti

on
 a

nd
 o

be
si

ty Baby's first feed breastmilk  - % (2018/19) 2018/19 - 67 4 - 68 2 62 6 61 3 63 5 63 0 52 2 59 9

Adults meeting the recommended '5-a-day' on a 'usual day'- % 
(2017/18)

2018/19 - 54 6 46 7 47 8 43 6 49 4 35 7 57 0 42 4 51 0

Adults (aged 18+) classified as overweight or obese - % 2018/19 - 62 3 65 5 61 7 62 9 71 5 70 9 62 8 73 2 67 3

Reception: Prevalence of obesity (including severe obesity) - % 2018/19 4,254 9 7 11 4 11 4 10 2 10 3 13 0 8 1 12 4 13 5

Year 6: Prevalence of obesity (including severe obesity) - % 2018/19 9,529 20 2 25 5 25 7 22 6 24 2 28 3 18 3 26 2 29 3

Ph
ys

ic
al

 a
ct

iv
it

y Physically active children and young people - % 2018/19 - 46 8 - 44 2 50 8 41 6 43 4 48 6 38 8 46 5

Physically active adults - % 2018/19 - 67 2 60 9 63 3 61 1 59 5 54 7 68 1 55 9 58 0

Physically inactive adults - % 2018/19 - 21 4 27 2 24 8 27 4 26 1 32 6 23 2 32 1 29 8

Adults walking for travel at least three days per week - % 2017/18 - 23 1 - 22 5 24 0 18 6 21 9 19 2 20 5 21 6

Adults cycling for travel at least three days per week - % 2017/18 - 3 2 - 2 9 2 4 1 0 2 1 1 6 0 3 0 8

Source: PHE Public Health ProfilesCompared with England: Better Similar Worse

40

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 44



Smoking

Smoking prevalence among adults in general and those with 
anxiety, depression or a long-term mental health condition are 
broadly similar in the WMCA to the England average  However, 
national data show a marked social gradient, highlighting 
smoking as a key cause of health inequalities  Over a quarter of 
adults with mental health problems are smokers compared with 
approximately 15% of the general population  Smoking status 
at delivery shows marked inequalities across the region; while 
overall WMCA prevalence is similar to the national average, it is 
significantly higher in Dudley and Wolverhampton 

Alcohol and drug use

The WMCA has a higher than national average prevalence of 
dependent drinkers  Above average rates of hospital admissions 
for alcohol-specific conditions are driven by high rates in 
Birmingham, Coventry, Sandwell and Wolverhampton  However, 
most of these areas also have a higher than average percentage 
of adults who abstain from drinking altogether, which may reflect 
the cultural diversity of localities  The rate of alcohol-specific 
admissions for under 18s is also lower than average overall  The 
percentage of adults drinking above the recommended 14 units 
per week is similar to or lower than the England average across 
WMCA areas; however, it should be noted that this still nearly 
1 in 5 adults in the WMCA  The rate of opiate or crack cocaine 
use is similar in the WMCA to the national average, but masks 
significant inequalities across the region with high rates in a 
number of areas 

Nutrition and obesity

Nationally, just over two thirds of babies have breastmilk as their 
first feed  With the exception of Birmingham, this is significantly 
lower across constituent local authorities  Among adults, less 
than half in the WMCA report having the recommended ‘5 a day’ 
portions of fruit and vegetables – significantly lower than the 
England average 

Physical activity

For adults across the WMCA, rates of physical activity are lower 
and rates of physical inactivity are higher compared with England 
overall  27 2% of adults in the WMCA are doing less than 30 
minutes of physical activity per week  Only 61% of adults and less 
than half of children and young people are meeting recommended 
weekly levels of physical activity  Both regionally and nationally, 
less than a quarter of adults walk at least three times per week for 
travel; only a small minority (<3%) cycle for this purpose 

Supporting people to live healthier lives would have substantial 
health and economic benefits for the region  Alcohol misuse is 
estimated to cost the NHS about £3 5 billion per year and society 
as a whole £21 billion annually  Reducing alcohol-related harm is 
one of Public Health England’s seven priorities for the next five 
years (from the Evidence into action report 2014)  Low physical 
activity is one of the top 10 causes of disease and disability in 
England, and regular physical activity can help to prevent and 
manage over 20 chronic conditions and diseases; persuading 
inactive people (those doing less than 30 minutes per week) to 
become more active could prevent 1 in 10 cases of stroke and 
heart disease in the UK and 1 in 6 deaths from any cause 37  There 
are also significant inequalities in physical activity, with people 

41

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 45



from BAME groups, women, people from lower socio-economic 
groups and disabled people less likely to be active  In the West 
Midlands, 52% of disabled adults are inactive 38 

Diet and physical activity habits often begin in childhood, and are 
influenced from pre-conception and beyond, so it is important 
to act as early as possible to embed positive behaviours at the 
earliest opportunity  However, it is never too late to support 
people to live healthier and more active lives, and taking action 
across the life course can help to reduce the health inequalities 
associated with obesity and physical inactivity 

Screening and early intervention

Unhealthy lifestyles increase the risk of developing preventable 
disease  However, many of these diseases are identifiable and 
treatable in their early stage   There are significant differences 
across the region, and between different groups of people, in 
terms of whether or not people receive this early help  

Screening is carried out on healthy populations, or those without 
symptoms of a disease, to identify those who may have an 
increased risk of a particular condition  Cancer screening is one of 
the most effective ways to reduce the risk of premature mortality  
Breast screening is offered to women aged 50 to 70 to detect 
early signs of breast cancer, and is estimated to save 1,400 lives 
in England each year  Cervical screening enables detection of cell 
abnormalities that may become cancer and is estimated to save 
4,500 lives in England each year  Bowel cancer screening targets 
older adults aged 60 to 74 to support early detection of cancer 
and polyps that may develop into cancers over time  

Screening is also important to identify early signs of poor health 
leading to opportunities for early interventions  The NHS Health 
Check programme targets adults aged 40 to 74 to help prevent 
heart disease, stroke, diabetes and kidney disease  Eligible 
people who have not already been diagnosed with one of these 
conditions are invited for a health check every five years to assess 
their risk, raise awareness and support them to manage their risk 
of cardiovascular disease 

42

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 46



Table 7: Screening and early intervention in the WMCA – local area comparisons 

Indicators Period

W
M

C
A

 n
um

be
r

En
gl

an
d

W
M

C
A

Bi
rm

in
gh

am

C
ov

en
tr

y

D
ud

le
y

Sa
nd

w
el

l

So
lih

ul
l

W
al

sa
ll

W
ol

ve
rh

am
pt

on

Cancer screening coverage - breast cancer 2019 193,280 74 5 69 8 68 2 69 8 75 4 70 7 73 4 73 5 60 1

Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer (25-49 
years old)

2019 354,810 69 8 65 8 61 9 65 7 72 1 66 0 72 5 71 2 66 7

Cancer screening coverage - cervical cancer (50-64 
years old)

2019 173,834 76 2 74 2 73 4 76 1 73 2 72 7 77 4 76 0 72 7

Cancer screening coverage – bowel cancer 2019 195,329 60 1 53 4 48 9 55 5 58 5 50 7 61 4 56 5 52 1

Chlamydia proportion aged 15 to 24 screened 2019 62,669 20 4 15 3 17 1 15 6 12 4 13 6 17 6 9 8 13 6

Cumulative percentage of the eligible population 
aged 40-74 who received an NHS Health check

2015/16-
19/20

386,098 41 3 52 8 54 5 51 3 69 1 53 6 48 8 54 3 28 5

*Please note that there may be data quality issues with these figures
Source: PHE Public Health Profiles

Compared with England: Better Similar Worse

In 2019, the percentage of eligible WMCA residents who attended 
screening for breast, cervical and bowel cancer was significantly 
lower than the England average, with approximately a third to a 
quarter of the target populations not being screened (Table 7)  
Chlamydia screening was significantly lower than the national 
average for all WMCA areas  For NHS Health Checks, the WMCA 
generally performed better than the national average, with over 

half the eligible population receiving their health checks during the 
4-year period from 2015/16 to 2019/20  Screening coverage in the 
WMCA has declined in recent years for breast and cervical cancer 

43

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 47



If the WMCA reached the national average benchmark for the 
year:

• 12,196 more women would be screened for breast cancer

• 20,331 more women aged 25-49 and 4,554 more aged 50-64 
would be screened for cervical cancer

• 21,779 more people would be screened for bowel cancer

• 15,667 more young people would be screened for chlamydia

The COVID-19 pandemic has had an impact on cancer services  
Referrals on the urgent two week wait cancer pathway showed 
a significant reduction as the pandemic hit the Midlands  By 
September referral rates had increased to over 90% of previous 
activity levels and continue to grow   Restrictions in out-patients, 
diagnostics and treatment capacity, due to social distancing 
and infection control measures, have significantly reduced 
patient throughput, against increasing demand  Systems across 
the  West Midlands have worked hard to return cancer services 
as quickly as possible, adopting alterative models of care and 
digital technologies such as telephone and video consultations, 
community tele-dermatology clinics and alternatives to 
endoscopy, such as FIT testing  

There are plans in place to protect cancer services with the cancer 
treatments and other clinically urgent patients being prioritised   
There are some patients who are reluctant to attend, as they 
are concerned about the risk of infection, and work is ongoing 
to provide reassurance and encouragement to these patients to 
attend their appointments 

Breast screening 

The four breast screening providers that cover the WMCA 
area have all restored screening  They are working through the 
backlog, and commissioners (NHSE/I) are supporting services to 
get to a capacity that is greater than 100% that will be needed 
to catch up to the required screening intervals  All services have 
implemented national changes to the programme to aid the 
return to the three-year screening intervals, including the open 
first appointments  There has been some excellent innovation 
in the WMCA screening providers in an attempt to return to the 
three year round length, such as novel invitation models, and 
services are putting in addition actions to improve uptake, such as 
additional phone calls to some women 

Bowel screening 

All four screening centres in the WMCA area have restored the 
assessment element of the screening pathway, and have cleared 
the backlog of screen positive patient left during the first peak of 
the Covid pandemic  All centres have also switched on the new 
screening invites (and home test kits)  This currently ranges from 
91 to 138 percent of the pre-Covid invite rates  Commissioners 
have set providers a deadline of 31st August 2021 to return to the 
two-yearly screening rounds 

Cervical screening 

The national call-recall system in the cervical screening 
programme has begun an invite schedule that will mean that the 
programme has caught up – with women returning to the correct 
screening intervals – by May 2021 The HPV laboratories will have 
increased numbers of samples to process compared to pre-Covid 

44

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 48



through winter 2020/21, with primary care taking more samples 

Through the early stages of the Covid pandemic (~March-April 
2021), colposcopy units deferred the appointments of some low-
grade patients  They have now caught up, and are appointing 
women in line with the pre-Covid programme guidance 

Impacts of COVID-19 on health behaviours and risks

The pandemic has the potential to exert indirect effects on health 
in two ways: firstly, by altering health behaviours, and secondly by 
reducing access to services and routine care  Changes to health 
behaviours may include negative coping strategies to manage 
anxiety, for example drinking or smoking more, or lockdown 
measures providing more (or fewer) opportunities to take part 
in physical activity   Reduced access to services may present 
additional risk if existing or emerging health conditions are not 
adequately managed 

Health behaviours

In the West Midlands region overall:39 

• From 3rd April to 3rd August 2020, nearly a fifth of adults 
(18%) reported doing at least 30 minutes of physical activity 
on 0 days while just under a third (31%) reported doing it on 
5 or more days (compared with 19% and 31% respectively in 
England)  Nationally, men were significantly less likely than 
women to be physically inactive (21% vs  18%) and significantly 
more likely to be active (34% vs  29%) 

• Compared with a typical week before introduction of 
COVID-19 restrictions, 34% of adults reported doing less, 
34% reported doing more while 30% reported doing the 
same amount of physical activity  Nationally, women were 
significantly more likely to report doing less exercise (40% vs  
36%) 

• 18% of parents reported their children doing the recommended 
60 minutes or more of physical activity per day in the period 3 
April to 25 May 2020, 33% reported doing 30-60 minutes, 38% 
reported doing less than 30 minutes, and more than a tenth 
(11%) reporting doing nothing – the highest regional level in the 
country 

• In the West Midlands, the prevalence of smoking during 
lockdown (the 4-week period ending 19 April 2020) was lower 
that reported in 2018 at (14% and 16% respectively) 

Nationally, over half of respondents (pooled data up to 10 Aug 
2020) (52%) said that the amount of alcohol they were consuming 
had not changed during lockdown  24% said they were drinking 
more and 24% said they were drinking less 

Healthcare access and screening

Between 13th May and 10th August 2020, 13 1% of people 
surveyed in England reported having a worsening health condition 
during the last week  This generally increased with age, from 
12 5% in 18-24 year olds and 17 6% in over 75s  Approximately 
half (50 4%) reported not seeking advice during this period; this 
varied by age group but was lowest in those aged 65+  Of these 
respondents, over half stated that this was to avoid putting 
pressure on the NHS, with approximately a third raising concerns 

45

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 49



about catching coronavirus or leaving the house, and another 
third citing another reason  While significantly more women than 
men reported a worsening health condition (14 9% vs  11 2%), were 
no significant sex differences in not seeking help 

The NHS are dealing with a significant backlog of non-COVID 
related morbidity and it is likely that the effect of this will widen 
existing health inequalities and lead to avoidable cancer death as 
a result of diagnostic delays 40  Across the UK it is estimated that 
2 1 million people have missed out on screening, while 290,000 
people with suspected symptoms have not been referred for 
hospital tests  This means that more than 23,000 cancers could 
have gone undiagnosed during lockdown 41  Given that screening 
coverage is already lower in the WMCA than the national average, 
it is likely that these effects are also being felt in the region 

In the WMCA, barriers to healthcare access identified by 
voluntary, community and faith organisations were largely 
practical  These included reduced availability and capacity of 
services; challenges with online or telephone services; and lack 
of access to linguistically and culturally accessible public health 
information  Stigma, misinformation or lack of clarity, and mistrust 
in government were also cited  There were intersections with 
themes relating to disproportionate impacts on BAME communities 
and marginalised groups, including refugees and migrants, and the 
widening of existing inequalities (see Appendix 2)  This links to the 
issue of digital inclusion, which is picked up in Box 4 

1 4 Causes of unhealthy lifestyles: 
understanding the ‘causes of the causes’

The conditions in which we are born, grow, live, work and age 
have important implications for our physical and mental health, 
as individuals and across wider society   We understand much 
more now about why so many people live in ways that affect their 
health so badly  The 2010 Marmot review on health inequalities42 
first articulated the importance of understanding the ‘causes of 
the causes’ of ill-health   Often, unhealthy behaviours are coping 
mechanisms for people who live in challenging circumstances, 
or reflect the limitations of the environments they live in  Many 
times, people want to make positive changes to improve their 
health, such as being more active or giving up smoking, but are 
not supported to do so  The conditions of many people’s lives 
within the WMCA are hard  There is clear evidence that too many 
people live in challenging circumstances which may well result 
in their needing unhealthy coping strategies, and in their feeling 
powerless to make positive change 

This is not to say that those living in challenging circumstances 
are destined to have poor health  Rather, the focus should be on 
creating the conditions to enable people to live healthier lives, 
and to make healthier options the default  This means considering 
individual health-related behaviours in their social, cultural, 
economic and environmental contexts, and working to overcome 
the barriers these present (e g  food poverty, limited time or skills, 
or lack of access to green space) rather than only targeting the 
behaviours themselves 

46

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 50



Table 8: Wider determinants of health in the WMCA – local area comparisons

Indicators Period

W
M

C
A

 
nu

m
be

r

En
gl

an
d

W
M

C
A

Bi
rm

in
g-

ha
m

C
ov

en
tr

y

D
ud

le
y

Sa
nd

w
el

l

So
lih

ul
l

W
al

sa
ll

W
ol

ve
r-

ha
m

pt
on

H
ou

si
ng

Statutory homelessness: Eligible homeless people not in 
priority need - crude rate per 1,000

2017/18 - - - 0 9 0 6 3 6 0 5 1 4 0 1 2 2

Statutory homelessness: Households in temporary 
accommodation - crude rate per 1,000

2017/18 2,668 - 2 3 4 7 2 0 0 1 0 3 1 1 1 0 0 7

Adults in contact with a learning disability who live in stable 
and appropriate accommodation - %

2018/19 4,286 77 4 69 5 77 2 49 3 79 0 63 0 86 7 64 3 85 4

Adults in contact with secondary mental health services who 
live in stable and appropriate accommodation - %

2018/19 - 58 0 41 0 57 0 16 0 63 0 53 0 5 0 3 0 15 0

In
co

m
e Children in low income families (under 16s) - % 2016 - - - 27 6 21 8 20 7 25 5 15 9 25 8 26 3

Fuel poverty - % of households 2018 142,685 10 3 12 4 14 2 12 1 10 6 12 0 8 2 11 8 12 7

Average weekly earnings - £ 2018 - - - 417 6 454 2 425 9 398 5 474 2 399 9 402 4

Ed
uc

at
io

n 
&

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t

16-17 year olds not in education, employment or training 
(NEET) or whose activity is not known -%

2018 4,400 5 5 6 6 8 5 5 4 6 8 4 3 5 1 5 3 4 5

People aged 16-64 in employment 2019/20 1,268,200 76 2 69 0 64 6 72 1 73 8 69 9 77 1 71 5 68 2

Gap in the employment rate between those with a long-term 
health condition and the overall employment rate - % points 
(2018/19)

2018/19 - 11 5 11 6 7 1 14 9 11 8 17 6 11 3 15 3 15 2

Gap in the employment rate between those with a learning 
disability and the overall employment rate - % points (2018/19)

2018/19 - 69 7 66 2 64 2 68 7 66 7 70 2 74 5 69 6 57 8

Gap in the employment rate between those in contact with 
secondary mental health services and the overall employment 
rate - % points (2018/19)

2018/19 - 67 6 64 0 61 5 61 7 64 6 66 0 66 0 63 8 64 8

Bu
ilt

 &
 n

at
ur

al
 

en
vi

ro
nm

en
t

Density of fast food outlets - crude rate per 100,000 2014 2,573 88 2 91 6 96 1 83 6 81 7 114 3 54 3 93 7 95 7

Access to Healthy Assets & Hazards Index: Population living in 
20% poorest performing LSOAs - %

2017 550,682 21 1 9 5 8 0 8 7 6 9 20 3 11 0 9 6 5 2

Air pollution: Fine particulate matter - mean: µg/m3 2017 - 8 9 - 9 8 9 7 8 7 10 1 9 4 9 8 8 6

Utilisation of outdoor space for exercise/health reasons - % Mar2015-
Feb2016

- 17 9 - 18 4 15 1 20 5 18 2 24 7 18 0 27 6

Source: PHE Public Health ProfilesCompared with England:

Quintiles:

Better

WorstBest

Similar Worse

47

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 51



Housing

Adults in the WMCA with a learning disability and those in 
contact with secondary mental health services are significantly 
less likely to be in stable and appropriate accommodation, in line 
with national figures   

Income

Significantly more children in the WMCA are in low income 
families compared to England overall  In several areas this 
corresponds to increased rates of fuel poverty and a household 
income lower than the national average  National evidence 
demonstrates that childhood poverty leads to premature mortality 
and poor health outcomes for adults 43  Reducing the numbers 
of children who experience poverty should improve these adult 
health outcomes and increase healthy life expectancy 

Education and employment

Employment rates are also low among adults with a learning 
disability and those in contact with secondary mental health 
services  In most WMCA areas the percentage of young people 
not in education, employment or training (NEET) is lower than the 
England average, but higher in Birmingham  Overall employment 
rates across the WMCA are lower than the national average, 
which may reflect poorer health among adults in the older 
working age groups  

Built and natural environment

Overall the WMCA has a similar density of fast food outlets to 
England overall, but this varies across the region, with Birmingham 
and Sandwell having a higher rate of outlets per 100,000 population 
compared with the national average  Air quality and access to 
healthy assets and hazards vary across the region; however there 
is likely to be substantial variation within localities depending on 
proximity to town and city centres  Utilisation of outdoor space for 
exercise or health reasons is similar to the England average for most 
areas in the WMCA but significantly higher in Wolverhampton; 
nevertheless this is still less than a third of residents 

48

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 52



Health and Wealth

Global evidence shows that population health is a good 
measure of social and economic progress  Inequalities in 
health are not inevitable but reflect avoidable inequalities 
in society and can be reduced by putting wellbeing at the 
centre of economic policy  Health and wealth are two sides 
of the same coin: improving health and reducing inequalities 
is fundamental to wealth creation and brings a range of 
social and economic benefits through improving productivity, 
reducing demand on services, and increasing social cohesion 

An analysis by Liverpool City Region (LCR) found that 
closing their health and life expectancy gap would increase 
employment by 5 6 percentage points which equates to an 
increase in Gross Value Added (GVA) of £3,353 per head  It is 
estimated that 54% of the productivity gap between LCR 
and the rest of England is due to ill-health and reducing this 
health gap would generate an additional £5 2bn in GVA 44  
It can be safely assumed that there would be similar, if 
not greater, economic benefits for the West Midlands  In 
addition, increasing healthy life expectancy is likely to have 
wider implications for wellbeing and quality of life 

• The productivity gap between the WMCA and England 
is £14 8bn45, approximately £5bn of which is accounted 
for by the gap in employment rate (based on 2018/19 
estimates) 

• In the WMCA, 31% of the working age population age 
16-64 is unemployed and it is estimated that 22% (125,000 
people approx ) is due to poor health - predominantly 
musculoskeletal problems and mental health problems, 
many of which are preventable and/or manageable  This 
therefore accounts for approximately £1 1bn of the gap in 
GVA - although the wider health impacts on our economy 
are likely to be much larger 

• There is a percentage point gap of 9 5 between people 
in the WMCA with a long -term health condition and the 
general population (England 10 5) 

• For people in contact with secondary mental health 
services, the percentage point gap is 64 0 (England 67 6) 

49

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 53



The economic and environmental impact of COVID-19

Economic shock has been a major consequence of the pandemic, 
with the measures needed to control the spread of the disease 
having a significant impact on the national and regional economy  
There is substantial evidence on the detrimental impact of 
economic shock on physical and mental health and wellbeing, for 
example in times of recession 46  However, the COVID-19 pandemic 
has an additional dimension of direct health impacts, which in 
turn has an effect on anxiety and wellbeing alongside that relating 
to economic factors  This has contributed to the exacerbation of 
existing inequalities, both with increasing unemployment in more 
precarious sectors, and increased risk among those who have 
needed to attend their workplaces rather than working at home  
Some of the people working in the lowest paid and/or least secure 
jobs have also been those most likely to come into contact with the 
virus, meaning that they have faced the dual impact of increased 
infection risk and economic consequences  

There have nevertheless been some positive impacts through 
changes to ways of working in a number of sectors  With more 
people working remotely, human benefits have included improved 
work-life balance and more time to participate in activities 
to improve health and wellbeing  The increased availability 
of activities online and rapid adoption of online platforms for 
face-to-face communication have increased opportunities for 
social connection and participation in the arts for many who 
were previously limited by their ability to travel  However, these 
benefits have not been realised equally across the population  In 
addition to those unable to carry out their roles remotely, people 
who are digitally excluded or face additional challenges may be 
left behind if their needs are not considered  The disruption in 

50

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 54



routine human activity (‘anthropause’) has also shown emerging 
benefits for the environment and climate, with lockdown 
measures (most notably the reduction in planned travel) having 
immediate impact on air quality worldwide 47  While the longer 
term benefits remain to be seen depending on the direction of 
recovery approaches taken, it is clear that there is an opportunity 
to learn from the pandemic about what it is possible to achieve 

Employment and sector impacts

The State of the Region 2020 report48 provides a detailed analysis 
of the economic impact of COVID-19 in the WMCA, considering 
both the short-term consequences of the pandemic and the 
implications for economic recovery over the longer term  The 
report presents a mixed picture for the region, highlighting the 
following key issues in relation to employment and the economy:

• The West Midlands may face the largest economic decline of 
all regions at 9 2% (fall in GDP), however it may see the largest 
growth in 2021 at 8 1%, based on having the largest number of 
temporary closures and an expectation of most reopening 

• Youth unemployment has almost doubled, with the youth 
claimant count rising to 41,225 by May 2020 -  8 3% of the 
young population  It now sits 5th amongst combined authority 
areas but the rate of increase was much higher than elsewhere 

• Overall claimants stand at 208k, which is 6 3% of the working 
age population a rise from 115,000 and 3 5% in February, 
however overall increase in claims has been slower than other 
areas despite extensive furloughing 

• The number of people furloughed currently stands at 496k in 
the WMCA area, which equates to 26 9% of jobs  Headline 
analysis suggests that the public sector (including higher 
education) and the visitor economy sector will be the sectors 
most impacted from the Covid-19, followed by construction, 
manufacturing and retail  Analysis suggests that the life 
science and healthcare may be the only sector that will be 
relatively unscathed, but notably it is also one of main sectors 
that has took the brunt of the human impact from Covid-19 

• The WMCA has the highest level of apprenticeship vacancies 
compared to other regions (1,643), which is a positive for the region  
However this has declined recently, and recent business surveys 
show a decline in training and apprenticeship opportunities 

• Purchasing Managers Index (PMI) show business activity has 
dropped from 51 2 (over 50 signals growth, under 50 signals 
contraction) to 10 9, the lowest levels ever and back to 27 9  
However the PMI future business activity is holding up, rising 
from 55 9 to 62 1 (down from 72 3% signalling businesses are 
positive about the future once lockdown ends) 

While the furlough scheme was generally seen as a positive policy 
approach by businesses, there is also concern that it may simply 
be delaying redundancies further down the line if the reduction 
in consumer spending and business activity continues over the 
longer term  Regionally, businesses are already concerned about 
the impacts of lockdown and social distancing measures on trade, 
and are reluctant to take on debt having already utilised spare 
funds and resources  There is considerable uncertainty around 
recovery of the worst hit sectors given the emergence of a second 
wave and continued lockdowns, including local restrictions in 
high-incidence areas which are already likely to be more deprived 

51

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 55



As described in our interim report, younger people are likely 
to be disproportionately impacted by closures due to being 
more likely to be employed in vulnerable sectors  This presents 
particular challenges in the WMCA due to the region having high 
numbers of young people, who also face additional difficulties 
through disruption to the education system and the weakening 
of transition points between school, further and higher education 
and employment 

The pandemic has also brought about changes in culture and 
behaviour that may persist beyond the crisis period  A reduction in 
travel, changes to ways of working and changing attitudes to what 
consumers need and value could have significant implications 
for economic recovery, particularly post-Brexit  Although there 
are a number of positive impacts of these changes which are 
described in the sections below, it is important that businesses 
are supported to adapt to ensure that existing socioeconomic 
inequalities are not exacerbated further 

Use of outdoor space for physical activity

Access to outdoor space, particular green space and ‘blue’ space 
(i e  proximity to water) has direct benefits for mental wellbeing, 
49,50 as well as increasing opportunities to participate in physical 
activity  Access to natural outdoor spaces varies considerably 
across the region; areas bordering on Green Belt land in 
Shropshire, Staffordshire, Warwickshire and Worcestershire 
are very different to the more urban areas in the centre of the 
region  Yet this is not to say that residents in more urban areas do 
not have access to outdoor spaces that enable them to connect 
with nature  Birmingham has 35 miles of canals, which is said to 
be more than Venice, and they are enjoyed by walkers, runners, 
cyclists and narrowboaters  Across the West Midlands as a 

whole, there are 20,534 78 hectares of green space (34 53m2 per 
person) – 1,032 66 hectares of which are legally protected – and 
approximately 95% of the population live within a 10m walk of 
green space 51  West Midlands residents have a similar distance to 
travel to a park or public garden at 968m (average distance from 
an address in the region) compared with an average of 987m for 
England, and around 90% of addresses in the West Midlands had 
access to private outdoor space in April 2020 compared with an 
average of 88% in England 52 

Research by Fields in Trust (2018)53 indicated that lower socio-
economic groups assign a higher relative value to parks and 
green spaces than higher socio-economic groups, and urban 
residents value parks and green spaces higher than the UK 
average  BAME groups value parks and green spaces more highly 
than white groups, particularly once income is accounted for, 
and also tend to use them more for social purposes (e g  meeting 
friends, children’s activities and sports)  Given that the WMCA 
area is more urban and more ethnically diverse than the region 
as a whole, our parks and green spaces are a valuable asset in 
reducing health inequalities in the region 

The WMCA has launched a number of initiatives with national 
and regional partners to encourage more outdoor activity in local 
areas  These include Love Exploring Black Country developed 
with Active Black Country and local authorities, which uses a 
walking app for people to capture their walks and find out about 
local history and nature; and a Public Space Trial, which has 
invested WMCA and Sport England funding into co-designing and 
repurposing sites in some of the most deprived areas of Sandwell, 
Walsall and Coventry to encourage more people to walk and be 
active in their local areas 

52

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 56



Figure 12a: Demand for different transport modes at Covid-19 peak against 
usual demand
Source: Phase 1 Public Opinion Survey

Figure 12b: Current levels of public transport usage before and after lockdown
Source: Phase 1 Public Opinion Survey

Transport and travel

Public opinion survey data from Transport for West Midlands 
(TfWM) show that the pandemic has seen unprecedented 
changes in travel demands and behaviours (see Figures 12a and 
12b)   The immediate impact has been a general reduction in all 
modes of transport (including car usage) as a result of lockdown  
This in turn has had many positive aspects such as improved 
physical activity, air quality, reduced carbon emissions and safer 
roads, as more people have chosen to walk and cycle  

TfWM’s Health and Transport Strategy (2019)54 demonstrates how 
encouraging physical activity by making it easier to walk, cycle and 
use public transport has significant impacts on everyone’s health, 
such as by reducing air pollution, increasing feelings of safety and 
creating environments in which people choose to participate and 
take up active travel  The region’s transport network has operated 
at around 50% to 75% coverage and frequency throughout the 
pandemic, thus ensuring that our most vulnerable communities and 
those without access to a car could continue to access vital services 
(retail/health) and key workers could continue to access work – 
which was vital during lockdown  

53

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 57



Our transport system often shapes what is possible and impacts 
on the people and places around it  COVID-19 has given us a new 
perspective on what our economic, social and environmental 
priorities are, and what changes may be possible  Therefore, there 
is an opportunity to reshape our transport network for the better  
In surveys of public attitudes during the crisis (covering over 6,000 
responses), the majority of respondents wanted to see changes in 
areas such as cleaner air (81%), reduced traffic on roads/ reduced 
car use (75%) and improved work/life balance (67%), demonstrating 
a need for a more inclusive transport system  

Improving the interface between active travel and public transport 
is key to encouraging uptake  Grants of between £10,000 and 
£180,000 from the Better Streets Community Fund (BSCF) 
have been awarded to pay for a range of projects across the 
West Midlands including better paths, improved street lighting, 
secure bike storage and safe crossings, with around 40 projects 
supported across the region  Investment into active travel through 
the DfT’s Active Travel Fund (see section 2 4 5) includes the 
Living Streets Walk to School initiative, whereby TfWM have local 
activators to encourage more young people to walk to school with 
their parents 

54

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 58



1 5 Living with challenges

There are a number of specific 
groups of people that not only 
have an increased risk of poor 
physical and mental health, 
but social, economic and 
digital exclusion  These groups 
are also more likely to face 
additional difficulties as a result 
of the pandemic  In this section 
we address a number of these 
key groups 

Structural racism and ethnic disparities as determinants of health

Structural racism has been consistently 
cited both regionally and nationally as a 
key factor in poorer health and wellbeing 
outcomes for people from BAME 
communities, including COVID-19 deaths 
and complications 55,56,57 Prof Sir Michael 
Marmot has emphasised the need to act 
now on systemic racism and the structural 
determinants of health, rather than putting 
it off until the immediate crisis has been 
dealt with 58  This is because these are 
causal factors in the crisis, and addressing 
them is key to prevention and resilience 
over the longer term 

A national survey of over 14,000 adults by 
the mental health charity Mind revealed 
that existing inequalities in housing, 
employment, finances and other issues 
have had a greater impact on people 
from BAME groups than on white people  

The reduction in access to health and 
wider services due to control measures 
is also likely to have a disproportionate 
impact on BAME groups and people with 
severe mental illness 59  Experiences of 
discrimination and structural racism as 
barriers to accessing services are well 
documented,60 and was a key theme 
identified through community engagement 
activities in the region 61,62,63

Key observations from the West Midlands 
Inquiry into COVID-19 Fatalities in BAME 
communities are summarised in Box 2  
Many of these observations were echoed 
in the submissions received to the call for 
evidence, particularly around access to 
care and funding, disruption to ways of life, 
communication and lack of confidence for 
change (see Appendix 1) 

55

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 59



Box 2: COVID-19 BAME Evidence Gathering Taskforce – 
Labour party Key observations from testimony

1 Fear of inequitable treatment that 
might be received in the NHS was 
a deterrent for many in the BAME 
asking for help quickly enough

2 Our BAME community experienced 
an NHS and care system that was 
overwhelmed

3 Public health messages about 
symptoms or what to do when in 
need were poorly communicated 
by Government to our BAME 
communities

4 The voice of the BAME community 
has simply not been heard in 
the way our health services are 
designed and delivered

5 The disruption to the traditions and 
process for grieving has created 
significant mental health risks

6 Many of the groups that worked 
with people with long-term health 
conditions have been underfunded

7 Many BAME frontline workers had 
direct experience of inadequate 
provision of PPE

8 Data we need to track the impact of 
the pandemic is not available, such 
as ethnicity recording on death 
certificates

9 A clear strategy for understanding 
the scientific evidence for the 
disproportionate impact of 
COVID-19 on the BAME community 
has not been communicated 
effectively

10 Confidence that lessons will be 
learned and change will come about 
is low to non-existent

While it is essential to address the role 
of systemic discrimination and racism in 
the system, care must be taken to avoid 
stereotyping and assuming that people 
from BAME communities all face the same 
challenges (even within specific ethnic 
groups) and therefore require the same 
approaches to engagement  Research has 
highlighted the importance of language in 
our communication (even around the term 
‘BAME’ itself, as discussed previously), and 
the importance of developing ‘race fluency’ 
and confidence to enable meaningful and 
inclusive communication around issues 
affecting particular ethnic groups 64 

56

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 60



Vulnerable children and young people

As outlined in section 1 2, facing challenges earlier in life can 
limit opportunities later on and lead to poorer health outcomes  
PHE West Midlands established a task and finish group to 
focus on vulnerable children and young people, considering the 
impacts of COVID-19 and identifying ways to strengthen multi-
agency working in understanding vulnerability and supporting 
recovery 65  Children in care (i e  those looked after by the local 
authority); those subjected to trauma, violence and exploitation; 
youth offenders; and children with special educational needs 
& disabilities (SEND) were identified as being at potentially 
increased risk as a consequence of the pandemic  

Children with experience of care have significantly poorer 
educational outcomes than their peers, which has implications for 
their future employment and life chances, and there is evidence 
that the gap persists even when additional needs are taken into 
account 66  Children and young people at risk of offending or 
within the youth justice system often have more unmet health 
needs than other children, including an increased risk of suicide 67  
Providing unpaid care can have a significant impact on carers 
throughout the life course, affecting their education, employment, 
relationships, household finances, health and wellbeing  These 
effects tend to worsen with the more care provided 68 

Childhood trauma is both a cause and consequence of social 
disadvantage and inequalities in physical and mental health 69 
In addition to ensuring that disadvantaged children and young 
people are able to access the opportunities and support they 
need, it is also essential to adopt trauma-informed approaches in 
providing this support 

Health of the Region 2020

57

P
age 61



Table 9: Living with challenges in the WMCA – local area comparisons

Indicators Period

W
M

C
A

 
nu

m
be

r

En
gl

an
d

W
M

C
A

Bi
rm

in
g-

ha
m

C
ov

en
tr

y

D
ud

le
y

Sa
nd

w
el

l

So
lih

ul
l

W
al

sa
ll

W
ol

ve
r-

ha
m

pt
on

C
ar

e 
an

d 
ca

re
rs

Children in care - crude rate per 10,000 (2019) 2019 - 65 - 67 89 95 109 90 90 102

Children providing unpaid care (aged 0-15) - % (2011) 2011 6,636 1 11 1 15 1 10 1 37 1 03 1 21 1 03 1 18 1 20

Children providing 20+ hours/week of unpaid care (aged 0-15) - % (2011) 2011 1,442 0 21 0 25 0 25 0 30 0 21 0 29 0 18 0 23 0 24

Young people providing unpaid care (aged 16-24) - % (2011) 2011 20,600 4 8 5 6 5 8 4 7 5 8 6 3 5 1 5 6 5 7

Young people providing 20+ hours/week of unpaid care (aged 16-24) - % 
(2011)

2011 6,271 1 3 1 7 1 8 1 2 1 7 2 1 1 3 1 9 1 8

Unpaid carers - % (2011) 2011 77,216 2 37 2 82 2 66 2 50 3 03 3 23 2 48 3 26 2 97

Teenage mothers - % (2019) 2019 305 0 6 0 8 0 7 0 9 0 8 0 8 0 5 1 4 1 3

Social Isolation: percentage of adult social care users who have as much 
social contact as they would like (18+ yrs) - % (2018/19)

2018/19 14,140 45 9 46 6 44 0 47 3 47 5 52 2 45 1 43 1 51 6

Social Isolation: percentage of adult carers who have as much social 
contact as they would like (18+ yrs)

2018/19 830 32 5 32 4 25 1 38 2 43 4 27 7 28 6 25 5 36 1

A
bs

en
te

ei
sm

 
&

 e
xc

lu
si

on
s

Pupil absence - % of half days 2017/18 7,306,605 4 8 5 0 5 13 4 86 5 02 4 75 4 88 4 99 4 62

Primary school fixed period exclusions: rate per 100 pupils 2016/17 4,735 1 4 1 6 1 95 1 88 1 52 1 27 1 29 1 67 0 75

Secondary school fixed period exclusions: rate per 100 pupils 2016/17 16,291 9 4 8 5 7 5 11 0 10 0 9 6 8 3 7 6 8 3

Sickness absence: Employees who had at least one day off in the 
previous week - %

2016-18 - 2 1 2 1 2 8 1 8 2 6 1 1 1 8 2 4 1 3

Sickness absence: Working days lost - % 2016-18 - 1 1 1 3 1 6 0 9 1 7 0 9 1 0 1 3 0 7

In
ju

ry
 a

nd
 c

ri
m

e 
in

c 
 

vi
ol

en
t c

ri
m

e

Hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate injuries in 
children (aged 0-14 years) - crude rate per 10,000

2018/19 6,715 96 1 113 5 115 6 184 9 85 5 105 6 103 8 93 3 82 7

Hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate injuries in 
young people (aged 15-24 years) - crude rate per 10,000

2018/19 4,940 136 9 120 5 113 9 129 0 105 6 119 9 155 5 110 6 144 3

Children in the youth justice system (10-18 yrs) - crude rate per 1,000 2017/18  1,686 4 5 5 2 5 2 5 2 4 5 6 4 2 5 3 9 8 4

First time entrants to the youth justice system (10-17 yrs) - crude rate per 
100,000

2018  88 238 5 308 0 377 7 244 8 260 1 239 9 120 3 248 7 423 6

First time offenders - crude rate per 100,000 2018  5,926 211 238 266 228 174 244 127 206 328

Reoffending levels - % of offenders who reoffend 2017/18 - 29 1 29 9 31 3 30 0 26 4 29 3 21 1 29 7 30 0

Violent crime: Violence offences per 1,000 population - crude rate 2018/19  76,186 27 8 26 3 28 8 23 0 22 4 27 2 17 6 25 8 31 2

Violent crime: Sexual offences per 1,000 population - crude rate 2018/19  7,175 2 5 2 5 2 8 2 4 2 2 2 3 1 8 2 2 2 7

Source: PHE Public Health ProfilesCompared with England:

Quintiles:

Better Lower

HighLow

Similar SimilarWorse Higher

58

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 62



Care and carers

The rate of children looked after by the local authority is higher 
than the England average in all areas except Birmingham  The 
WMCA has significantly more people providing unpaid care 
than the national average, including children and young people 
providing substantial levels of care  The population proportion 
of teenage mothers, who are at increased risk of poverty and 
poor health if they are not adequately supported, reflects the 
national average across most areas but is significantly higher in 
Birmingham, Walsall and Wolverhampton  Social isolation is a key 
issue for both providers and recipients of care  While more adult 
social care users in the WMCA reported having as much social 
contact as they would like, this is still less than half  Only a third of 
adult carers, both regionally and nationally, have as much social 
contact as they would like, with substantial variation across areas  

Absenteeism and exclusions

Rates of school absences and primary school exclusions are 
significantly higher for the WMCA than for England overall, but 
lower for secondary school exclusions  Among working age 
adults, sickness absence rates are broadly similar to the national 
average but the number of days lost to sickness is higher, which 
may be due to higher rates of longer-term absence 

Injury and crime

Hospital admissions for intentional or unintentional injuries in 
children and young people are significantly higher for the WMCA 
than for England overall, and appear to be driven by high rates in 
a few areas  First time entrants to the youth justice system and 
first time offences are significantly higher in the WMCA than the 
national average  Rates of children and first time entrants to the 
youth justice system, first time and repeat offences, and violent 
and sexual crimes are consistently lower in Solihull and Dudley, 
and consistently higher in Birmingham and Wolverhampton 

59

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 63



Disability and long-term health conditions

Disability intersects across a wide range 
of health, wellbeing and social factors, 
including physical activity, education, 
employment and social participation  In 
addition to increased risk of death from 
COVID-19, people with disabilities or long-
term health conditions are more likely 
to experience additional health impacts 
relating to access to services and essentials, 
and disproportionate social and economic 
impacts due to existing inequalities   

The ONS Opinions and Lifestyle Survey on 
the social impact of the COVID-19 pandemic 
in Great Britain included indicators relating 
to the impact on disabled people  For the 
purpose of the analysis this included anyone 
with a self-reported long-standing illness, 
condition or impairment that reduced their 
ability to carry out day-to-day activities  
More than 8 in 10 (83%) disabled people 
compared with around 7 in 10 (71%) non-
disabled people said they were “very 
worried” or “somewhat worried” about the 
effect that the pandemic was having on 
their life in September 2020; for disabled 
people, but not for non-disabled people, 
this was a similar level to that reported 
earlier in the pandemic (86% and 84% 
respectively in April 2020)  In September 
2020 disabled people reported lower 

ratings for all wellbeing measures than non-
disabled people, and were more worried 
than non-disabled people about the effect 
of COVID-19 on their well-being, health, 
relationships, access to healthcare for non-
coronavirus related issues and access to 
groceries, medication and essentials  People 
with mental health, social or behavioural 
or learning impairments tended to be 
most concerned about the impact of the 
coronavirus on their wellbeing, whereas 
people with dexterity, mobility, stamina, 
vision or other impairments were more 
worried about access to healthcare and 
treatment for non-coronavirus related 
issues  Disabled people were also more 
likely than non-disabled people to report 
their treatment was cancelled or never 
started before lockdown 70

Health of the Region 2020

60

P
age 64



Inclusion health and vulnerable groups

People in excluded or marginalised groups are at a higher risk of 
being exposed to the virus, as well as being more likely to suffer 
adverse impacts on physical and mental health and wellbeing 
through social and psychosocial impacts; impact on employment 
and finance; and reduced access to housing and services 71

A people with no recourse to public funds (NRPF)

In the West Midlands region in 2019, there were 5,236 asylum 
seekers in receipt of Section 95 support - 4,304 (82%) of which 
were in the West Midlands Metropolitan area, with the vast 
majority receiving both accommodation and subsistence 
support 72  During the pandemic the Home Office made the 
decision to suspend evictions from asylum accommodation, move 
some processes online, and extend payments for those granted 
refugee status until they received their first welfare benefits 
payment 

However, many asylum seekers are at increased risk of 
contracting COVID-19 through living in close quarters and sharing 
facilities with others, in addition to issues around access to 
testing, facilities and support 73

People with no recourse to public funds (NRPF) are at high risk 
of homelessness and destitution because they cannot access 
mainstream housing, welfare benefits and employment 74

Research by the University of Wolverhampton (August 2020)75 
found that:

• There was a lack of information available for people with NRPF: 
Only 5 of the 151 local authorities in England had publicly-available 
NRPF policies which were accurate, up to date and contained 
referral contact details  More than 40 percent of local authority 
websites did not contain any information at all about NRPF   

• Only 7 percent of local authority websites surveyed in April had 
information on COVID 19-related support for people with NRPF  
When the survey was repeated a month later, this number had 
increased to 12 percent  6 out of 10 organisations who responded 
to the call for evidence had not received updated information 
from their local authority since the start of the pandemic  

• Numbers of service users with NRPF who had COVID-19 
symptoms were relatively small, but those who did have 
symptoms were particularly likely to die or become seriously 
ill: More than half of organisations that responded to the call 
for evidence knew of service users who had been diagnosed 
with COVID-19  Although most knew of relatively small 
numbers who were experiencing symptoms, of those who did, 
more than half had become seriously ill or died 

• People with NRPF struggled to access food, shelter and 
subsistence support during the pandemic: The most commonly 
reported impact of the pandemic was not having enough food  
More than 8 out of 10 organisations identified this as a concern 
for their service users  

61

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 65



The study also found that the most commonly reported difficulty 
across all user groups was being refused support from the 
local authority  For those already accessing support, the most 
commonly experienced difficulty amongst children and families 
was inadequate accommodation for self-isolation  For adults 
with care needs, it was being unable to get in contact with 
the local authority  For homeless adults, the most commonly 
reported problem was having no provision made for their food or 
subsistence needs  

Homelessness and rough sleepers

People who sleep rough experience some of the most severe 
health inequalities and much poorer health than the general 
population 76  The average age at death for people who experience 
homelessness is 44 years for men and 42 years for women – 
accidents (including drug poisoning), suicide and diseases of the 
liver accounted for over half of all deaths of homeless people 
in 2017  A University College London study found that a third 
of deaths among homeless people were due to preventable or 
treatable conditions such as tuberculosis and gastric ulcers 77  
This is related to exposure to poor living conditions; difficulty in 
maintaining personal hygiene; poor diet; high levels of stress; and 
drug & alcohol dependence  Access to primary care is still a major 
issue, despite homeless people having the right to register with a 
GP without identification or a fixed address 

Many homeless people have co-occurring mental ill health 
and substance misuse needs, physical health needs, and have 
experienced significant trauma in their lives  Data from the 
Combined Homelessness and Information Network (CHAIN) in 
London shows that 50% of people sleeping rough have mental 
health needs, 42% have alcohol misuse needs, and 41% have drug 

misuse needs 78  The COVID-19 pandemic therefore presents 
additional risks not only in terms of infection, but in reducing access 
to support services for mental health and addiction problems 

Nationally, the pandemic has prompted rapid action79 on 
homelessness, with over 90% of rough sleepers now in 
accommodation  As of the 1st of May across the WMCA 
region, over 800 potential and actual rough sleepers have been 
accommodated as part of the COVID-19 response – with almost 
150 having no recourse to public funds  Of those coming in from 
the streets, 10 returned and a further 40 refused offers of help  
The WMCA Homelessness Taskforce has observed evidence 
of greater engagement with the support and services that are 
offered, and emphasises the need to maintain and build on this 
trust as we enter the next phase 80

Drug and alcohol dependence 

Data from the National Drug Treatment Monitoring System for 
the West Midlands region show that from February 2020 to date, 
compared to the average of the same periods between February 
2018 to January 2020:81 

•  The number of individuals in treatment and the number of 
deaths in treatment have increased

•  The number of new presentations and successful treatment 
completions have decreased 

•  Numbers of individuals with housing needs have also 
decreased 

62

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 66



People with complex needs and carers

People with disabilities or complex medical needs are significantly 
more likely to be at risk of complications from COVID-19 and 
are therefore more likely to be shielding  Parents Opening Doors 
(PODs) is a peer led charity based in Telford & Wrekin that 
involves and supports families of children and young people 
(aged 0-25 years) who have an additional need, or a disability, or 
SEND   The charity is becoming increasingly concerned by reports 
from families regarding a lack of support, and families of children 
with complex needs who are reaching breaking point  A survey 
of their members carried out in June 202082 found that 71% of 
respondents were shielding; approximately 59% of families said 
they were ‘doing ok’, 26% were ‘not doing very well’ and around 
half of these said they were ‘doing really bad’  

Many families reported positive aspects to lockdown, including 
more time to spend with their children and on play, and being 
able to access activities, music and virtual performances online  
However, mental health and wellbeing was a major concern for 
both parents and children, particularly stress and loneliness  
Parents had accessed emotional support from a range of sources, 
including family and friends (88%), the wellbeing line or befriender 
scheme (26%), social media (25%), mental health professionals 
(20%) and faith groups (2%)  Many felt abandoned by services and 
the system, with many cancelled appointments, and there were 
concerns around furlough and economic recovery  Under half had 
attended virtual meetings, with 35% of these saying it had worked 
for them and 8% saying it had not  Some parents did not receive 
their shielding letters and found that local authorities were slow 
to react, and felt that CCG commissioning changes needed to be 
communicated more effectively 

Prison population

People who are incarcerated experience a higher burden of 
chronic illness, mental health and substance misuse (drugs, 
alcohol and tobacco) problems than the general public, as well as 
significantly higher risks of infectious diseases including blood-
borne viruses such as Hepatitis B  Members of this group often 
come from already marginalised and underserved populations in 
the wider community; improving the physical and mental health of 
people in prison would benefit wider society as well as individuals, 
including by reducing reoffending rates  As well as an increased 
risk of infection from coronavirus for those currently incarcerated, 
spending more time in isolation is likely to have a detrimental 
impact on mental health and exacerbate existing difficulties 

Gypsy, Roma and Traveller people

It is estimated that between 100,000 to 300,000 Gypsy/Traveller 
people and up to 200,000 Roma people are living in the UK  While 
they have historically lived nomadic lives, they have increasingly 
moved into housing; the 2011 census for England and Wales 
recorded 74% of Gypsies and Travellers as living in houses, flats, 
maisonettes or apartments 83  In January 2020, the number of 
traveller caravans in WMCA constituent authorities was 232, 
with the majority (91%) on authorised sites (i e  with planning 
permission) 84  The count of travelling showpeople caravans was 
37, all of which were on authorised sites 

People from Gypsy, Roma & Traveller (GRT) communities 
experience some of the poorest physical and mental health 
outcomes in society, even when compared with other socially 
deprived or excluded groups, and with other ethnic minorities 85 
Accommodation insecurity, living conditions, social exclusion 

63

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 67



and discrimination are among the main causes  Authorised 
and unauthorised caravan sites are often in environments that 
promote poor health (e g  by busy roads or heavy industry), and 
a lack of recognition by local councils and communities of GRT 
people’s social and legal entitlements to live and work in their 
areas has a direct detrimental impact on planning decisions, 
quality of accommodation, and health and wellbeing, as well as 
education and employment 86

The higher prevalence of existing health conditions, and additional 
risks presented by insecure accommodation or restricted access 
to amenities as a result of the pandemic, means that people from 
GRT communities are at a disproportionate risk of experiencing 
severe illness from COVID-19  Guidance published by Friends, 
Families and Travellers for supporting people living on Traveller 
sites, unauthorised encampments and canal boats87 sets out key 
recommendations for local authorities, Traveller site managers 
and organisations managing canals and waterways to ensure that 
households can isolate safely and securely, and have access to 
necessary facilities including water, sanitation and rubbish disposal 

Box 3: Impact of COVID-19 on women

The economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on 
women could potentially result in significant reversals of 
the progress made over recent decades  Research from the 
Fawcett Society revealed that women are bearing the brunt 
of extra childcare and housework, and are losing jobs in 
greater numbers than men 88  Women are also more likely 
to become infected due to being more likely to work in 
health and care settings, and are disproportionately more 
likely to be victims of domestic violence and abuse 

A survey carried out in the WMCA area by West Midlands 
Women’s Voice and the Fawcett Society89 found that four 
fifths of employed women have seen their job change in 
some way; more than a quarter are struggling to make 
ends meet; more than a third say their mental health has 
suffered; yet very few reach out to support networks  The 
survey noted some differences between how different 
demographic groups of women have handled the pandemic, 
but these tended to be small and usually, consistent across 
all questions, implying something more to do with cultural 
response biases rather than specific coronavirus-related 
demographic differences  Many are using an increase in 
available time to consider retraining and upskilling   Women 
in the West Midlands reported feeing positive towards their 
local and combined authorities - they were keen to access 
services, believed them to be important, and would feel 
comfortable in using them  

64

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 68



While 41% of women reported having more time for 
exercise and keeping healthy during lockdown, 31% 
reported no change in the time available for these 
activities, and 21% reported having less time  This is 
consistent with national data showing that women were 
more likely to be doing less physical activity during 
lockdown (see Health behaviours above), and is likely 
to contribute to a widening of sex-based inequalities in 
physical activity participation overall  In England,  almost 
half of women (42%) are not active enough for good 
health compared with approximately a third of men 
(34%) 90

65

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 69



Increasing risk of harm through violence 
and exploitation

The additional risks presented by isolation and social distancing 
measures to people whose homes are not places of safety has 
been recognised from the outset  The British Crime Survey reports 
that only 43% of violence is reported to the police;91 it is therefore 
important to develop ways of identifying those at risk in other 
settings where they may come into contact with public service 
professionals 

Injury Surveillance to Tackle Violence (ISTV) is a multi-disciplinary 
initiative led by the West Midlands Injury Surveillance System 
(WMISS) Steering Group, funded by the Police and Crime 
Commissioner   The group is made up of multi-disciplinary 
partners with the aim of monitoring the patterns and trends of 
violence within the West Midlands   WMISS uses anonymised 
data on injury related consultations in emergency departments, 
West Midlands Ambulance injury data and West Midlands Police 
data across the West Midlands, with the aim to identify the root 
causes to violent related injury and inform local decision making 
in mitigating these causes  

A major issue with reduced access to face-to-face services 
during the pandemic is that there are fewer contact points and 
opportunities for these individuals to be identified and offered 
appropriate support  Nationally, Refuge reported a 700% increase 
in calls to its helpline at the start of lockdown, and a 25% increase 
in calls from perpetrators seeking support to change their 
behaviours 92  The Counting Dead Women project recorded 16 
domestic abuse killings of women by men between 23 March 
and 12 April, which is double the average for that period; this 
rose to 25 women between 23 March and 20 May 93  Long-term 

underfunding of the sector means that there are limited resources 
and refuge spaces to meet this growing demand 94 

While much of the focus is on victims of domestic violence and 
abuse, health, emergency and support services also provide 
opportunities for contact with victims of exploitation, including 
modern slavery  The most common forms of modern slavery 
include labour, sexual and criminal exploitation, and domestic 
servitude  TAs with domestic abuse and violence, modern slavery 
is a hidden crime where victims may be further isolated and 
hidden from view during the pandemic  The Home Office sets out 
guidance for identifying and supporting victims of modern slavery, 
including during the pandemic 95

66

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 70



Box 4: Digital inclusion and the ‘digital divide’

The move towards many jobs and services, including 
healthcare, to online platforms presents an additional risk for 
widening health inequalities  COVID-19 has highlighted the 
‘digital divide’, with the factors underpinning digital exclusion 
often the same as those underpinning social exclusion overall 
– which increase the risk of poverty and poor health   Just 
under 60% of individuals from lower income groups do not 
have access to the internet whereas 99% of individuals within 
higher income groups do 96  The barriers by which people 
are excluded fall into three broad categories: accessibility 
and affordability of technology; lack of confidence; or lack of 
digital skills and education 97  As society shifts more towards 
online systems and phasing out face-to-face interaction, those 
who face these barriers will struggle to adapt  As a result 
of this, the inequality gap will widen, with these individuals 
becoming more excluded and isolated 

In the West Midlands, 3% of the population do not have 
a bank account and rely solely on cash as a means of 
purchasing goods and accessing services  Nationally, 7 5% 
of adults have never used the internet and within the West 
Midlands Metropolitan area, 13% of residents have never sent 
an online message or email   In general, disabled individuals 
are more likely to be digitally excluded compared to those 
who are not disabled  95% of non-disabled adults were 
listed as recent internet users whereas this was only 78% 
for disabled adults  However, the internet usage of young 

disabled adults (age 16-14) is similar to that of non-disabled 
young adults (98% and 99% respectively), suggesting that 
digital exclusion is more prevalent among disabled older 
adults  This is consistent with lower internet usage among 
older adults in general; almost half of people aged 75+ are 
not recent internet users, and are also more likely to have 
issues around hearing, manual dexterity or proficiency with 
technology that may make digital solutions less appropriate 
for this group 98

Even prior to the pandemic, digital exclusion was contributing 
to widening health, social and economic inequalities with the 
gradual shift towards online provision of services and goods, 
including government forms, bill payments and banking  
With more and more services publicised and accessed via 
the internet, those who are digitally excluded are also less 
likely to access the unlikely to receive the right information or 
access the right opportunities and even money saving deals: 
according to recent government estimates, predominantly 
offline households spend an average of £560 more per year 
on shopping and utility bills, compared to families which use 
the internet to compare prices and access better deals 

During Covid-19 most services and social interaction shifted to 
online modes (in some cases with a long-term view to retain 
this, therefore further widening the digital divide and making 
accessing services more difficult for the most disadvantaged)   

67

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 71



During lockdown primary care and outpatient consultations 
shifted to online, including mental health and drug & alcohol 
support services – which required service users to not 
only have the right equipment and internet access, but a 
physically and psychologically safe space in which to receive 
that support  Public libraries and local community centres 
closed, leaving behind those who previously depended 
on those places for internet access  The tasks which were 
previously difficult for people who are digitally excluded 
became impossible with lockdown  Given that the groups 
who are most likely to be digitally excluded are also those 
who are most likely to benefit from public services, this is 
likely to widen existing inequalities among these groups 

Digital technology has enabled an increase in home and 
flexible working during the pandemic, which for many has 
increased opportunities to improve work-life balance – 
for example, by balancing work with care responsibilities 
and using the time usually spent commuting to engage 
in health and wellbeing improving activities  However, 
not everyone has been able to benefit from this due to 
the nature of their roles; many key workers have had to 
continue attending their workplaces, including those 
in low paid and insecure employment  Moreover, low 
income and older workers (who are more likely to be 
digitally excluded) are also more like to lose pay as a 
result of the pandemic  

68

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 72



Section 1 summary

This first part of the report has described the 
health of the population of the WMCA, and 
where COVID-19 has had both direct and indirect 
impacts on health inequalities  

It shows that, whilst most of the population is healthy, there are 
very large proportions who are not   It shows that health here is 
not in general as good as the national average   People live shorter 
lives here and a greater part of their life is lived in poor health  It 
shows too that much of the risk of poor health is predictable and 
is linked to the way people live, and that this in turn is shaped by 
the places where they live  And it is clear that different groups 
of people within areas have different outcomes, including those 
relating to COVID-19   In particular, sex, ethnicity, and deprivation, 
are all shaping the health outcomes of our residents differently   

There will always be new pressures in our society   Many future 
health challenges are known   For example, we know that our 
system cannot easily cope if the numbers of people living with 
long-term disease continue to rise; we know that we can extend 
length of life through technological advance but that this can be 
at the expense of quality of life; we know that a rapidly changing 
population brings new issues of social cohesion and access to 

services; and we know that issues such as microbial resistance 
are emerging   We did not specifically know of the emergence of 
COVID-19, but we did know that any new pandemic would bring 
premature death and a threat to our health and care systems   It is 
important that the impact of COVID-19 is specifically understood 
so that we can build our future differently  In the short term, 
services are being expanded and are coping   In the longer term, 
the impact of the disease has been felt disproportionately by the 
very sectors of the population who are identified in this report 
as having the poorest outcomes  Those who are overweight or 
smoke, the BAME communities, and the lower paid have all had 
the highest risks of complications and death following testing 
positive for COVID-19   This is not consistent with our national 
values of a National Health Service and equality   We must make 
sure that our approach is ‘future proofed’ and that actions are 
taken now which reduce health inequalities in the longer term   

Description brings this informed understanding of our population   
But this is only of real value if it enables decision-makers to have 
impact in bringing improvement   The second part of this report 
outlines an approach to far-reaching and impactful change 

69

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 73



Section 2  

Opportunities for change

Local authorities are ideally placed to develop new 
approaches for improving population health and 
reducing inequalities, particularly given their focus 
on place, wellbeing and cross-sectoral working  
Working at a regional level also offers a range of 
opportunities to amplify, support and add value to 
local approaches through use of devolved powers, 
partnership working and networks, pooling of 
resources and expertise, sharing learning and 
good practice, and scaling up clear examples of 
good work in the area  

2 1 Closing the health and wealth 
gap through radical prevention

To reduce widening and persistent health inequalities, a radical 
shift is needed to put communities at the heart of public health and 
build healthy, resilient, connected and empowered communities 99  
Radical prevention means taking action as a whole system to tackle 
the underlying causes of poor health and health inequalities (the 
‘causes of the causes’), and shifting to more person and community-
centred approaches to health and wellbeing 

Figure 13 illustrates the key concepts underpinning a regional 
approach to radical prevention, focusing on the relationship 
between health and wealth  This is reflected in the Marmot policy 
objectives, which remain as relevant during COVID-19 as they 
always have been, and in the priority areas identified by Coventry 
City Council for their 2016-2019 Marmot City programme and 

70

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 74



priorities for continuing the programme through 2020-2022 61,62  
Action at each stage of the life course has the potential to improve 
health and social outcomes later on; raising aspirations and mental 
wellbeing in childhood increases likelihood of good educational 
outcomes, which in turn facilitates employment and career 
development (Figure 14)  

Early intervention and prevention in the early years can have 
lifelong impact, as well as yielding significant return on investment  
Proportionate universalism is fundamental to Marmot principles: 
balancing universal action on the wider determinants of health with 
targeted intervention to actively close the health and wealth gap, 
and improve the health of the most disadvantaged fastest 

Figure 13: Elements of a radical prevention approach

Inclusive 
growth

Inclusive 
economy

Wider 
determinants

Health 
inequalities

Social, environmental, 
political, economic and 

cultural factors that impact on 
our health and wellbeing

Economic growth that actively 
seeks to reduce inequalities 

and considers what is 
important to citizens

Challenging the economic 
status quo and actively 
seeking to reduce inequalities 
in areas of little to no growth

Reducing avoidable gaps in 
life expectancy and healthy 
life expectancy between the 
most and least affluent or 
privileged 

RADICAL 
PREVENTION

71

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 75



Figure 14: Embedding Marmot policy objectives into economic growth (PHE, 2016)100 

MMaarrmmoott  ppoolliiccyy  oobbjjeeccttiivveess  aanndd  iinncclluussiivvee  ggrroowwtthh

Proportionate 
universalism:
• Balancing universal and 

targeted action
• Reducing social gradient 

over time
• Improving the health of 

the poorest fastest

72

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 76



Many local authorities have taken forward the recommendations 
and approaches outlined in the 2010 Marmot Review  A survey by 
the King’s Fund conducted in 2011 found that over 75 percent of 
local authorities had incorporated the approach directly into their 
health and wellbeing strategies  However, this was in the face 
of widespread reductions in public spending and intervention in 
almost all areas, with the poorest areas being the most affected 101  

Coventry’s Marmot City programme is a powerful example of 
where Marmot policy objectives have been adopted in developing 
the city and its economy  Evaluation of the programme suggested 
that the programme helped to mitigate some of the effects 
of austerity, and that the Marmot City branding facilitated 
partnership working and embedded consideration of the impacts 
that Council policies and investments have on health inequalities 
across the organisation 102  

The Coventry approach demonstrates the value of cross-sector 
collaboration and whole-system working, and can be adapted and 
scaled up to tackle persisting health inequalities at a regional level 

2 2 Inclusive growth within an inclusive economy

Regeneration and economic growth within the region bring a 
number of opportunities to act on the wider determinants of 
health  The WMCA defines inclusive growth as “a more deliberate 
and socially purposeful model of economic growth – measured 
not only by how fast or aggressive it is; but also by how well it is 
shared across the whole population and place ”

Economic growth has potential to improve population health 
and wellbeing and reduce health inequalities through improving 
access to employment, raising income, increasing community 
safety, improving housing quality and affordability, raising 
aspirations and improving educational outcomes, providing a 
high quality local environment and green space, enhancing social 
relationships and connectedness, and increasing opportunities for 
participation  A recent report by the Health Foundation found that 
the COVID-19 pandemic had demonstrated that people’s health 
and wealth cannot be viewed independently and that economic 
development policies which look beyond narrow financial 
outcomes as a measure of success can be instrumental in creating 
more prosperous societies 103

In practice, however, people living in deprived communities often 
see little benefit from economic growth and feel excluded from it  
Inclusive growth principles recognise that prosperity is measured 
not just by Gross Domestic product (GDP) and Gross Value Added 
(GVA), but by the health and wellbeing of the population and the 
extent to which everyone benefits from the growth  This means 
levering current and future policy and investment opportunities 
in a way that leaves no-one behind, and considering what is 
important and meaningful to citizens 

73

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 77



It is important to consider inclusive growth 
within its broader context of an inclusive 
economy, and to actively seek to reduce 
existing inequalities across the life course 
even in areas with little or no current 
growth activity or where new investment 
may be limited  An inclusive economy also 
recognises that not everyone will have or 
be able to work towards optimal health, 
but should still be supported to maximise 
their potential and quality of life  A healthy 
and resilient population can also be a 
foundation of creating and maintaining 
growth, contributing to a virtuous cycle 

Sustainability is a key element of inclusive 
growth  A balanced, inclusive West 
Midlands economy (i e  a fairer, greener 
and healthier region) is one that balances 
a thriving economy that meets the 
needs of all citizens with minimising the 
environmental impacts of growth, and 
improving air quality, biodiversity and 
green space  The #WM2041 strategy104 
sets out WMCA Board ambitions to reach 
zero carbon 21 years into its 80 year carbon 
budget, and to address the climate crisis in 
a way that is fair, inclusive, and promotes 
economic prosperity within the region 

Figure 15: A Framework for Inclusive Growth
Population Intelligence Hub and Inclusive Growth Unit – based on Kate Raworth, 
Doughnut Economics (2017)

Sustainability

Health and 
wellbeing

Education 
and learning

Affordable, 
safe and 
connected 

places

Power, 
influence and 
participation

Economy Equality

Biodiversity

Reducing
CO2

Circular
economy

Air quality
A balanced, inclusive West 

Midlands economy

74

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 78



2 3 Place-based approaches and community-centred public health

Areas of high deprivation are often characterised by more 
transient populations where people move on once they start to 
do better, so health outcomes appear to show no improvement 
over time  Focusing on improving places and systems rather 
than targeting individual behaviour change helps to create 
environments where people want to live and work, and bring 
about sustainable positive change  

Place-based working enables the development of system-wide, 
population level interventions through focusing on engagement 
between civic organisations, services and communities 105  This is 
known as the ‘Population Intervention Triangle’ (Figure 16)  At the civic 
level, adopting a ‘health in all policies’ (HiAP) approach can help to 
embed health improvement and the reduction of health inequalities 
across policy areas acting on the wider determinants of health 

Figure 16: Components of the 
Population Intervention Triangle Civic-level 

Interventions

Strengthen 
Community 

Action

Civic Service 
Integration

Service Engagement 
with Communities

Community-centred 
Interventions

Service-based 
Interventions

Place-based 
planning

75

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 79



2 3 1 Anchor institutions

As part of this approach, working with ‘anchor institutions’ such as 
the local authorities and NHS Trusts can help to embed innovation 
and good practice locally  Anchor institutions are defined as large, 
typically non-profit organisations whose long-term sustainability 
is tied to the wellbeing of the populations they serve   Anchors 
have ‘sticky capital’, i e  their connection to the local population 
means they are unlikely to move, and have considerable influence 
on community health and wellbeing 106  Anchor institutions 
provide opportunities to look inward in relation to systemic 
inequalities and discrimination in our own organisations, for 
example in addressing pay and leadership gaps, and promoting 
healthy and inclusive working practices 

2 4 Local application and developing 
opportunities for action

Our interim report and call for evidence identified a range of 
stakeholder activities in responding to COVID-19, many of which 
are drawing on these approaches and principles  A summary of 
these activities is provided below, building on the opportunities for 
action set out in the interim report and Box 5  Selected case studies 
provide examples of these activities, highlighting the role of faith, 
community and voluntary sectors in engaging with local residents, 
and the importance of partnership working and use of population 
health intelligence to improve ways of working across systems  

Health of the Region 2020

76

P
age 80



Box 5: Opportunities for action on health inequalities in developing the regional approach to responding 
to and recovering from COVID-19

1 New public focus on health inequalities 
and public health, including the recently 
launched national strategy for tackling 
obesity

2 Increased public awareness of infection 
control

3 Promoting physical activity as an 
opportunity to be outdoors, socialise, get 
around safely and improve wellbeing, in line 
with regional and national strategies 

4 New ways of working that maximise use 
of technology, enabling more flexibility 
and improving work-life balance as well as 
reducing environmental impact – working to 
ensure equal access to these opportunities 
and reduce digital exclusion

5 Changes to local delivery models

6 Role of communities, for example in driving 
a collaborative approach to population 
health management

7 Workstreams to ensure that BAME 
inequalities are considered in all aspects of 
response and recovery

8 Drawing down resources to help address 
structural inequalities, for example through 
a formal submission to the comprehensive 
spending review

9 Understanding lessons learnt from the first 
wave from a healthcare perspective

10 Pooling and sharing of intelligence and 
engagement resources and analysis as a 
regional health systems network

Longer term opportunities:

11 Developing a Health in all Policies approach 
to embed consideration of physical and 
mental health across all WMCA policy areas

12 Using the Thrive model to improve 
workforce health and wellbeing, and to 
address inequalities in education, skills and 
employment across the region in line with 
inclusive growth objectives

13 Maximising the potential of the 2022 
Commonwealth Games to drive down 
inequalities and deliver a lasting legacy 
that undermines inequalities, especially in 
communities hit hardest by COVID-19

14 Supporting regional collaboration to 
tackling health inequalities, especially for 
groups such as the homeless and migrant 
populations

15 Working with communities, and local and 
national partners, to improve the recording 
and routine analysis of demographic data so 
that we are actively monitoring inequalities 
and demonstrating progress across the 
region (e g  in relation to death certificates 
recording of details such as faith and 
ethnicity)

16 Supporting local governments in their 
ambitions to protect and improve the lives 
of local citizens and work with them to 
ensure adequate funding for the public 
health function that has been so important in 
responding to the current crisis

17 Devolution presents a significant 
opportunity to co-ordinate action across 
the system in local recovery to improve 
the wider determinants of health, working 
in partnership with stakeholders across 
localities and sectors

77

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 81



2 4 1 Crisis response

The acute response to the pandemic has, 
understandably, been the focus of activity 
across organisations in the region, particularly 
to ensure that the most vulnerable citizens are 
supported  However, this has not happened 
independently of longer-term change to address 
health inequalities  In many cases, the emergency 
response has provided the foundations to 
establish new ways of working and strengthen 
relationships with communities and partners 

Case Study: Birmingham City Council - Food parcels 
for clinically shielded & vulnerable people

During lockdown, 7,395 clinically vulnerable people across 
Birmingham were receiving weekly food parcels, with around half 
of these provided by Birmingham City Council  A Food Hub was 
established at Wholesale Markets, where supplies were sourced, 
stored, packed and distributed via National Express Accessible 
Transport 

Although initial deliveries were standard food parcels, the council 
also catered for limited dietary requirements in response to 
population needs, including diabetic, gluten-intolerance, nut 
allergy, halal and vegetarian  

The council’s Emergency Community Response Hub also ensured 
that people who were not shielding but still experienced difficulty 
accessing food supplies were also able to receive emergency 
food supplies  Those included people over 70, those self-isolating 
due to illness, pregnant women, and people receiving support 
through adult social care  The Hub also signposted and connected 
vulnerable citizens without assistance from family or friends to 
help and support  Citizens with existing support networks (e g  
family and friends) were asked to continue to use this so that the 
council could focus on those most in need 

78

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 82



Case study: Birmingham City Council – Supporting rough sleepers 
and responding to homelessness during the pandemic

A number of challenges and barriers were identified for 
Birmingham’s homeless population, including:

• No beds available in the acute wards for mental health (one 
specific example found that an ambulance was called but the 
person was later released with no support)  

• The helpline provided did not give the support needed  

• The mental health support had been positive when accessed 
via the health exchange, but if people already had a diagnosed 
/ treated for mental health problem then it was sometimes 
more difficult to get the support needed from their registered 
provider 

• Many individuals have problematic substance misuse issues 

• Drop-in centres closed during lockdown – a Housing Options 
offer was established at Washington Court which has now 
moved to Sifa Fireside 

• Pre-COVID-19, rough sleeping went down to single figures at 
height of lockdown; however, numbers have since started to 
rise again (in the 30-40 age range)

An operation to get rough sleepers inside during the pandemic 
was largely successful – beds were initially secured with Holiday 
Inn and accommodation was then found for the majority of people 
(e g  some people were moved into BCC flats, supported housing 
and emergency housing) 

It was clear that a change of approach was needed regarding the 
new housing options offer, as the majority of people were referred 
into non-commissioned exempt-supported accommodation  Given 
the number involved, this represents a significant dependency on 
this sector and should be approached with caution  The Council is 
working to strengthen its control of standards and a support team 
is being commissioned to follow up on each person referred 

79

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 83



2 4 2 Community engagement

Across the West Midlands region there has been 
substantial engagement with communities in 
local areas, by local authorities, services and the 
voluntary & community sector to understand how 
they have been impacted by the pandemic and 
the support they need  This is not just in relation 
to COVID-19, but with long-standing health and 
wider issues that have placed some communities 
at greater risk of the virus itself and the economic 
impacts  This is an area where it is particularly 
important to build on the work that has been 
done to reinforce relationships and develop 
networks over the longer term 

Case study: Outbreak Management Plan, Lye 

At the outset of the Covid-19 outbreak, it was recognised that 
migrant communities could be especially vulnerable to the 
impacts of the virus, particularly over the lockdown period   
Within Dudley Borough, Lye has a relatively large Roma 
population, and so partners acted quickly to consider the 
challenges for the community and plan a response     

Representatives from community safety, neighbourhood policing, 
primary care, access and prevention, family support, the local 
church and Public Health met in March to consider the particular 
vulnerabilities of the community and the assets that could be 
called upon to address these  Key concerns included language 
barriers to understanding health protection messages and access 
to the resources needed for people to support themselves and 
their families during lockdown  

An action plan was developed which included:  

• Establishing routes for the distribution of food and essential 
supplies, including a foodbank based within the church and 
door-step deliveries 

• Translation and dissemination of key public health messages 
through a range of avenues, from word of mouth, recorded 
messaging on community Facebook pages and leafleting 

80

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 84



• Facilitating application processes for benefit claims 

• Connecting members of the community to housing support 

• Re-establishing elements of the Lye Community Project 
support to the Roma community in a Covid-safe form   

All partners supported implementation of the plan, with Roma 
community members assisting food distribution efforts  Public 
Health’s Roma Community Development Worker was key  Using 
her unique relationship with the community and language skills, 
she provided a trusted source of information and support and 
facilitated access to services   

The community have been hugely appreciative of the assistance 
provided  Their feedback suggests that people were enabled to 
come through the crisis well, that they have felt valued, and could 
rely on services for the help they needed 

Case study: Legacy WM - wellbeing promotion, 
physical activity & nutrition for Bangladeshi women107

Legacy West Midlands is a registered charity that has its roots 
in celebrating the heritage of post-war migrant communities 
in Birmingham, highlighting their relationship to the industrial, 
architectural, and cultural heritage of the city  The charity is based 
at the community heritage site of Soho House in Handsworth, and 
delivers projects in the northwest inner-city wards of the city  

A research project on food journeys in the Bangladeshi community 
revealed that the health of first-generation migrants was better than 
that of their children and grandchildren; funding was subsequently 
allocated by National Lottery to focus on the health of the local 
community through a project called Family Fit, which focused on 
health improvement from the whole family  Women were particularly 
engaged and keen to participate in health services 

Having the flexibility to go to out to wherever our community are 
makes it as easy as possible for people to participate in activities, 
and particularly removes some of the barriers for women – for 
example, work in schools with mothers after they drop their 
children off in the mornings  The charity undertakes non-clinical 
health MOTs and runs various programmes including Zumba, 
Yoga and Food Nutrition, working at a number of local sites 
including Aspire & Succeed, Saathi House, Lozells Recreation 
Centre and Birmingham Asian Resource Centre   

81

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 85



Legacy WM’s Zumba sessions for women include a significant 
number from the Bangladeshi community, with some sessions 
sometimes having up to 40 participants  

“These women only sessions show the truly multi-cultural aspect 
of our work, with women entering the sessions wearing their hijab 
and niqab, and warming up to Ed Sheeran!”

Case study: Mosques and the Muslim Community in 
Dudley Borough 

Engagement with Mosques and the Muslim community in Dudley 
Borough has been an important strand within the Covid-19 
response  The closure and subsequent reopening of places 
of worship has presented significant challenges across faith 
communities and many worshippers fall within one or more 
vulnerable groups   

Proactive contact was made with Mosques at an early stage in 
the pandemic, with a view to opening channels of communication 
to share information and respond to any concerns or needs 
for support  In some parts of the Borough, relationships were 
already established, in others, this was an opportunity to make a 
connection   

Public Health’s engagement with and support to Mosques has 
included the following:  

• Providing resources and information for Mosque leaders to 
share with their community 

• Remaining in touch with Mosque representatives to ensure any 
concerns or queries can be raised and addressed  

• Responding to requests for specific information, including 
translation and design of materials  

• A virtual meeting for Mosques with Health Protection to 
provide an opportunity to explore safe reopening  

• Joint-working with Brierley Hill Mosque, which has acted as a 
central contact for several Mosques in the area, disseminating 
information 

• A Mosque representative is part of the Test and Trace Sub-
group membership for voluntary, community and faith settings 

Overall, representatives from the Mosques have been appreciative 
of the information and resources shared and the opportunity 
to liaise with Public Health for support during the Covid-19 
pandemic   The connections established have ensured that 
potential problems can be voiced and that the latest guidance is 
applied  

82

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 86



2 4 3 Data and intelligence

Improving data and intelligence, particularly around the recording 
of ethnicity in health and care settings, has emerged as a key 
priority for longer-term system improvement to address health 
inequalities, both regionally and nationally  However, activity in 
this area has also focused on using population health intelligence 
to understand the relationship between existing inequalities and 
the impacts of COVID-19, and to address issues with access to 
services and research  For example:

• Report on Impact of COVID-19 on Inequalities - Solihull 
Metropolitan Borough Council – The report brings together 
the existing national evidence and analyses the probable 
impact on different groups  The Council is in the process of 
developing a targeted Health Inequalities Strategy 

• West Midlands Language and communication service 
needs assessment - Health Protection Team, PHE West 
Midlands – Report included a descriptive study that aimed to 
provide a picture of the language and communication need 
within the health protection response in PHE WM, and the 
commissioning processes used by other PHE Health Protection 
teams for language and communications services 

• West Midlands Air Quality Improvement Programme 
(WMAir) - Research supporting the improvement of air quality, 
and associated health, environmental and economic benefits, 
across the West Midlands, with rapid analysis of the impacts of 
COVID-19 related emergency public health measures (March – 
May 2020) upon nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and particulate matter 
(PM) levels in Birmingham City  

•  Key findings:

• Reductions in NO2 concentrations associated with 
COVID-19 were of greatest magnitude for those living at the 
inner city and near-roadside locations, including areas of 
high deprivation  

• Changes were less marked in the north-east of the city; 
the location of more affluent (upper income quintile) LSOA 
areas  Further (ongoing) research is required to better 
characterise these impacts upon different ethnic groups, 
including linkage to health outcome measures 

83

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 87



2 4 4 Workforce wellbeing

It is recognised that workforce wellbeing is integral to reducing 
health inequalities, particularly in anchor institutions  While 
this is partly about ensuring that staff in health and other public 
services are equipped to manage the challenges in their roles 
due to changes in priorities, scope and context, there is also 
an opportunity in terms of representation and improving the 
experiences of staff from diverse backgrounds  

• As part of their wider approach to reset and recovery, Sandwell 
MBC have a Staff Impact Working Group led by the Interim 
Director of Human Resources that has drawn on existing 
networks, HR data and staff engagement activities to capture 
experiences, views and thoughts from the workforce   Key 
messages from the group are that although staff have coped well 
with adapting quickly to a new working style and maintaining 
service delivery in adverse circumstances, it is recognised 
that this style of working has not suited everybody equally for 
a variety of reasons  The findings from this work will be used 
to define the new operating model and embed this within the 
organisation, balancing staff needs with the organisation’s needs 
through continued regular communication and improvement 
of communication mechanisms in light of remote working - 
particularly with the frontline and those without remote access 

• Birmingham & Solihull CCG are developing updated ways 
of working with staff and communities, which includes 
establishing a Health Inequalities Task Group, which has set 
out priorities for action in the next 1-2 years  This includes 
using the role as an ‘anchor institution’ to promote economic 
prosperity and to support staff 

2 4 5 Innovation and system change

As well as an increased focus on health inequalities, the pandemic 
has provided opportunities to explore new ways of working 
and to collaborate across systems to develop interventions and 
approaches to addressing health inequalities – both within and 
across organisations 

• Black Country and West Birmingham CCG Wider 
Determinants Programme Advisory Group is undertaking 
a programme of work including a report looking at the 
system’s response to COVID-19 and lessons learnt; Phase 1 
programme looking at wider determinants of health; and Phase 
2 programme focusing on designing, appraising, implementing 
and evaluating interventions 

• West Bromwich African Caribbean Resource Centre 
redesigned its services to support the community during first 
wave and flagged a lack of funding to increase their offer, 
especially for second wave   They are working with the local 
CCG to hold online workshops (report to be published) and 
make recommemndations for CCGs to carry out Equality 
Impact Assessments 

84

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 88



Case study: Emergency Active Travel Funding to 
Transport for West Midlands

As part of the Department for Transport’s allocation of its 
Emergency Active Travel Funding to Transport for West Midlands, 
the WMCA invested Active Black Country* to deliver an 8 
week social prescribing of walking and cycling programme in 
collaboration with its 4 Primary Care Networks (PCNs) 

The programme focused on testing the effectiveness of different 
methods in getting health care professionals to signpost people to 
walking and cycling and based on 3 stages 

• Recruitment: Each PCN identified a group of 10 patients 
who they felt would most benefit from getting them to walk 
and cycle  This included people with hypertension and from 
migrant communities and those who practices identified as 
pre-diabetic, 67% of participants across the 4 PCNs were from 
BAME communities and predominately male 

• Advice and Guidance: A consultation with the patients and 
provision of an e-resource providing details on local walking 
and cycling opportunities and the benefits of taking part 

• Activation funding: a £50 personal budget for half of the 
patients involved in the programme to see if this provided 
greater incentives to get walking and cycling e g  footwear, 
bikes and travel passes 

The 8-week programme is coming to an end and has evidenced 
that 70% of patients taking part reported an improvement in 
physical health, 67% improvement in mental health and 93% 
stated they planned to continue being active  

The programme also identified the importance of companionship 
in encouraging people to be active and the importance of health 
care and physical activity sectors working better together  There 
are many lessons learnt including greater collaboration with PCNs 
and an opportunity to secure additional funding longer term 

Michael Salmon, Head of Insight, Health and Wellbeing for Active 
Black Country said: 

“Active Black Country is working hard to ensure that all health 
care professionals, along with dedicated social prescribers, have 
the knowledge and resources required to signpost patients and 
clients to community solutions where appropriate  The resource 
that we have developed is a great way to encourage patients in 
primary care to access the wonderful parks and open spaces 
already available within their local community for the benefit of 
their health and wellbeing ” 

*Active Black Country is one of the national network of Sport England 
funded Active Partnerships and is the strategic lead for sport and physical 
activity across the Black Country

85

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 89



Case study: St Margaret’s Unity Hubb108

This is a church supported project that uses church premises, but 
has been set up as a non-faith trust  Running out of a beautiful 
church building whilst meeting the needs of the very diverse local 
community, working specifically with women, was something 
Unity Hubb was excelling at before lockdown  They have managed 
to rethink their activities  They started by delivering seeds, plants 
and compost to local families; in the first week to 43 families and 
then for some weeks to 15-20 families   

They transferred many of their activities onto Zoom  For example, 
they have delivered:

• A cook together eat together event

• Family crafting sessions where they delivered craft packs and 
an artist helped them over Zoom to be creative

• Chai and chats

Rashta Butt, the Development Worker has also carried out one to 
one chats on the doorstep to a few of the most isolated of their 
participants  They have promoted the church’s food bank, but also 
built on the goodwill in the community and collected for the Feed 
Birmingham campaign with a box outside the church 

Recognising how much the women were loving planting 
and also how many of the older generation had grown up in 
agricultural communities and had skills to pass on Rashta set 
about persuading the local allotment team and the existing 
plot holders that they could take over a plot  Thus, the “Diverse 
Garden” started in lockdown  The plot has been divided into ten 
so each participant can manage a small area, but take pleasure in 
what they can achieve  Other planting and crafting activities take 
place on a Tuesday  The next plot has been handed over, which is 
testimony to the project’s success 

Even on a rainy Tuesday in October, 14 women turned up; three 
with children to plant, chat and do other activities  That is real 
indication of what has been created; a diverse community with 
connection and purpose 

86

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 90



Case study: Redeemer Church, Northfield - Supporting 
the Local Community109

This church has adapted its offer to meet a wide variety of local 
needs  This has included food shops, food parcels, connecting 
people to the local food bank, pharmacy runs, gas and electric 
vouchers, referral, and one off events such as an alternative 
Halloween party for children with activity and snack packs and 
supporting the Northfield VE Day on your Porch initiative  They 
have made regular welfare calls and stayed in touch with their 
usual participants to check what they may be needing, even doing 
some of these at a distance in the front garden  They have made 
a point of celebrating events such as delivering a birthday cake or 
holding a mini birthday party 

They have used available funding to buy a few participants’ tablets 
and have worked with them to get wifi access and to be able to 
join activities  Their approach has also not just been delivering 
services, but creating connected communities  One example is of 
two men who had previously met at a Redeemer Church event  
They connected them up; co-ordinated one to do the other’s 
shopping, and covered volunteer expenses   

Through lockdown, they ran a virtual coffee morning each week, 
which some people attended every week  Since then they have 
managed to restart their Place of Welcome, working within the 
social distancing restrictions  They are working on a community 
craft project: embroidered bunting for the centre they use to 
remember this year! They have also organised some get togethers 
of over 50’s picnic lunches (5 guests and one from the church 
team) in their garden 

Since lockdown lifted, they have been holding a mobile coffee 
morning which has enabled them to  find and connect with 
more isolated and vulnerable people on the estate  It has also 
meant they have been able to effectively signpost and partner 
with local organisations, referring people on for help with social 
care, foodbank, gardening and more  They go out with a car, 
individually wrapped pastries and coffee and tea and knock on 
every door of a chosen street  They serve people a drink and have 
a chat on the doorway, in a socially distanced way  They also have 
activity packs for children to distribute to under 5s  In addition, in 
the first three weeks they made two referrals to Adult Social Care, 
three to a local project, Futureproof, bought a bed for an elderly 
man, an oven for an older woman 

Finally, they are running an all generation’s outdoor fitness 
group and a running group to ensure there is a safe way for local 
residents to get fit and healthy 

In addition to providing support to people on their local estate 
they feel they have ended up connecting more deeply with the 
area and working alongside council organisations in a way they 
would not have done otherwise 

87

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 91



Case study:  St Germain’s Church, Edgbaston110  – 
Food distribution project

St Germain’s Covid-19 Community Response Team was 
established in April 2020 to meet the growing needs of the local 
community  Initially they delivered food to those in need  They 
have also provided a cooked meals service as they found many 
households in need did not have facilities or were unable to cook 
food  A volunteer cook can produce halal food and culturally 
appropriate meals and there is always a vegetarian option 

Once lockdown lifted they encouraged those in need to come to 
the church to collect food and are open three days a week  They 
give out 60-80 food bags each week, feeding around 160 people  

They have not found the demand going away and even by 
October half term were cooking 180 meals each session so 360 
each week, feeding around 160 households each week  They work 
closely with four hotels and a couple of hostels in the immediate 
vicinity which are current home for people who are homeless, 
have been subject to domestic abuse and are asylum seekers  As 
with other vulnerable households they delivered food to many of 
these families in lockdown and latterly  encouraged them to come 
into the church 

They recruited over 30 volunteers of all faiths and none  People 
come to the front door asking for help and they are encouraged to 
become volunteers too  In October 2020 six of the volunteers had 
been  recruited in this way  They also have support from members 
of the local community and many faith groups  They have regular 
donations, for example, from a Sikh gurdwara, a group of Muslim 

women who collect and deliver tins of food and church groups 
which organise street collections for them  

The approach they take is broader than just food  They help 
connect their families to other services too  One example is 
the asylum seeking family of nine, soon to be ten  One of the 
volunteers who can speak Arabic has helped secure a school 
place, has ensured the hostel moved them from a small single 
room to two rooms, made a referral to the babybank for the 
forthcoming baby and introduced them to Migrant Help 

They have collected resources, for example, winter coats and 
shoes and to pass on to people  If they find that people need a 
particular thing they do a shout out to the community and can 
usually source what they need  

In the summer they opened for an additional day in the summer 
for families to come in  they provided different activity packs 
every week to take away  They were able to spend more time with 
people and tailor support to their needs 

Finally, they have an emotional wellbeing service which is non-
Christian counselling and also referral to other services such as drug 
and substance recovery  This service operates three days a week 

As well as providing support to hundreds of people they suggest it has 
exposed is a level of need that people did not know about previously  

88

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 92



Section 2 summary

There is a two-way relationship between health 
and wealth on both an individual and population 
level  Inclusive growth and its role in reducing 
health inequalities needs to be considered in its 
broader context of an inclusive economy and 
wider determinants of health  Radical prevention 
means taking action as a whole system to tackle 
the underlying causes of poor health and health 
inequalities and shifting to more person and 
community-centred approaches to health and 
wellbeing, in line with inclusive growth principles  

Tackling health inequalities at a regional level means 
understanding how to lever current and future policy and 
investment opportunities in a way that benefits everyone, and 
actively seeks to reduce existing inequalities across the life 
course  However, the relationship between civic organisations, 
services and communities at the local and regional levels is crucial 
to understanding the unique populations, needs and assets in 
each area, and where working as a regional collective might 
enable us to amplify and add value to local approaches 

Despite the obvious challenges, the coronavirus pandemic has 
also highlighted ways to work differently and opportunities for 
positive change across the whole system – particularly in relation 
to engaging with communities and learning from the excellent 
work of the voluntary and community sector in understanding 
what is important to our citizens and the challenges they face   
The final part of this report considers these opportunities in the 
context of the key issues underpinning disparities in COVID-19 
outcomes and wider inequalities in health and wellbeing, 
identifying commitments to action by local and regional 
stakeholders and recommendations for national government that 
would act as a catalyst for this change 

89

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 93



Section 3  

Commitments to action and 
recommendations

Public Health England has produced two significant reports on 
the impact of COVID-19 on particular communities  Its first report 
confirmed that COVID-19 has replicated and, in some cases, 
increased existing health inequalities  And in its report on BAME 
communities, it identified a number of reasons why death rates 
have been significantly higher amongst Black and Asian ethnic 
groups  Both reports emphasised the role of prevention through 
improving the wider determinants of health, and more equitable 
access to health and wider services 

This is in line with the issues highlighted by WM Citizens’ Panel, 
which identified accessing healthcare and improving physical 
health as key components of community recovery  Alongside 
concerns about how to keep safe from coronavirus, panellists 
were particularly concerned that the healthcare system could 
get back on track to diagnose and treat people  They also 
identified the importance of preventative issues – promoting 
healthy living to reduce demand on services and tackling the 
deeper causes of poor health 

This final section of the report is framed around 4 big challenges 
that arise from this analysis 

• We must begin with the urgent task of improving outcomes 
for BAME communities  Targeted and immediate action to 
tackle structural racism is an urgent and immediate priority 

• But lasting change will only happen when we take a systemic 
approach to tackling the wider determinants of health and 
dealing with the structural inequalities we find in our economy, 
housing market, education, justice and transport systems 

• Similarly, we must tackle inequalities in the health and care 
system and widen access to health and care services  This 
requires a fundamental rebalancing of funding and focus on 
primary and preventative care 

• These challenges, in turn, will create the conditions in which 
people-powered health can flourish and healthy lifestyles can 
become the norm 

90

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 94



The 4 challenges are set out in the diagram below 

Improving outcomes
for BAME

communities

Enabling
people-powered

health

Tackling the
wider determinants

of health

Widening access
to health and
care services

In the final section of this report, we take each of these challenges 
in turn and address two responses:

• Commitments to action – these are the activities that key 
stakeholders in the region are already undertaking, or are 
planning to undertake, that are seeking to address the 
challenges that have been identified – these are divided into 
commitment on the part of the WMCA and commitments 
made by other stakeholders 

•  Recommendations to government – these are changes required 
of central government in order to unlock change in the region 

91

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 95



1  Improving outcomes for BAME communities

This report has shown clear evidence that the coronavirus 
pandemic has both exposed and exacerbated longstanding 
inequalities affecting black and minority ethnic (BAME) groups  
The risks of catching COVID-19 and dying from it have been 
shown to be higher for BAME groups than in White ethnic groups  
There are several inter-related factors that might contribute to 
this disparity  Individuals from BAME groups may be more likely to 
suffer from other chronic conditions; they are more likely to work 
in occupations with higher risk to COVID-19 exposure and more 
likely to use public transport to travel to their places of work; and 
the risks of transmission and morbidity can be exacerbated by 
the housing challenges faced by some members of BAME groups  
Pervading all of this, BAME communities experience systemic 
discrimination and racism on a daily basis which directly affects 
physical and mental health and has been shown to affect access 
to health services 

A whole-system approach to responding to and recovering 
from COVID-19 must address these issues head on  All public 
institutions need to monitor and evaluate the extent to which 
systemic discrimination affects their services and working 
practices  BAME groups must be better represented in their 
workplaces and NHS and other health and care bodies should 
commit to relevant race equality standards 

92

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 96



WMCA Commitments

• The WMCA’s independent Leadership 
Commission will make advancing opportunity 
and mobility within the health and care sector a 
key priority in its new implementation plan and 
work with partners on action to achieve this 

• WMCA will develop a targeted Thrive mental 
health programme co-designed with BAME 
employers and employees 

• WMCA will carry out rigorous equalities impact 
assessments of all of its directorates and wider 
agencies 

• WMCA will hold Mayor’s WM BAME roundtable 
meetings every 6 months to monitor steps 
that been taken by WMCA and wider regional 
partners in relation to the Health of the Region 
commitments to action 

Partner Commitments

• The new multi-agency Midlands System 
Transformation Recovery (STaR) Board will carry 
out an evaluation of regional NHS programmes 
through a Black Lives Matter and post-COVID lens 

• PHE West Midlands will develop a BAME and 
Disparities workplan to ensure improving health 
outcomes for BAME communities is a cross 
cutting consideration across priorities of health 
and wellbeing programmes; and undertake 
analysis to determine the extent of inequalities 
and impacts of COVID-19 on black and minority 
ethnic communities 

• Black Country and West Birmingham CCG Equality 
& Diversity leads group across the BCWB STP 
to ensure a consistent and unbiased approach 
in supporting BAME colleagues and delivering 
BRAP training for all STP board members  The 
Health Inequalities and Prevention Board will also 
improve our ethnicity data collection and use of 
ethnicity data and work to understand and address 
inequalities between different ethnicity groups

• Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust is committed to 
making progress on the Workforce Race Equality 
Standards (WRES) and are currently on track to 
meet the 2028 target for leadership diversity 

• Birmingham and Solihull STP will:

• Routinely produce data to support 
restoration and recovery broken down by 
sub-analyses of socio-economic factors, 
including ethnicity and levels of deprivation

• Deliver various initiatives to support people 
with diabetes, including a marketing 
plan being developed with our BAME 
diabetes patient champions and provider 
Weight Watchers (WW), to be delivered in 
communities and in different languages

• Implement the NHSEI perinatal mental 
health support for BAME women

• Recruit a STP Inequalities Lead, STP 
Workforce and Inclusion Director and 
STP Workforce and Inclusion Convenor to 
support delivery

• Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council will work 
to adopt the PHE Heat Tool as part of a health 
in all policies/integrated Equity assessments 
across Council

• Dudley Group NHS Foundation Trust will 
launch a health and wellbeing strategy for staff, 
supported by their BAME inclusion network, 
which provides a 12 month calendar of culturally 
appropriate health and wellbeing initiatives 
to support staff from a physical and mental 
wellbeing perspective 

• Aston University is developing ‘Inclusive Aston’ 
which includes working towards a Race Equality 
Charter award

• West Midlands Police are working to look more 
like the people they serve and have set a target 
of recruiting 1,000 BAME officers over the next 
three years 

• The Walsall Together Partnership is committed to 
the Workforce Race Equality Standard and seek 
to hear BAME views through engagement and 
through Walsall for All and Healthwatch partners

• Healthwatch WM will conduct targeted work to 
gather views and experiences of patients and the 
public, especially from underrepresented groups 

• The West Midlands Fire Service will 
continue to take positive actions and make 
the the service more representative of the 
communities they serve 

93

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 97



2  Tackling the wider determinants of health

In order that we might be more resilient to future pandemics, we 
need to make sure we create a society in which everybody can 
lead a healthy lifestyle  This means looking not just at the causes 
of ill health, but the causes of the causes: getting a good start in 
life, educational attainment, our jobs and incomes, our homes 
and where we live, our friendships and sense of purpose and 
belonging  These wider determinants of health have been shown 
to be the main drivers of health inequalities which in turn have 
led to some communities being more badly affected by COVID-19 
than others 

In responding to and recovering from the pandemic, the health 
and wider system must put a strong focus on these root causes  
Perhaps one of the most important initiatives though that will 
help to achieve this is through a Health in All Policies (HIAP) 
approach  HIAP encourages every public agency to consider the 
health implications of every decision it takes to find opportunities 
to promote wellbeing, avoid causing harm, and reduce inequality 
between groups  Another initiative to encourage this systemic 
approach would be to become a Marmot city region to galvanise 
our shared commitment to preventative health and wellbeing and 
build a more collaborative system for achieving it 

94

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 98



WMCA Commitments
• WMCA will work with partners to become a Marmot 

City-Region and develop a 3-year action plan for change 

• WMCA will incorporate a Health In All policies (HIAP) 
approach into its Inclusive Growth Framework 

• WMCA will continue to pay the Real Living Wage and 
ensure its contractors do so too 

• WMCA will target underrepresented groups for training 
programmes to support access to jobs, particularly 
where groups are under-represented in the workforce – 
for example, our work with Black CodHers helps black 
women gain digital skills and careers 

• WMCA will capture health outcomes in our zero-
carbon initiatives 

• WMCA will work closely with public health 
colleagues on planning applications to embed public 
health expertise within our Housing and Land team 

Partner Commitments
• The new multi-agency Midlands System 

Transformation Recovery (STaR) Board, working with 
PHE WM, will establish a Health Inequalities Working 
Group which will:

• support Integrated Care Systems to plan and 
be held accountable for addressing health 
inequalities within the populations they serve;

• provide standards, guidance and tools to ensure 
health inequalities are considered in the design 
and evaluation of new NHS services 

• NHS Confederation has called for both local 
authority and NHS commissioners to work with wider 
system partners to integrate and embed employment 
support alongside clinical services to improve access, 

integration and visibility of employment support 

• Birmingham and Solihull STP are implementing a system 
leadership programme for 500 leaders who will receive 
bespoke learning on meeting the needs of vulnerable 
citizens and tackling key inequalities  It will also support 
vulnerable people through shielding, particularly in the 
context of a local ‘lockdown’, with additional support 
delivered through our partner organisations 

• The Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) will 
continue to work with partners to identify additional 
opportunities for intervention and prevention in 
reducing the harm caused by drugs, gangs and 
violence  For example, the New Chance programme 
provides a whole system approach to keep low level 
female offenders out of the criminal justice system 

• The directors of public health share the ambition 
to reduce health inequalities and address the wider 
determinants of health  In particular, they are 
committed to working with partners and the WMCA 
to address these disparities through inclusive growth, 
leadership and coordination 

• Black Country and West Birmingham CCG Health 
Inequalities and Prevention Board has a Wider 
Determinants sub-group which steers the Wider 
Determinants of Healthy Life Expectancy (WHoLE) 
programme  Phase 1 of the programme has just 
completed and Phase 2 will design, appraise, 
implement and evaluate interventions 

• The West Midlands Fire Service will focus on tackling the 
wider determinants of health during their Safe and Well 
visits as they are also the underlying causes of fire risk 

• The Dudley Group NHS Foundation Trust will 
commit to working with partners including the Local 
Authority and Dudley College to explore how they 
can ensure more employment opportunities for local 
people, in particular those who have found it hard to 
get employment in the past

• WM Violence Reduction Unit keep a continued focus 
on reducing inequalities through the place-based pilots, 
and through a new inequalities ‘champion’ who will 
work closely with theme leads, the data analytics team 
and the commissioning lead to embed efforts to reduce 
health inequalities systematically across the VRU 

• WMCA Homelessness Taskforce will develop a 
Commitment to Collaborate toolkit to prevent and 
relieve homelessness, which will provide a framework 
to tackle the systemic inter-related issues which 
drive homelessness and work closely with health 
colleagues to provide access to health related 
interventions for those with poorest access 

• University Hospitals Birmingham will work with 
CLES and Pioneer Housing on a project to retrain 
hospitality workers to work within UHB hospitals 

• The Black Country Consortium will work with 
developers on the incorporation of the Black Country 
Garden City principles into future housing pipeline 

• Sandwell and West Birmingham NHS Trust are 
committed to deploying a minimum of 2% of its 
future annual budget with local suppliers and to 
paying all staff at or above the ‘living wage’ 

• The Walsall Together partnership will ensure that 
Housing, the Community and Voluntary sector is 
represented on the Partnership alongside health and 
other statutory partners and that its plans are informed 
by evidence of the holistic needs of the population 

95

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 99



3  Widening access to health and care

The responses to our call for evidence have 
brought into sharp focus the inequalities in 
healthcare provision caused by disparities 
in access to good quality healthcare, 
especially for poorly managed conditions 
in vulnerable groups  Lockdown has made 
things considerably worse as the NHS 
seeks to deal with a significant backlog 
of non-COVID related morbidity and it 
is likely that the effect of this will widen 
existing health inequalities and lead to 
avoidable cancer death as a result of 
diagnostic delays  Across the UK it was 
estimated that by August 2 1 million people 
have missed out on screening, while 
290,000 people with suspected symptoms 
have not been referred for hospital tests 
  And this is just cancer  Other concerns 
include access to mental health services 
(see next section); the future of care homes 
and domiciliary care; and the implications 
of moving towards a system that relies 
more heavily on ‘telehealth’ 

‘Recovery’ presents the opportunity for 
a radical rethink of the ways in which 
people access health and care services  
Primary care services could be much better 
integrated within local neighbourhoods 
with clinics, pharmacies, housing officers, 
voluntary and community groups working 
together as we have seen in the crisis – 
particularly focusing on those who most 
need support and access  We need to 
exploit the opportunities created by the 
switch to virtual consultations and ramp 
up digital screening services but in doing 
so place a big focus on supporting those 
who don’t have digital devices or good 
connectivity or the confidence and skills to 
make the most of telehealth services  And 
we need a new vision for adult social care, 
addressing the crisis facing the care home 
sector and finding new ways to support 
people to live at home with connections to 
their wider community 

Health of the Region 2020

96

P
age 100



WMCA Commitments

• WMCA will train and support healthcare 
professionals to refer disabled citizens to physical 
activity as part of its IncludeMe initiative 

• WMCA will amplify its Thrive into Work 
programme to a further 450 people living with 
poor mental and physical health  It will focus on 
those out of work and those at  risk of leaving 
employment due to their health condition 

• WMCA will continue to support the utilisation 
of transport hubs as digital screening centres 
and for ‘pop up’ heart / CV checks, breast 
screening, sexual health etc 

Partner Commitments

• The new multi-agency Midlands System 
Transformation Recovery (STaR) Board will 
ensure that the differential experience of access 
and delivery of services is an intrinsic part of 
service design and evaluation 

• PHE West Midlands have carried out a WM-
wide needs assessment and literature review 
to inform regional and local commissioning of 
language and interpreting services in the West 
Midlands and informed commissioning of an 
interpreting service for the Health Protection 
function in the West Midlands 

• University Hospitals Birmingham will use digital 
transformation to reduce health inequalities 
by enabling people to access health care and 
information in a more accessible and a timely 
way and ensure its staff are advocates for 
digital inclusion including creating community 
diagnostic hubs in local neighbourhoods 

• Black Country and West Birmingham CCG will 
develop an Academy to provide population 
health management capacity to the system  It 
is developing a number of population health 
management projects that will widen access 
to health and care including early diagnosis of 
cancer in vulnerable groups 

• Birmingham and Solihull STP will develop 
population health management within Primary 
Care Networks (PCNs) and ensure its primary 
care estate is under one digital domain by 
March 2021 promoting digitally enabled care 
for staff to work together in virtual multi-
disciplinary teams 

• The Dudley Group NHS Foundation Trust will 
commit to working with colleagues in Dudley to 
explore how to collectively make a difference 
to cancer outcomes, with a particular focus 
on parts of the Borough where outcomes are 
poorer   This will include ensuring screening 
services provided by the Trust are delivered 
in a way which encourages uptake from more 
vulnerable people and how cancer services are 
culturally sensitive and more person centred 

• Aston University would like to develop a Health 
Hub at Aston that would be open to the local 
community 

• University Hospitals Coventry and Warwickshire 
and Coventry University want to develop a 
community diagnostics centre in the city centre 
that would improve access to such facilities to 
the local community 

• Healthwatch WM will provide advice and 
information about access to services and 
support for making informed choices 

• Walsall Together Partnership will understand the 
inequitable take up of health and care services 
and working through the Partnership and wider 
community networks to address the causes 

• The West Midlands Fire Service, as a key part of 
their Safe and well visits, will refer people on to 
other partner agencies to gain access to services 
that can tackle wider health and care issues 

97

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 101



4  People-powered health

The coronavirus crisis has reminded us all of the importance of our 
own physical and mental wellbeing  Not only have we seen the 
clear relationship between having pre-existing health conditions 
and the risks of dying from the virus, lockdown has reminded many 
people of the benefits of daily exercise and how an appreciation 
of nature can be so good for our mental health  This apparent 
silver lining is something we should not lose  How we all look after 
our physical and mental wellbeing must be central to community 
recovery 

People-powered health is an approach to wellbeing that puts 
people and prevention first  This could be as simple as encouraging 
people to walk or cycle more through safer streets and active travel 
schemes  It involves initiatives to tackle childhood obesity, build 
public awareness about healthy eating and tackle food poverty in 
poorer neighbourhoods  As we look forward to the Commonwealth 
Games it means making sure there is a clear legacy around sport 
in the community and physical activity  But it also involves putting 
people at the heart of decision-making and the co-design of our 
health and care services 

Health of the Region 2020

98

P
age 102



WMCA Commitments

• WMCA will continue to develop its Include Me 
WM programme to engage disabled people and 
people with long term health conditions to be 
physically active 

• WMCA is committed to increase cycling from 
3% to 5% of mode share by 2023 through 
the delivery of the WM Cycling Charter and 
extending cycling and walking routes  

• WMCA will work with other Commonwealth 
Games Delivery Partners to develop a long 
lasting physical activity and wellbeing legacy 
for the region 

• WMCA will endorse a Making Every Contact 
Count approach amongst its employees 
and encourage and influence other anchor 
institutions / businesses / employers to support 
people-powered health in their workplaces

• WMCA will standardise inclusion of social 
value in our single commissioning framework 
MoU’s to include Wellbeing and work together 
to maximise and measure outputs in the 
communities that we work in 

• WMCA’s Young Combined Authority Board will 
continue to encourage and challenge the West 
Midlands Combined Authority and its partners 
to listen to the voices of citizens when shaping 
policies which will affect their lives 

Partner Commitments
• PHE West Midlands are working with national 

colleagues and NHS Midlands advocating for 
community centred and asset based approaches, 
providing resources, tools and products to enable 
‘people-powered health’ including support and 
leadership for the Regional Social Prescribing 
Network, promoting the role of the NHS as an 
anchor institution, maximising opportunities through 
volunteering (including PHE staff role modelling this) 
and landing social marketing campaigns 

• Black Country & West Birmingham CCG PCNs will 
have recruited 63 social prescribing link workers, 
38 care coordinators and 12 Health and Wellbeing 
Coaches by March 2021 and plan to recruit more than 
200 posts by March 2024  These new roles focus 
on people-empowered health  The learnings from 
the Personalised Care Demonstrator site are being 
embedded in our workstreams  9 PCNs are joining the 
Dartmouth PCN development programme in 2020/21 

• Birmingham and Solihull STP will support behaviour 
change for staff and community leaders through 
various wellbeing initiatives including a targeted 
campaign on flu vaccination with a focus on the most 
vulnerable and those disproportionately affected by 
COVID-19  

• The West Midlands Fire Service will continue use the 
incentive of firefighting as a means of tackling wider 
health and wellbeing issues for young people through 
their programme of Fire Cadets  The service will also 
utilise their schools education and work at Safeside 
to tackle wide range of safety, health and wellbeing 
issues that underpin long-term risk of fire 

• Black Country Consortium is supporting the ‘Tribe 
Project’ - a social prescribing campaign, supporting 
prevention and increase community resilience; and 
supporting a whole system approach to reducing 
childhood obesity from early years through to 
secondary schools 

• Aston University are working in partnership with 
Aston Villa Foundation to go into local schools to 
deliver workshops about eye health, conduct eye 
screening and eye tests for those that need it, and 
working with children and parents on childhood 
eating habits 

• Coventry University will create a number of fully 
funded PhD studentship opportunities which focus 
on themes related to COVID-19 and the post-
pandemic future 

• Healthwatch WM will promote and support 
involvement in commissioning of health services and 
provision of care services 

• The Walsall for All Board will raise public awareness 
about the support available to improve mental and 
physical wellbeing through the Walsall Together 
partnership 

• Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) have re-
established police cadets to support young people 
and reduce inequalities  In addition, the PCC and 
West Midlands Police are rolling out units in our most 
diverse and challenging areas, focusing on young 

people who need the most support 

99

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 103



Recommendations to Government

1  Improving outcomes for BAME communities

• Government should produce a clear and comprehensive action plan setting 
out how it will work with local and regional partners to take action on race 
disparities and associated risk factors 

• Government should commission further data, research and analytical work 
at the local and regional level to understand the geographical and place 
dimensions of race disparities in health 

2  Tackling the wider determinants of health

• The NHS should make local action on tackling health inequalities the focus 
of the NHS ‘Phase 4 Letter’ on Covid19 

• Government should make health and well-being outcomes a key driver 
of economic development and levelling-up policies including industrial 
strategy and local industrial strategies; the UK Shared Prosperity Fund; 
Towns Fund; and future devolution deals 

• Government should double the proportion of health and social care spending 
focused on prevention and public health from 5 to 10 percent over time 

3  Widening access to health and care

• Government should ensure that Local Authorities have sufficient powers 
to improve public health and reduce health inequalities, with Mayoral 
Combined Authorities providing support where they can add value (Devo WP 
Submission) 

• Government should support the WMCA’s proposal to establish digital 
screening hubs in high footfall transport locations 

• Government should do all it can to close the gap in primary care provision 
between the most and least deprived neighbourhoods in terms of funding 
per patient and serving GPs 

• Government should look to widen its plans and increase its investment to 
tackle digital poverty with a particular focus on those who do not access 
health and care services online 

4  People-powered health

• Government should invest in the WMCA’s Radical Health Prevention Fund 
to drive forward innovation, social prescribing and other initiatives to tackle 
health inequalities in the region 

• Government should pilot the Kruger report’s Community Right to Serve 
provisions for health and social care in the West Midlands 111

100

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 104



References

1 PHE (2020)  COVID-19: review of disparities in risks and outcomes  https://www gov uk/government/publications/covid-19-review-of-disparities-in-risks-and-
outcomes

2 PHE (2010)  COVID-19: understanding the impact on BAME communities  https://www gov uk/government/publications/covid-19-understanding-the-impact-on-
bame-communities

3 Marmot M, Allen J, Boyce T, et al  (2020)  Health Equity in England: The Marmot Review 10 years on  Institute of Health Equity 

4 Department for Work and Pensions  Households below average income: 1994/95 to 2017/18 DWP; 2019  https://www gov uk/government/statistics/households-
below-average-income-199495-to-201718

5 RCP (2020)  COVID-19 and mitigating impact on health inequalities  https://www rcplondon ac uk/news/covid-19-and-mitigating-impact-health-inequalities

6 West Midlands Regional Health Impact of COVID-19 Task and Finish Group: Interim Report and Call for Evidence, August 2020  https://www wmca org uk/
media/4122/regional-health-impact-of-covid19-v5 pdf

7 https://www wmca org uk/what-we-do/public-service-reform/regional-health-impact-of-covid-19-call-for-evidence/ 

8 WMCA State of the Region 2020  https://www wmca org uk/media/4240/state-of-the-region-2020-final-full-report pdf

9 Okolosie et al (2015)  https://www theguardian com/commentisfree/2015/may/22/black-asian-minority-ethnic-bame-bme-trevor-phillips-racial-minorities

10 https://history blog gov uk/2019/03/07/50-years-of-collecting-ethnicity-data/ 

11 https://www ons gov uk/census/2011census/consultationsusersandlocalpartners/2011censusclosedconsultations/
ethnicgroupnationalidentityreligionandlanguageconsultation

12 Bentley (2020)  https://onlinelibrary wiley com/doi/pdfdirect/10 1002/ajhb 23478

13 Mahmood (2020)  https://www newsweek com/bame-minority-racism-inequality-people-colour-1529732

14 https://blackbritishacademics co uk/about/racial-categorisation-and-terminology/

15 https://jech bmj com/content/early/2020/11/03/jech-2020-215504?rss=1&s=08

16 Ali (2020)  https://www varsity co uk/opinion/19351

17 ONS (2020)  Sexual orientation, UK: 2018  https://www ons gov uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/sexuality/bulletins/sexualidentityuk/2018

18 Aspinall PJ (2009)  Estimating the size and composition of the lesbian, gay, and bisexual population in Britain  Equality & Human Rights Commission, Research 
Report 37 

19 Government Equalities Office (2018)  Trans people in the UK  https://assets publishing service gov uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/721642/GEO-LGBT-factsheet pdf

101

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 105

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-review-of-disparities-in-risks-and-outcomes
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-review-of-disparities-in-risks-and-outcomes
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-understanding-the-impact-on-bame-communities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-understanding-the-impact-on-bame-communities
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/households-below-average-income-199495-to-201718
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/households-below-average-income-199495-to-201718
https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/news/covid-19-and-mitigating-impact-health-inequalities
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/4122/regional-health-impact-of-covid19-v5.pdf
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/4122/regional-health-impact-of-covid19-v5.pdf
https://www.wmca.org.uk/what-we-do/public-service-reform/regional-health-impact-of-covid-19-call-for-evidence/
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/4240/state-of-the-region-2020-final-full-report.pdf
https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2015/may/22/black-asian-minority-ethnic-bame-bme-trevor-phillips-racial-minorities
https://history.blog.gov.uk/2019/03/07/50-years-of-collecting-ethnicity-data/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/2011census/consultationsusersandlocalpartners/2011censusclosedconsultations/ethnicgroupnationalidentityreligionandlanguageconsultation
https://www.ons.gov.uk/census/2011census/consultationsusersandlocalpartners/2011censusclosedconsultations/ethnicgroupnationalidentityreligionandlanguageconsultation
https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdfdirect/10.1002/ajhb.23478
https://www.newsweek.com/bame-minority-racism-inequality-people-colour-1529732
https://blackbritishacademics.co.uk/about/racial-categorisation-and-terminology/
https://jech.bmj.com/content/early/2020/11/03/jech-2020-215504?rss=1&s=08
https://www.varsity.co.uk/opinion/19351
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/sexuality/bulletins/sexualidentityuk/2018
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/721642/GEO-LGBT-factsheet.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/721642/GEO-LGBT-factsheet.pdf


20 Figures based on data from 2011 Census

21 Strategic Review of Health Inequalities in England post-2010  (2010)  Fair society, healthier lives: The Marmot review  http://www instituteofhealthequity org/
resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf pdf

22 ONS (2020)  Coronavirus (COVID-19) related deaths by disability status, England and Wales: 2 March to 14 July 
2020  https://www ons gov uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/
coronaviruscovid19relateddeathsbydisabilitystatusenglandandwales/2marchto14july2020

23 https://coronavirus data gov uk/deaths

24 ONS (2020)  Coronavirus (COVID-19) related deaths by ethnic group, England and Wales: 2 March 2020 to 10 April 2020  https://www ons gov uk/
peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/coronavirusrelateddeathsbyethnicgroupenglandandwales/latest

25 PHE (2010)  COVID-19: understanding the impact on BAME communities  https://www gov uk/government/publications/covid-19-understanding-the-impact-on-
bame-communities

26 HM Government (Oct 2020)  Quarterly report on progress to address COVID-19 health inequalities  Race Disparity Unit, Cabinet Office  https://www gov uk/
government/publications/quarterly-report-on-progress-to-address-covid-19-health-inequalities

27 The disproportionate impact of Covid-19 on Black, Asian and minority ethnic communities  A review by Baroness Doreen Lawrence (2020)  
 Available from https://www lawrencereview co uk/

28 COVID-19 BAME Evidence Gathering Taskforce (2020)  West Midlands Inquiry into COVID-19 Fatalities in the BAME Community, August 2020  https://www 
nhsbmenetwork org uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/West-Midlands-Inquiry-into-COVID-19-Fatalities-in-the-BAME-Community-August-2020 pdf

29 West Midlands Regional Health Impact of COVID-19 Task and Finish Group: Interim Report and Call for Evidence, August 2020  https://www wmca org uk/
media/4122/regional-health-impact-of-covid19-v5 pdf

30 Sapey E, Gallier S, Mainey C, et al  Ethnicity and risk of death in patients hospitalised for COVID-19 infection in the UK: an observational cohort study in an urban 
catchment area  BMJ Open Respir Res  2020; 7(1): e000644 

31 Paper by the ethnicity sub-group of SAGE  Drivers of the higher COVID-19 incidence, morbidity and mortality among minority ethnic groups, 23 September 
2020  https://www gov uk/government/publications/drivers-of-the-higher-covid-19-incidence-morbidity-and-mortality-among-minority-ethnic-groups-23-
september-2020

32 PHE Wider impacts of COVID-19 on health monitoring tool - https://www gov uk/government/publications/wider-impacts-of-covid-19-on-health-monitoring-tool

33 Kooth data release, 15 May 2020  Week 10: How Covid-19 is Affecting The Mental Health of Children and Young People  https://www thethoughtreport com/the-
disturbing-data-behind-childrens-mental-health-during-the-covid-19-pandemic/

34 Quell data release, 15 May 2020  How has COVID-19 Affected The Mental Health of Adults in the United Kingdom?

35 The Five Year Forward View for Mental Health: A report from the independent Mental Health Taskforce to the NHS in England, February 2016  https://www 
england nhs uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final pdf

36 National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health (2019)  Advancing Mental Health Equality   https://www rcpsych ac uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/
nccmh/amhe/amhe-resource pdf

37 PHE Guidance (2016)  Health matters: getting every adult active every day  https://www gov uk/government/publications/health-matters-getting-every-adult-
active-every-day/health-matters-getting-every-adult-active-every-day

102

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 106

http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf.pdf
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review/fair-society-healthy-lives-full-report-pdf.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/coronaviruscovid19relateddeathsbydisabilitystatusenglandandwales/2marchto14july2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/coronaviruscovid19relateddeathsbydisabilitystatusenglandandwales/2marchto14july2020
https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/deaths
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/coronavirusrelateddeathsbyethnicgroupenglandandwales/latest
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/coronavirusrelateddeathsbyethnicgroupenglandandwales/latest
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-understanding-the-impact-on-bame-communities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-understanding-the-impact-on-bame-communities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/quarterly-report-on-progress-to-address-covid-19-health-inequalities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/quarterly-report-on-progress-to-address-covid-19-health-inequalities
https://www.lawrencereview.co.uk/
https://www.nhsbmenetwork.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/West-Midlands-Inquiry-into-COVID-19-Fatalities-in-the-BAME-Community-August-2020.pdf
https://www.nhsbmenetwork.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/West-Midlands-Inquiry-into-COVID-19-Fatalities-in-the-BAME-Community-August-2020.pdf
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/4122/regional-health-impact-of-covid19-v5.pdf
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/4122/regional-health-impact-of-covid19-v5.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/drivers-of-the-higher-covid-19-incidence-morbidity-and-mortality-among-minority-ethnic-groups-23-september-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/drivers-of-the-higher-covid-19-incidence-morbidity-and-mortality-among-minority-ethnic-groups-23-september-2020
https://www.thethoughtreport.com/the-disturbing-data-behind-childrens-mental-health-during-the-covid-19-pandemic/
https://www.thethoughtreport.com/the-disturbing-data-behind-childrens-mental-health-during-the-covid-19-pandemic/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Mental-Health-Taskforce-FYFV-final.pdf
https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/nccmh/amhe/amhe-resource.pdf
https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/nccmh/amhe/amhe-resource.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-getting-every-adult-active-every-day/health-matters-getting-every-adult-active-every-day
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-getting-every-adult-active-every-day/health-matters-getting-every-adult-active-every-day


38 Source: Sport England Active Lives data 2020  https://activelives sportengland org/

39 PHE Wider Health Impacts of COVID-19 on Health (WICH) monitoring tool: https://www gov uk/government/publications/wider-impacts-of-covid-19-on-health-
monitoring-tool

40 Maringe C, Spicer J, Morris M, et al  (2020)  The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on cancer deaths due to delays in diagnosis in England, UK: a national, 
population-based, modelling study  The Lancet, 21(8), 1023-34  https://www thelancet com/journals/lanonc/article/PIIS1470-2045(20)30388-0/fulltext

41 Cancer Research UK (2020)  https://scienceblog cancerresearchuk org/2020/06/01/impact-of-coronavirus-on-cancer-services-revealed-over-2-million-people-
waiting-for-screening-tests-and-treatments/

42 ONS (2020)  Coronavirus (COVID-19) related deaths by ethnic group, England and Wales: 2 March 2020 to 10 April 2020  https://www ons gov uk/
peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/coronavirusrelateddeathsbyethnicgroupenglandandwales/latest

43 Marmot M, Allen J, Boyce T, et al  (2020)  Health Equity in England: The Marmot Review 10 years on  Institute of Health Equity 

44 Analysis published in Bambra, Munford, Brown et al (2018) Health for Wealth: Building a Healthier Northern Powerhouse for UK Productivity, Northern Health 
Sciences Alliance, Newcastle 

45 WMCA State of the Region 2020  https://www wmca org uk/media/4240/state-of-the-region-2020-final-full-report pdf

46 Banks J, Karjalainen H, Propper C (2020)  IFS Briefing Note BN281 - Recessions and health: The long-term health consequences of responses to coronavirus  
Institute for Fiscal Studies/Economic & Social Research Council  https://www ifs org uk/uploads/BN281-Recessions-and-health-The-long-term-health-
consequences-of-responses-to-COVID-19-FINAL pdf

47 Giani P, Castruccio S, Anav A, et al  (2020)  Short-term and long-term health impacts of air pollution reductions from COVID-19 lockdowns in China and Europe: a 
modelling study  Lancet Planet Health 2020; 4: e474–82  https://www thelancet com/journals/lanplh/article/PIIS2542-5196(20)30224-2/fulltext

48 WMCA State of the Region 2020  https://www wmca org uk/media/4240/state-of-the-region-2020-final-full-report pdf

49 Faculty of Public Health (2010)  Great Outdoors: How our Natural Health Service Uses Green Space to Improve Wellbeing   http://www fph org uk/uploads/r_
great_outdoors pdf

50 Fields in Trust (2018)  Revaluing Parks and Green Spaces: Measuring their economic and wellbeing value to individuals  http://www fieldsintrust org/Upload/file/
research/Revaluing-Parks-and-Green-Spaces-Report pdf

51 Fields in Trust (2020)  Latest analysis of Great Britain’s publicly accessible park and green space provision  http://www fieldsintrust org/green-space-index

52 PHE Wider Health Impacts of COVID-19 on Health (WICH) monitoring tool: https://www gov uk/government/publications/wider-impacts-of-covid-19-on-health-
monitoring-tool

53 Fields in Trust (2020)  Latest analysis of Great Britain’s publicly accessible park and green space provision  http://www fieldsintrust org/green-space-index

54 TfWM  Movement for Growth: Health and Transport Strategy  https://www tfwm org uk/media/3245/movement-for-growth-health-and-transport-strategy pdf

55 PHE (2010)  COVID-19: understanding the impact on BAME communities  https://www gov uk/government/publications/covid-19-understanding-the-impact-on-
bame-communities

56 https://www wmca org uk/what-we-do/public-service-reform/regional-health-impact-of-covid-19-call-for-evidence/ 

57 Racism, the public health crisis we can no longer ignore - https://www thelancet com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(20)31371-4/fulltext

103

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 107

https://activelives.sportengland.org/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wider-impacts-of-covid-19-on-health-monitoring-tool
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wider-impacts-of-covid-19-on-health-monitoring-tool
https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanonc/article/PIIS1470-2045(20)30388-0/fulltext
https://scienceblog.cancerresearchuk.org/2020/06/01/impact-of-coronavirus-on-cancer-services-revealed-over-2-million-people-waiting-for-screening-tests-and-treatments/
https://scienceblog.cancerresearchuk.org/2020/06/01/impact-of-coronavirus-on-cancer-services-revealed-over-2-million-people-waiting-for-screening-tests-and-treatments/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/coronavirusrelateddeathsbyethnicgroupenglandandwales/latest
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/articles/coronavirusrelateddeathsbyethnicgroupenglandandwales/latest
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/4240/state-of-the-region-2020-final-full-report.pdf
https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanplh/article/PIIS2542-5196(20)30224-2/fulltext
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/4240/state-of-the-region-2020-final-full-report.pdf
http://www.fph.org.uk/uploads/r_great_outdoors.pdf
http://www.fph.org.uk/uploads/r_great_outdoors.pdf
http://www.fieldsintrust.org/green-space-index
http://www.fieldsintrust.org/green-space-index
https://www.tfwm.org.uk/media/3245/movement-for-growth-health-and-transport-strategy.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-understanding-the-impact-on-bame-communities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-understanding-the-impact-on-bame-communities
https://www.wmca.org.uk/what-we-do/public-service-reform/regional-health-impact-of-covid-19-call-for-evidence/
https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140-6736(20)31371-4/fulltext


58 Local Government Association webinar  Using Marmot principles to tackle health inequalities and COVID-19, 23 June 2020  https://www local gov uk/using-
marmot-principles-tackle-health-inequalities-and-covid-19-23-june-2020

59 Mind (2020) The mental health emergency: how has the coronavirus pandemic impacted our mental health? London: Mind  Available at www mind org uk

60 National Collaborating Centre for Mental Health (2019)  Advancing Mental Health Equality   https://www rcpsych ac uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/
nccmh/amhe/amhe-resource pdf

61 PHE (2010)  COVID-19: understanding the impact on BAME communities  https://www gov uk/government/publications/covid-19-understanding-the-impact-on-
bame-communities

62 COVID-19 BAME Evidence Gathering Taskforce (2020)  West Midlands Inquiry into COVID-19 Fatalities in the BAME Community, August 2020  https://www 
nhsbmenetwork org uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/West-Midlands-Inquiry-into-COVID-19-Fatalities-in-the-BAME-Community-August-2020 pdf

63 BRAP (2020)  COVID and ethnicity: A community guide and manifesto  Available from https://www brap org uk/post/covid-and-ethnicity

64 BRAP  Race fluency, 15 Jun 2020  https://www brap org uk/post/race-fluency

65 PHE West Midlands  Spotlight on Vulnerable Children and Young People - Before COVID-19 and Recovery, July 2020 

66 O’Higgins A, Sebba J, Luke N (2015)  What is the relationship between being in care and the educational outcomes of children? An international systematic review  
REES Centre, University of Oxford 

67 HM Government (2012)  Preventing suicide in England: A cross-government outcomes strategy to save lives  https://assets publishing service gov uk/government/
uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/430720/Preventing-Suicide- pdf

68 Parliamentary Office of Science & Technology  Postnote 582, Jul 2028  Unpaid care  https://www researchbriefings files parliament uk/POST-PN-0582 

69 King’s Fund (2019)  Tackling poor health outcomes: The role of trauma-informed care  https://www kingsfund org uk/blog/2019/11/trauma-informed-care

70 ONS (2020)  Coronavirus and the social impacts on disabled people in Great Britain: September 2020  https://www ons gov uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/
healthandsocialcare/disability/articles/coronavirusandthesocialimpactsondisabledpeopleingreatbritain/september2020

71 Doctors of the World UK (2020)  An Unsafe Distance: The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on excluded people in England  https://www doctorsoftheworld org uk/
wp-content/uploads/2020/07/covid19-brief-rna-report pdf

72 WM Strategic Migration Partnership  Migration Statistics Briefing Paper, 27 Feb 2020 

73 Home Office preparedness for COVID-19 (Coronavirus): institutional accommodation  28 July 2020  https://publications parliament uk/pa/cm5801/cmselect/
cmhaff/562/56205 htm#_idTextAnchor007

74 Homeless Link (2020)  Supporting people with no recourse to public funds (NRPF)  https://www homeless org uk/sites/default/files/site-attachments/
Supporting%20people%20with%20NRPF%20July20 pdf

75 Dickson E, Jolly A, Morgan B, et al  (2020)   Local Authority Responses to people with NRPF during the pandemic  ICRD, University of Wolverhampton 

76 PHE Guidance: Health matters – Rough Sleeping (updated 11 Feb 2020)  https://www gov uk/government/publications/health-matters-rough-sleeping/health-
matters-rough-sleeping#the-physical-and-mental-health-needs-of-people-who-experience-rough-sleeping

77 Aldridge RW, Menezes D, Lewer D et al  Causes of death among homeless people: a population-based cross-sectional study of linked hospitalisation and mortality 
data in England  [version 1; peer review: 2 approved]  Wellcome Open Res 2019, 4:49 (https://doi org/10 12688/wellcomeopenres 15151 1)

104

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 108

https://www.local.gov.uk/using-marmot-principles-tackle-health-inequalities-and-covid-19-23-june-2020
https://www.local.gov.uk/using-marmot-principles-tackle-health-inequalities-and-covid-19-23-june-2020
http://www.mind.org.uk
https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/nccmh/amhe/amhe-resource.pdf
https://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/docs/default-source/improving-care/nccmh/amhe/amhe-resource.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-understanding-the-impact-on-bame-communities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-understanding-the-impact-on-bame-communities
https://www.nhsbmenetwork.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/West-Midlands-Inquiry-into-COVID-19-Fatalities-in-the-BAME-Community-August-2020.pdf
https://www.nhsbmenetwork.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/West-Midlands-Inquiry-into-COVID-19-Fatalities-in-the-BAME-Community-August-2020.pdf
https://www.brap.org.uk/post/covid-and-ethnicity
https://www.brap.org.uk/post/race-fluency
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/430720/Preventing-Suicide-.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/430720/Preventing-Suicide-.pdf
https://www.researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/POST-PN-0582
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/blog/2019/11/trauma-informed-care
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5801/cmselect/cmhaff/562/56205.htm#_idTextAnchor007
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5801/cmselect/cmhaff/562/56205.htm#_idTextAnchor007
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-rough-sleeping/health-matters-rough-sleeping#the-physical-and-mental-health-needs-of-people-who-experience-rough-sleeping
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-rough-sleeping/health-matters-rough-sleeping#the-physical-and-mental-health-needs-of-people-who-experience-rough-sleeping
https://doi.org/10.12688/wellcomeopenres.15151.1


78 PHE Guidance: Health matters – Rough Sleeping (updated 11 Feb 2020)  https://www gov uk/government/publications/health-matters-rough-sleeping/health-
matters-rough-sleeping#the-physical-and-mental-health-needs-of-people-who-experience-rough-sleeping

79 https://www thelancet com/journals/lanres/article/PIIS2213-2600(20)30396-9/fulltext

80 WMCA (2020)  Covid -19: Homelessness and positioning us for a better future https://www wmca org uk/media/3933/wmca-covid-19-homelessness pdf 

81 NDTMS  It is important to note that reporting on treatment activity during COVID-19 is provided to enable PHE and local areas to monitor monthly substance 
misuse treatment activity at a more granular level during the COVID-19 pandemic, and uses different methodologies to routine reports  Given its temporary status 
it should not be used to monitor performance or set targets over a longer term period 

82 PODS (Parents Opening Doors)  COVID Family Experiences Report: September 2020  Evidence submitted to RHIC Call for Evidence, Sept 2020 

83 Parliament UK (2019)  Tackling inequalities faced by Gypsy, Roma and Traveller communities  https://publications parliament uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/
cmwomeq/360/report-files/36002 htm

84 Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (Jun 2020)  Traveller caravan count: January 2020  https://www gov uk/government/statistics/traveller-
caravan-count-january-2020

85 Parliament UK (2019)  Tackling inequalities faced by Gypsy, Roma and Traveller communities  https://publications parliament uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/
cmwomeq/360/report-files/36002 htm

86 Greenfields M, Brindley M (2016)   Impact of insecure accommodation and the living environment on Gypsies’ and Travellers’ health  A report by the Traveller 
Movement   https://assets publishing service gov uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/490846/NIHB_-_Gypsy_and_Traveller_health_
accs pdf

87 Friends, Families & Travellers (Mar 2020)  COVID-19: Guidance for supporting people living on Traveller sites, unauthorised encampments and canal boats  https://
www gypsy-traveller org/health/covid-19-guidance-for-supporting-people-living-on-traveller-sites-unauthorised-encampments-and-canal-boats/

88 The Fawcett Society (2020)  Gendered impact of the UK’s Government’s lifting of lockdown  Available from https://www fawcettsociety org uk/uk-govs-approach-
to-lifting-of-lockdown-women-and-girls-are-being-left-behind

89 Key findings of research by West Midlands Women’s Voice & The Fawcett Society, July 2020  https://www fawcettsociety org uk/news/new-data-shows-
coronavirus-impact-on-women-in-greater-manchester-and-west-midlands

90 PHE Guidance: Health matters: physical activity - prevention and management of long-term conditions, 23 January 2020  https://www gov uk/government/
publications/health-matters-physical-activity/health-matters-physical-activity-prevention-and-management-of-long-term-conditions

91 Ibbotson S, PHE Midlands & East of England  Public Health Matters: Preventing the Disease of Violence (Jul 2015)  https://publichealthmatters blog gov 
uk/2015/07/02/preventing-the-disease-of-violence/

92 The Guardian (12 Apr 2020) Revealed: surge in domestic violence during Covid-19 crisis  https://www theguardian com/society/2020/apr/12/domestic-violence-
surges-seven-hundred-per-cent-uk-coronavirus

93 Karen Ingala Smith (2020) Counting Dead Women  https://kareningalasmith com/counting-dead-women/

94 House of Commons Home Affairs Committee (April 2020) Home Office preparedness for Covid-19 (Coronavirus) domestic abuse and risks of harm within the 
home  https://publications parliament uk/pa/cm5801/cmselect/cmhaff/321/321 pdf

105

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 109

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-rough-sleeping/health-matters-rough-sleeping#the-physical-and-mental-health-needs-of-people-who-experience-rough-sleeping
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-rough-sleeping/health-matters-rough-sleeping#the-physical-and-mental-health-needs-of-people-who-experience-rough-sleeping
https://www.thelancet.com/journals/lanres/article/PIIS2213-2600(20)30396-9/fulltext
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/3933/wmca-covid-19-homelessness.pdf
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmwomeq/360/report-files/36002.htm
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201719/cmselect/cmwomeq/360/report-files/36002.htm
https://www.gypsy-traveller.org/health/covid-19-guidance-for-supporting-people-living-on-traveller-sites-unauthorised-encampments-and-canal-boats/
https://www.gypsy-traveller.org/health/covid-19-guidance-for-supporting-people-living-on-traveller-sites-unauthorised-encampments-and-canal-boats/
https://www.fawcettsociety.org.uk/uk-govs-approach-to-lifting-of-lockdown-women-and-girls-are-being-left-behind
https://www.fawcettsociety.org.uk/uk-govs-approach-to-lifting-of-lockdown-women-and-girls-are-being-left-behind
https://www.fawcettsociety.org.uk/news/new-data-shows-coronavirus-impact-on-women-in-greater-manchester-and-west-midlands
https://www.fawcettsociety.org.uk/news/new-data-shows-coronavirus-impact-on-women-in-greater-manchester-and-west-midlands
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-physical-activity/health-matters-physical-activity-prevention-and-management-of-long-term-conditions
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-matters-physical-activity/health-matters-physical-activity-prevention-and-management-of-long-term-conditions
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2015/07/02/preventing-the-disease-of-violence/
https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2015/07/02/preventing-the-disease-of-violence/
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2020/apr/12/domestic-violence-surges-seven-hundred-per-cent-uk-coronavirus
https://www.theguardian.com/society/2020/apr/12/domestic-violence-surges-seven-hundred-per-cent-uk-coronavirus
https://kareningalasmith.com/counting-dead-women/
https://publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm5801/cmselect/cmhaff/321/321.pdf


95 Home Office (Apr 2020)  Coronavirus (COVID-19): support for victims of modern slavery  https://www gov uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-
support-for-victims-of-modern-slavery/coronavirus-covid-19-support-for-victims-of-modern-slavery

96 Data from WMCA Equality Impact Assessment of the Coronavirus pandemic – focus on PSR

97 Watts G (2020)  COVID-19 and the digital divide in the UK  www thelancet com/digital-health Vol 2 August 2020

98 Data from WMCA Equality Impact Assessment of the Coronavirus pandemic – focus on PSR

99 PHE (2020)  Community-centred public health: Taking a whole system approach  https://assets publishing service gov uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/857029/WSA_Briefing pdf

100 Munro A (2020)  Coventry – A Marmot City: An evaluation of a city-wide approach to reducing health inequalities  http://www instituteofhealthequity org/
resources-reports/coventry-marmot-city-evaluation-2020/coventry-marmot-city-evaluation-2020 pdf

101 The King’s Fund (2013)  Health and Wellbeing boards: One Year On  Available from: https://www kingsfund org uk/publications/health-and-wellbeing-boards-one-
year-on

102 Munro A (2020)  Coventry – A Marmot City: An evaluation of a city-wide approach to reducing health inequalities  http://www instituteofhealthequity org/
resources-reports/coventry-marmot-city-evaluation-2020/coventry-marmot-city-evaluation-2020 pdf

103 Naik Y, Abbs I, Elwell-Sutton T (2020)  Using economic development to improve health and reduce health inequalities  Health Foundation  https://www health org 
uk/publications/reports/using-economic-development-to-improve-health-and-reduce-health-inequalities

104 WMCA (2020)  #WM2041: Actions to meet the climate crisis with inclusivity, prosperity and fairness  https://www wmca org uk/media/4008/wm2041-final-003 
pdf

105 PHE (2019)  Health inequalities: place-based approaches to reduce inequalities  Available from: https://www gov uk/government/publications/health-inequalities-
place-based-approaches-to-reduce-inequalities

106 Health Foundation  The NHS as an anchor institution  Available from: https://www health org uk/news-and-comment/charts-and-infographics/the-nhs-as-an-
anchor-institution

107 Legacy West Midlands (2020)  Show me the money… health inequalities  https://legacy-wm org/2020/07/01/show-me-the-money-health-inequalities/

108 https://wardendallotments org/news-features/features/diverse-garden-project/

109 http://redeemerbirmingham org uk/

110 https://www stgermains org uk/food

111 https://www dannykruger org uk/sites/www dannykruger org uk/files/2020-09/Kruger%202 0%20Levelling%20Up%20Our%20Communities pdf

112 Thematic analysis based on qualitative submissions from Aston University, Citizen’s UK Birmingham, Coventry Rape & Sexual Abuse Centre, Legacy WM, Nishkam 
Civic Association, Transport for West Midlands, West Bromwich African Caribbean Resource Centre - Impact on African Caribbean community

106

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 110

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-support-for-victims-of-modern-slavery/coronavirus-covid-19-support-for-victims-of-modern-slavery
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/coronavirus-covid-19-support-for-victims-of-modern-slavery/coronavirus-covid-19-support-for-victims-of-modern-slavery
http://www.thelancet.com/digital-health Vol 2 August 2020
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/857029/WSA_Briefing.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/857029/WSA_Briefing.pdf
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/coventry-marmot-city-evaluation-2020/coventry-marmot-city-evaluation-2020.pdf
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/coventry-marmot-city-evaluation-2020/coventry-marmot-city-evaluation-2020.pdf
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-and-wellbeing-boards-one-year-on
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-and-wellbeing-boards-one-year-on
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/coventry-marmot-city-evaluation-2020/coventry-marmot-city-evaluation-2020.pdf
http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/coventry-marmot-city-evaluation-2020/coventry-marmot-city-evaluation-2020.pdf
https://www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/using-economic-development-to-improve-health-and-reduce-health-inequalities
https://www.health.org.uk/publications/reports/using-economic-development-to-improve-health-and-reduce-health-inequalities
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/4008/wm2041-final-003.pdf
https://www.wmca.org.uk/media/4008/wm2041-final-003.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-inequalities-place-based-approaches-to-reduce-inequalities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-inequalities-place-based-approaches-to-reduce-inequalities
https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/charts-and-infographics/the-nhs-as-an-anchor-institution
https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/charts-and-infographics/the-nhs-as-an-anchor-institution
https://legacy-wm.org/2020/07/01/show-me-the-money-health-inequalities/
https://wardendallotments.org/news-features/features/diverse-garden-project/
http://redeemerbirmingham.org.uk/
https://www.stgermains.org.uk/food
https://www.dannykruger.org.uk/sites/www.dannykruger.org.uk/files/2020-09/Kruger%202.0%20Levelling%20Up%20Our%20Communities.pdf


Appendix 1 

Call for Evidence Submissions

Name of evidence Name of organisation Abstract

Ethnicity and risk 
of death in patients 
hospitalised for

University Hospitals 
Birmingham NHS 
Foundation Trust

Quantitative study exploring whether ethnic groups more at risk of worse outcomes from COVID-19 
infection, including death? 

Conclusions: There were more admissions from South Asian patients to our hospital than would be 
expected based on our local population  These patients were admitted with a worse severity of COVID19 
related respiratory compromise without a significant delay in presentation and experience a higher level of 
mortality even when differences in age, sex, deprivation and key comorbidities were taken into account  

South Asian ethnicity may form another ‘at risk’ population from COVID-19 and further studies are 
needed to identify any treatable factors to improve outcomes as well as to refine our understanding and 
communication around non-modifiable risk factors

West Midlands Inquiry 
into COVID-19 Fatalities 
in BAME communities

Labour Party – West 
Midlands

West Midlands Inquiry into COVID-19 Fatalities in BAME communities report included:

• Gathering testimony

• statistics 

• recommendations

Cabinet report - reset 
and recovery

Children’s Services 
Sandwell Metropolitan 
Borough Council

Evidence explored the Covid Impact Assessment on the following activities:

• community impact

• economy impact

• staff impact

107

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 111



Comments from CCG 
on updated ways of 
working with staff and 
communities

Birmingham & Solihull 
CCG

Comments from CCG on updated ways of working with staff and communities included for example: 

• Establishing a Health Inequalities Task Group, which has set out priorities for action in the next 1-2 
years  This includes using our roles as ‘anchor institutions’ to create economic prosperity and to support 
our staff 

CCG Health Impact 
Assessment

Warwickshire County 
Council, Coventry City 
Council, NHS CCGs

The aim of the HIA was to identify key factors that may affect the population’s health and wellbeing as a 
direct result of the COVID-19 outbreak  Key findings included:

• An integrated recovery is needed as health and wellbeing has been deeply impacted on  The 
implication is that recovery cannot just be contained to one sector and has to be connected across all 
four to have the biggest chance of success  

• The double impact: harm from COVID-19 has been unequally distributed across the wider impacts from 
the pandemic and lockdown will fall more heavily on communities most directly affected by the disease 
itself  This analysis shows the potential harm for more deprived areas of Coventry and Warwickshire

West Midlands 
Language and 
communication service 
needs assessment 
report

Health Protection Team - 
PHE West Midlands

Report included the following:

• Descriptive study that aimed to provide a picture of the language and communication need within the 
health protection response in PHE WM  

• Commissioning processes used by other PHE Health Protection teams for language and 
communications services

Report on the 
experiences of families 
who have a child with a 
disability or additional 
need

Parents Opening Doors 
Charity

Report on the experiences of families who have a child with a disability or additional need included the 
following:

• survey of members of the group- parent carers forum for disabled children 

• emotional health and mental health was a big factor  

• furlough was a worry 

• cancelled appointments

• parents feel abandoned 

• Some didn’t get shielding letter and local authorities slow to react 

• Recommended to ensure CCG commissioning changes are communicated effectively  

108

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 112



Update on the research 
BVSC is undertaking

BVSC Update on the research BVSC is undertaking included:

• WMCA Social Economy Rapid Evidence Review – being delivered in partnership with University of 
Wolverhampton and University of Coventry, to draw out key innovations from the social economy 
during Covid19 

• NNS Impact Assessment – Over-arching impact assessment of the NNS structure, commissioned by 
Birmingham City Council  

• Birmingham City University – Research into the response from the sector to Covid19 and what this 
means for BCU as an anchor organisation, focussing particularly on emergence of Mutual Aid Groups – 

• Violence Reduction Unit Evaluation – Ongoing piece being delivered in partnership with UOB, UOW and 
Community Researchers; early evaluation has reflected on the impact of Covid19  

Key points from report 
on Local Authority 
Responses to people 
with no recourse to 
public funds during the 
pandemic

University of 
Wolverhampton

Key points from report on Local Authority Responses to people with no recourse to public funds (NRPF) 
during the pandemic included:

• There was a lack of information available for people with NRPF

• Numbers of service users with NRPF who had COVID-19 symptoms were relatively small, but those who 
did have symptoms were particularly likely to die or become seriously ill

• People with NRPF struggled to access food, shelter and subsistence support during the pandemic

Impact upon people 
who have experienced 
rape or other sexual 
abuse

Coventry Rape & Sexual 
Abuse Centre

Impact upon people who have experienced rape or other sexual abuse included:

• more isolated / locked in with perpetrator

• heightened anxiety

• lack of access to first responders who refer at risk people to service

• challenges with online / telephone service

• waiting time for service significantly increased 

• exacerbated existing inequalities faced by clients e g  lack of access to financial services

• short term funding from COVID specific funds is ineffective for increasing staffing levels

• control measures limiting service capacity

109

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 113



Comments on the 
disproportionate 
impact of COVID-19 on 
BAME communities

Sikh Doctors Association Comments on the causes of disproportionate impact of COVID-19 on BAME communities included:

1 Deprivation and poverty 
2 Discrimination and systemic racism 
3 Cultural variations in disease prevention and understanding 
4 Over exposure to high Covid areas, such as front-line work in the NHS, care homes, cleaners in the 

hospitality sector 

Comments setting out 
the programme being 
undertaken by the 
Group

Black Country and West 
Birmingham CCGs Wider 
Determinants Programme 
Advisory Group

Comments setting out the programme being undertaken by the Group included:

• System report to be published looking at the system’s response to COVID-19 and lessons learnt  

• Phase 1 programme looking at wider determinants of health 

• Phase 2 programme focusing on designing, appraising, implementing and evaluating interventions 

Report on Impact 
of COVID-19 on 
Inequalities

Solihull Metropolitan 
Borough Council

The report brings together the existing national evidence and analyses the probable impact on different 
groups  The Council is in the process of developing a targeted Health Inequalities Strategy

Blog on the 
contribution to new 
ways of approaching 
inter-faith and business 
support through 
community organising 
as a result of the 
pandemic

Citizens UK Birmingham Blog included findings on concerns felt by BAME communities including hate crime, disproportionate 
impact on their communities and faith and income

Report on Regional 
Health Impacts of 
Covid-19

Transport for West 
Midlands

The report focused on the Regional Health Impacts of Covid-19, and the role of public transport and active 
travel in this, especially concerning continued access to health care and TfWM role in keeping the region 
staying active and healthy  Evidence also included the following:

• Public opinion survey results

• WMCA Board report on the Review of the West Midlands Local Transport Plan (LTP) to support a 
Greener, Fairer, Healthier Recovery 

• Equality impact Assessment on the transport needs of vulnerable groups during the pandemic

110

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 114



Parliamentary evidence 
on the disproportionate 
impact of COVID 19, 
and the UK government 
response, on ethnic 
minorities and women 
in the UK

Department of Sociology 
and Policy, Aston 
University

Key findings from evidence included the following:

Ethnic minority people:

• Scarcity and unreliability of PPE sources for frontline staff/key workers disproportionately puts people 
from ethnic minority backgrounds at higher risk of infection 

Women:

• lack of access to contraception means and abortion 

• maternity services - some of them are/ were not available

 Care during labour:

• partners are not allowed to be present during labour to support, especially when baby needs care, or 
woman need help communicating in English

Women asylum seekers:

• can’t use remote services due to limited English language  No interpreters available

• reduced access to charity services

Blog on health 
inequalities

Legacy West Midlands Comments from the charity included: 

• The impact of Covid 19 has had a devastating impact in Lozellls and the neighbouring areas  

• There has been a limited response from public sector agencies but Birmingham Director of Public 
Health has held zoom meetings with members of the Bangladeshi Community

111

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 115



The role of faith 
communities

Nishkam Civic 
Association

Comments from Nishkam Civic Association included: 

• essential role of communities, particularly faith, in COVID response and this must not be forgotten

• need to develop policy setting / community engagement process for decisions making 

• we cannot expect communities to self-finance and leave them to their own devices

Taraki COVID Report – Executive Summary and full report (Mental Health / Wellbeing) can be accessed 
here: https://tinyurl com/yykk6x6j

COVID 19 – Response and support initiatives by Nishkam Organisations can be accessed here: 

https://www taraki co uk/covid19-research 

Following evidence provided:

• Covid Crisis Reflections - Bhai Sahib Mohinder Singh OBE KSG, Chairman Nishkam Civic Association 

• How Covid-19 has impacted the Sikh Community – Sikh network 

• Sikh Network Covid19 Survey Report 

• Taraki COVID Report – Executive Summary and full report (Mental Health / Wellbeing)

• Birmingham Council of Faiths role during COVID-19 and its impact

• case studies on how Faith Communities Stepped up in the Pandemic 

• Birmingham Scouts and Guides activities

• COVID 19 – Response and support initiatives by Nishkam Organisations

• Examples of Muslim and Christian organisations in Birmingham (x 7)

Key activities from the 
Council

Coventry Council Key activities from the Council included:

• Call to Action to address health inequalities has been agreed by the Coventry Health and Wellbeing 
Board

• Reset and Recovery approach, which includes specific external programmes on Regeneration and The 
Economy; Tackling Inequalities; and Communities and New Social Enterprises  The aim is for health 
inequalities to be embedded into all of these pillars, using One Coventry values (working together and 
involving the right people)

112

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 116

https://tinyurl.com/yykk6x6j
https://www.taraki.co.uk/covid19-research


Reports on COVID-19 
activity impact

Birmingham City Council Evidence included the following:

• An overview of activity to mitigate the impacts of COVID-19 on BAME communities

• Combined presentation: (1) scale of the food offer for shielded and vulnerable people in Birmingham 
(April 2020) and (2) insight from TAWS (May 2020)

• An overview of the impact of COVID-19 across the life course

• Neighbourhood Development Support Unit commissioned report – “Birmingham’s Collaborative 
Neighbourhoods” by Locality

• Executive Business Report – an update on BCC’s response to COVID-19

Range of evidence 
provided, including 
responses to the call 
for evidence questions, 
case studies, report and 
infographic

Dudley Metropolitan 
Borough Council

Evidence included the following:

• case studies on engagement exercises with the BAME and other communities

• Health & Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committee report on the council’s and partners response to Covid 

• infographic of the support the council has provided to residents and businesses 

Comments on the 
impact of COVID-19 
and activities of CCG 

West Bromwich African 
Caribbean Resource 
Centre

Comments on the impact of COVID-19 and activities of CCG included the following:

• online workshops held by CCG with report to be published 

• recommended for CCGs to carry out Equality Impact Assessments 

• The charity redesigned its services to support the community during first wave and flagged lack of 
funding to increase offer especially for second wave  

Research supporting 
the improvement of air 
quality, and associated 
health, environmental 
and economic benefits, 
across the West 
Midlands

The West Midlands Air 
Quality Improvement 
Programme

Research on rapid analysis of the impacts of COVID-19 related emergency public health measures (March 
– May 2020) upon nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and particulate matter (PM) levels in Birmingham City  

Key Findings: 

• Reductions in NO2 concentrations associated with COVID-19 were of greatest magnitude for those 
living at the inner city and near-roadside locations, including areas of high deprivation  

• Changes were less marked in the north-east of the city; the location of more affluent (upper income 
quintile) LSOA areas  Further (ongoing) research is required to better characterise these impacts upon 
different ethnic groups, including linkage to health outcome measures 

Comments on key 
activities during 
COVID-19

Birmingham Mind Key activities during COVID-19 included the following:

• Working with BAME communities and finding increased anxiety, mistrust and language barriers

• Community Development Worker Service re-engaged with communities and supporting remotely and 
have been working with CCG to deliver key messages to communities 

113

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 117



Appendix 2 

Thematic analysis of qualitative evidence submitted 
to RHIC Call for Evidence, Sept 2020

In addition to reports and quantitative data from formal 
engagement exercises or research, a number of local partners 
and stakeholders submitted qualitiative responses to the call 
for evidence  These included civic, academic and voluntary 
& community sector organisations,112 reflecting insights from 
community engagement as part of their regular practice 

A thematic analysis was carried out to identify key themes relating 
to experiences of COVID-19 and its impact on communities, and 
the challenges, barriers and support needs identified in improving 
accessibility  This is summarised in Table A 

114

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 118



Table A: Thematic analysis of qualitative evidence submitted

Experiences of COVID-19 and impact on communities

Theme 1: Exacerbation of existing inequalities

Exacerbation of existing health and social inequalities was a consistent theme, with responses identifying impacts relating to 
people (i e  protected and marginalised groups), and places (i e  wider determinants of health)  

1 1 Impact on protected and marginalised groups

BAME communities, women, asylum seekers and rough 
sleepers (including those with substance use issues) were 
highlighted as key groups affected by both long-standing 
inequalities and COVID-19  Impacts cited included those 
on mental health and wellbeing (e g  through anxiety and 
bereavement due to COVID-19) and not just the physical 
consequences of infection  This sub-theme intersects across 
other thematic areas, with these groups identified as being 
disproportionately affected by the health and economic 
impacts of control measures  Underlying health conditions were 
also cited as a factor in existing and exacerbated inequalities 

1 2 Wider determinants of health

This sub-theme is divided into impacts of wider determinants 
on individuals and communities, and impacts on environments 
and places  The former highlights the two-way relationship 
between COVID-19 and health inequalities: while the 
disproportionate effects on people living in deprived areas 
and the increased risk of transmission in certain sectors 
are recognised, impacts on wider determinants are also 
cited as consequences of the pandemic (e g  increasing 
homelessness)  However, a number of positive environmental 
impacts were also identified, namely improved air quality, 
reduced carbon emissions and reduced noise  A reduction in 
road traffic accidents was also noted 

115

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 119



Table A: Thematic analysis of qualitative evidence submitted continued

Theme 2: Impacts of control measures

This theme relates specifically to the impact of measures taken to control the spread of COVID-19 rather than the effects of 
the virus itself  These are split broadly into impacts on health and wellbeing, and those on the economy – however, the two are 
closely linked and intersect with the exacerbation of existing inequalities 

2 1 Health and wellbeing impacts

Health and wellbeing impacts cover direct and indirect 
impacts on mental health and wellbeing, as well as 
psychological and social impacts  These included isolation 
and loneliness through lockdown and shielding; anxiety, 
frustration and bereavement; uncertainty around employment 
or immigration status; and the impact of loss of income  
Disproportionate impacts on BAME communities and asylum 
seekers/refugees were again emphasised, e g  women asylum 
seekers reported an exacerbation in loneliness  

2 2  Economic impacts

This subtheme concerns the impact on the economy and 
employment sectors as well as on individuals and families  
Small businesses and the faith sector were highlighted as 
bearing major impacts of loss of income – particularly small 
businesses that did not operate online and were therefore 
unaware of or unable to access Government funding, or where 
employment type was not covered by the furlough scheme 

116

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 120



Table A: Thematic analysis of qualitative evidence submitted continued

Theme 3: Culture and behaviour  

While this theme overlaps with other thematic areas, it was clearly a theme in its own right, with two distinct sub-themes: 
the general shifts in culture and behaviour that have occurred as a result of the pandemic and control measures (linking with 
Theme 2), and where specific cultural characteristics have interacted with these measures to impact disproportionately on 
certain groups (linking with Theme 1) 

3 1 Shifts in culture and behaviour

This subtheme was predominantly concerned with changes 
in transport use and physical activity – specifically, decreases 
in transport use and increases in walking and cycling, which 
relates to the environmental impacts noted in 2

3 2 Relationship between culture and COVID-19 impacts

This sub-theme included increased risks presented by culture-
specific behaviours (e g  increased risk of transmission due 
to cohabitation with elders; traditional Bangladeshi diet 
increasing risks of obesity) and the impacts on way of life (e g  
enforced restrictions on places of worship that are central to 
way of life, such as Sikh Gurdwaras  However, an increased 
appreciation of the role of faith and faith communities was 
also noted, suggesting that culture may play a protective role 
in maintaining wellbeing during the crisis (see 2 1) 

117

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 121



Table A: Thematic analysis of qualitative evidence submitted continued

Theme 4: Safety

This is again a theme that overlaps across a number of areas, but was prominent enough to be a theme in itself   The theme is 
divided into concerns relating to the risk of infection, and those relating to unintended consequences of lockdown (see Theme 3) 

4 1 Fear of infection

Direct concerns about infection risk focused mainly on a lack 
of confidence in social distancing measures, either because it 
was felt other people were not respecting these measures, or 
because circumstances and/or environments made it difficult 
to follow guidance, e g  using public transport, attending 
school, or using narrow high streets)  Women asylum 
seekers reported feeling unsafe in their accommodation as 
other residents were not respecting self-isolation and social 
distance rules 

4 2 Unintended consequences of lockdown

Concerns around indirect impacts on safety included victims 
of domestic violence being isolated with their abusers, and 
reduced access to services (see Theme 5)  

118

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 122



Table A: Thematic analysis of qualitative evidence submitted continued

Challenges, barriers and needs

Theme 5: Access to services

Access to services was a prominent theme in responses relating to community challenges, barriers and needs during the 
pandemic, with the disproportionate impacts on BAME and marginalised groups evident in both subthemes: the availability and 
distribution of health and care resources, and experiences of these services 

5 1 Availability and distribution of resources

This sub-theme picked up issues around accessing specific 
services and/or resources, and wider issues around recovery 
funding  Reduced capacity and contact was noted both generally 
(e g  lack of access to first responders and GP appointments; 
increased waiting times) and in relation to issues affecting 
specific groups (e g  women’s reproductive health & care 
including lack of access to contraception, abortion & maternity 
care)  Scarcity and unreliability of PPE sources for frontline 
staff/key workers was a key concern in relation to increasing 
risk among BAME workers (see Theme 1)  A lack of funding 
and staffing overall was highlighted, as well as inequitable 
distribution of these resources: white-led organisations and 
a lack of trust established in local communities were cited 
as reasons why residents from BAME communities were not 
benefitting from available funding in some areas 

5 2 Experiences of care

Overall, this sub-theme reflects poorer experiences of care 
for people from BAME groups and women, linking to the 
disproportionate impacts on these groups outlined in Theme 
1 1  Language barriers and challenges with using online or 
telephone services were cited as a key issue, particularly 
for women asylum seekers who were unable to use remote 
services with no interpreters available  Women who were 
alone while giving birth were cited as particularly vulnerable, 
particularly where their babies required special care or they 
had interpretation needs 

119

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 123



Table A: Thematic analysis of qualitative evidence submitted continued

Theme 6  Stigma and trust

In addition to the practical barriers identified in 5 1, which 
related predominantly to service provision not being 
appropriate to community needs, there were also factors 
which made people unwilling to seek help  Stigma around 
help-seeking was identified as being a particular issue in 
refugee and migrant communities; there was also a lack of 
trust in services and the government, with misinformation and 
a lack of clarity cited as an issue 

120

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 124



Table A: Thematic analysis of qualitative evidence submitted continued

Theme 7: Information

This theme relates to information provided to individuals and communities during the pandemic, and information gathered by 
health and other public services 

7 1 Communication and messaging

Uncertainty and inadequate communication was a key 
concern among service users and communities, both 
generally around risk (e g  why BAME communities are more 
affected) and specifically within services (see 5 3)  This sub-
theme is strongly linked to lack of trust (Theme 6) 

7 2 Lack of data and visibility

The lack of data on ethnicity and faith was highlighted as a 
general concern  However, even where data are available, the 
categories are broad and some communities are consistently 
‘invisible’ (e g  the Sikh community) 

121

Health of the Region 2020

P
age 125



P
age 126



Health of the 
Region 2020
Addressing health and wellbeing inequalities and 
the impacts of COVID-19 in the West Midlands

Executive Summary

Page 127



Executive Summary

The Health of the Region 2020 report presents 
a comprehensive analysis of the health of the 
West Midlands population. In particular, it 
highlights national and regional evidence of the 
impacts of the coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic 
which shows that long-standing inequalities in 
physical and mental health have widened as a 
consequence of the pandemic, both through 
direct effects of the virus, and through indirect 
effects of the control measures taken – and 
particularly among our Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic (BAME) communities.

2

Health of the Region 2020 Page 128



The report shows that:

• We must begin with the urgent task 
of improving outcomes for BAME 
communities. Targeted and immediate 
action to tackle structural racism is an 
urgent and immediate priority.

• But lasting change will only happen 
when we take a systemic approach 
to tackling the wider determinants of 
health and dealing with the structural 
inequalities we find in our economy, 
housing market, education, justice and 
transport systems.

• Similarly, we must tackle inequalities in 
the health and care system and widen 
access to health and care services. This 
requires a fundamental rebalancing 
of funding and focus on primary and 
preventative care.

• These challenges, in turn, will create 
the conditions in which people-powered 
health can flourish and healthy lifestyles 
can become the norm.

3

Health of the Region 2020Page 129



Health inequalities in the 
West Midlands:

• Even prior to the pandemic, there 
were entrenched and persisting health 
inequalities in our region. On average 
people in the WMCA have a shorter life 
expectancy than England overall, and 
spend more of their lives in poor health. 
Women in the WMCA live for 82.2 years 
on average (England 83.2) and spend 22 
years in poor health; men live for 78.0 
years on average (England 79.6) and 
spend 18 years in poor health.

• This is due largely to above national 
average rates of premature deaths from 
preventable causes (cardiovascular 
disease, cancer, liver disease and 
respiratory disease) as well as higher 
infant mortality rates. These correspond 
to higher rates of problem drinking, 
obesity (child and adult) and physical 
inactivity as well as lower cancer 
screening cover.

• Premature deaths from preventable 
causes in turn correspond to wider 
determinants of health, or the ‘causes 
of the causes’. Most areas in the WMCA 
have a greater level of socioeconomic 
deprivation than the national average, 
with approximately a quarter of children 
living in low income households.  Gross 
Disposal Household Income (GDHI) per 
person in 2017 was £16,479 compared 
with £19,514 in the UK as a whole.

• The lives of many people in the WMCA 
are hard, and unhealthy behaviours are 
often coping mechanisms for people 
who live in challenging circumstances, 
or reflect the limitations of the 
environments they live in. Often people 
want to make positive changes to 
improve their health, such as being 
more active or giving up smoking, but 
are not supported to do so and feel 
powerless to make positive change.

4

Health of the Region 2020 Page 130



The impact of Covid-19 in the West 
Midlands

• In line with national findings, the 
pandemic has exposed and exacerbated 
existing health inequalities. The WMCA 
has a higher rate of cases overall than 
the region as a whole, with Birmingham 
and Sandwell most affected; rates 
are also high in Solihull, Walsall and 
Wolverhampton. The highest rates of 
COVID-19 related deaths are in more 
deprived areas, and areas with a greater 
proportion of residents from BAME 
communities.

• Lockdown and social distancing 
measures have had direct impacts on 
wellbeing and on health behaviours. 
Anxiety has increased significantly in 
the West Midlands region, with almost 
half of people surveyed (47.9%) reporting 
high levels of anxiety compared to a 2019 
average of 21.9%.  On average, people 
reporting feeling ‘often lonely’ ranged 
from 4.9% to 6.5% over this period; and 
was generally higher for younger people.

• Although the pathways are complex 
and multi-faceted, the fundamental link 
between health and wealth is still clear. 
Ultimately, where people are already 
marginalised and excluded, they are 
likely to be left further behind as we 
respond to and recover from COVID-19 
unless we actively work to address 
this. Engagement with stakeholders 
has consistently highlighted the need 
to address structural racism and 
discrimination, which interacts with 
social and economic determinants of 
health across the whole system.

5

Health of the Region 2020Page 131



A ‘radical prevention’ approach

• In order to address the immediate and 
emerging health impacts of Covid-19 
and take steps towards a happier and 
healthier population, more resilient to 
future pandemics, we need to adopt a 
‘radical prevention’ approach.

• Radical prevention means taking 
action as a whole system to tackle the 
underlying causes of poor health and 
health inequalities (the ‘causes of the 
causes’) and shifting to more person 
and community-centred approaches to 
health and wellbeing. Early intervention 
and prevention in the early years can 
have lifelong impact, as well as yielding 
significant return on investment.

• Radical prevention also involves 
demanding more inclusive economic 
growth which can reduce health 
inequalities. This can be done through 
improving access to employment, 
raising income, increasing community 
safety, improving housing quality and 
affordability, raising aspirations and 
improving educational outcomes, 
providing a high quality local 
environment and green space, 
enhancing social relationships and 
connectedness, and increasing 
opportunities for participation.

Commitments to action and 
recommendations

We have identified 4 key challenges arising 
from this work and for each of these 
challenges, the WMCA and its partners 
have made over 50 commitments to action 
and set out a series of 12 recommendations 
to government. These are summarised in 
the tables on the following two pages.

• Challenge 1: Improving outcomes for 
BAME communities

• Challenge 2: Tackling the wider 
determinants of health

• Challenge 3: Widening access to health 
and care

• Challenge 4: People-powered health

6

Health of the Region 2020 Page 132



Challenge 1: Improving outcomes for BAME communities

Selected Commitments to Action 
(complete list in full report)

• PHE West Midlands will develop a BAME 
and Disparities workplan

• Birmingham and Solihull STP will routinely 
produce data with detailed analysis of 
factors including ethnicity and deprivation

• WMCA will develop a targeted Thrive 
mental health programme co-designed 
with BAME employers and employees

Recommendations to government

• Government should produce a clear and 
comprehensive action plan setting out how 
it will work with local and regional partners 
to take action on race disparities and 
associated risk factors.

• Government should commission further 
data, research and analytical work at the 
local and regional level to understand the 
geographical and place dimensions of race 
disparities in health.

Challenge 2: Tackling the wider determinants of health

Selected Commitments to Action 
(complete list in full report)

• WMCA will work with partners to become 
a Marmot City-Region and develop a 3-year 
action plan for change.

• The new multi-agency Midlands System 
Transformation Recovery (STaR) Board, 
working with PHE WM, will establish a Health 
Inequalities Working Group which will:

• support Integrated Care Systems to plan 
and be held accountable for addressing 
health inequalities within the populations 
they serve;

• provide standards, guidance and 
tools to ensure health inequalities are 
considered in the design and evaluation 
of new NHS services.

Recommendations to government

• The NHS should make local action on 
tackling health inequalities the focus of the 
NHS ‘Phase 4 Letter’ on Covid19.

• Government should make health and 
wellbeing outcomes a key driver of 
economic development and levelling-up 
policies including industrial strategy and 
local industrial strategies; the UK Shared 
Prosperity Fund; Towns Fund; and future 
devolution deals.

• Government should double the proportion 
of health and social care spending focused 
on prevention and public health from 5 to 10 
percent over time.

7

Health of the Region 2020Page 133



Challenge 3: Widening access to health and care

Selected Commitments to Action 
(complete list in full report)

• Black Country and West Birmingham CCG will 
develop an Academy to provide population 
health management capacity to the system. It 
is developing a number of population health 
management projects that will widen access 
to health and care including early diagnosis of 
cancer in vulnerable groups.

• Birmingham and Solihull STP will develop 
population health management within 
Primary Care Networks (PCNs) and ensure 
its primary care estate is under one digital 
domain by March 2021 promoting digitally 
enabled care for staff to work together in 
virtual multi-disciplinary teams.

• University Hospitals Birmingham will use 
digital transformation to reduce health 
inequalities by enabling people to access 
healthcare and information in a more 
accessible way, including creating community 
diagnostic hubs in local neighbourhoods.

Recommendations to government

• Government should ensure that Local 
Authorities have sufficient powers to 
improve public health and reduce health 
inequalities, with Mayoral Combined 
Authorities providing support where they 
can add value.

• Government should support the WMCA’s 
proposal to establish digital screening hubs 
in high footfall transport locations.

• Government must close the gap in primary 
care provision between the most and 
least deprived neighbourhoods in terms of 
funding per patient and serving GPs.

• Government must widen its plans and 
increase its investment to tackle digital 
poverty with a particular focus on those 
who do not access health and care services 
online.

Challenge 4: People-powered health

Selected Commitments to Action 
(complete list in full report)

• WMCA is committed to increase cycling from 
3% to 5% of mode share by 2023 through 
the delivery of the WM Cycling Charter and 
extending cycling and walking routes. 

• WMCA will work with other 
Commonwealth Games Delivery Partners 
to develop a long lasting physical activity 
and wellbeing legacy for the region.

• Black Country & West Birmingham 
CCG PCNs will have recruited 63 
social prescribing link workers, 38 care 
coordinators and 12 Health and Wellbeing 
Coaches by March 2021 and plan to recruit 
more than 200 posts by March 2024.

• The Walsall for All Board will raise public 
awareness about the support available to 
improve mental and physical wellbeing 
through the Walsall Together partnership.

Recommendations to government

• Government should invest in the WMCA’s 
Radical Health Prevention Fund to drive 
forward innovation, social prescribing 
and other initiatives to tackle health 
inequalities in the region

• Government should pilot the Kruger 
report’s Community Right to Serve 
provisions for health and social care in the 
West Midlands.

8

Health of the Region 2020 Page 134



Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



1
2
3

4

Health of the Region 
Report (2020) Summary

The WMCA is committed to:

Develop a targeted Thrive mental health programme 
co-designed with BAME employers and employees

Work with partners to become a Marmot City-Region 
and develop a 3-year action plan for change.

Train and support healthcare professionals to refer disabled 
citizens to physical activity as part of its IncludeMe initiative. 

Standardising inclusion of social value in our single 
commissioning framework to include Wellbeing and 
work together to maximise and measure outputs in the 
communities that we work in.

Partners are committed to: 

The new multi-agency Midlands System Transformation 
Recovery Board will carry out an evaluation of regional NHS 
programmes through a Black Lives Matter and post-COVID lens.

Sandwell and West Birmingham NHS Trust are committed to 
deploying a minimum of 2% of its future annual budget with local 
suppliers and to paying all staff at or above the ‘living wage’.

Black Country and West Birmingham CCG will develop 
population health management capacity to widen access 
including early diagnosis of cancer in vulnerable groups.

Black Country Consortium is supporting a social prescribing 
campaign, supporting prevention and community resilience; 
and supporting a whole system approach to reducing 
childhood obesity.

Recommendations to Government:

To produce a clear and comprehensive action plan setting out 
how it will work with local and regional partners to take action 
on race disparities and associated risk factors.

To double the proportion of health and social care spending 
focused on prevention and public health from 5 to 10 percent 
over time

To do all it can to close the gap in primary care provision 
between the most and least deprived neighbourhoods in terms 
of funding per patient and serving GPs.

To invest in the WMCA’s Radical Health Prevention Fund to drive 
forward innovation, social prescribing and other initiatives to 
tackle health inequalities in the region.

P
age 137



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 
NHS England and NHS Improvement 

Addressing health inequalities in the 
Midlands 
 

The Midlands Health Inequalities Group is a working group of the Midlands 
Strategic Transformation and Recovery (STaR) Board that aims to support the 
development of strategies that focus on reducing and preventing inequalities 
by informing high impact, evidence-based plans tailored to the needs and 
challenges within each area. 
 
The Health Inequalities Group’s guiding principles 

• Improving health inequalities and workforce inequalities is mainstream 
activity that is core to and not peripheral to the work of the NHS 
 

• Interventions to address inequalities must be evidence-based with 
meaningful prospects for measurable success 

 
The Working Group is developing a toolkit of products that make it easier to share 
and adopt others’ learnings and inspire your organisation’s work to address health 
inequalities in your area. This toolkit of products will include an inequalities 
dashboard and case studies that share new approaches and others’ success stories. 
 
The first phase of work is complete and the following products are contained in this 
document:   

1. an accountability framework that defines set of common policies for 
accountability arrangements within each STP/ICS. 

2. a series of best practice standards for creating robust inequalities plans 
3. the roles and responsibilities for system stakeholders in developing and 

delivering systems’ inequalities programmes, as well as defining the role of 
partners within this work 

4. a Charter for health inequalities (template for an STP/ICS agreement amongst 
partners to work together to tackle health inequalities) 

5. best practice case studies and leadership stories are also included [Drafting 
note: to be included as part of finalising] 
 

 

Page 139

Agenda Item 7



 

 
NHS England and NHS Improvement 

Contents 
Section 1: Health Inequalities Accountability Framework ....................................................................... 3 

Introduction .......................................................................................................................................... 3 

Why is a Health Inequalities accountability framework required? ................................................... 3 

What is meant by a Health Inequalities accountability framework? ................................................ 3 

Context: Integrated Care Systems ...................................................................................................... 4 

Developing ICS capability to address Health Inequalities ................................................................... 4 

HI accountability arrangements within ICS .......................................................................................... 6 

Scope of Health Inequalities accountability framework ................................................................... 6 

Oversight and governance ............................................................................................................... 7 

Leadership and management arrangements within systems .......................................................... 9 

Planning, implementation and monitoring within systems ............................................................. 10 

Section 2: Tackling inequalities in Health Outcomes - System Inequalities Plans: Standards ............. 12 

1. Introduction ................................................................................................................................ 12 

2. Measurement systems .............................................................................................................. 13 

3. Standards .................................................................................................................................. 13 

4. Responsibilities of key partners in the context of Inequalities .................................................. 16 

5. Conclusion ................................................................................................................................. 18 

Section 3: OUR COMMITMENT TO TACKLING THE CAUSES OF INEQUALITIES .......................... 19 

Annex A: Core competences of leaders in tackling health inequalities ................................................ 21 

 

 
 

Page 140



 

 
NHS England and NHS Improvement 

Section 1: Health Inequalities Accountability Framework 
 

Introduction 
 

Why is a Health Inequalities accountability framework required? 
 

• Tackling health inequalities requires action and intervention across multiple 
partners which creates complexity for delivery but also for ensuring clear and 
effective lines of accountability, and responsibility, across partners and which 
transcend organisational sovereignty.  

• There is further inherent complexity as many of the most meaningful outcome 
measures change over a longer-term time period (eg: life expectancy, healthy life 
expectancy) and it is, therefore, challenging to determine whether progress is 
being made through an annual planning and performance cycle. 

• What is already in place (statutory duties, a moral imperative etc) has not 
enabled Health Inequalities to be at the core of current democratic and regulatory 
mechanisms within systems. 

• There is a window of opportunity post-COVID and with the establishment of ICSs 
to develop new ways of working to ensure local actions deliver for local citizens.   

• It is clear that systems (ICS) need to have effective and practical 
arrangements to connect partners together across a broad programme of 
work, create cohesion, make progress and hold delivery partners to 
account. 

 

What is meant by a Health Inequalities accountability framework? 
 

• Development of a framework and set of common policies for establishing, 
implementing, and monitoring plans to address health inequalities within 
each system across the Midlands. 

• This should enable open and transparent accountability arrangements within the 
system, as well as a clear line of sight to regulatory or oversight bodies. 

• The framework should enable a local consensus around: 
• What outcomes need to be achieved 
• How success will be measured (both long-term outcomes and short-term 

proxy measures) 
• The actions and contributions from each partner (based on a shared 

concept of the ‘model of health’) 
• When outputs and outcomes will be delivered 
• How feedback and decision-making will take place 
• Consistent and integrated reporting, assurance and support mechanisms 

• Taking into account existing democratic arrangements, role of Health and Well-
Being boards and the statutory responsibilities of partners, but within the ICS 
context and covering system, place and neighbourhood. 

 

Page 141



 

 
NHS England and NHS Improvement 

Context: Integrated Care Systems 
 

1. The development of Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) since 2018 has enabled 
NHS organisations, local councils, frontline professionals and others to join forces 
to plan and provide around residents’ needs as locally as possible. They have 
improved health, developed better and more seamless services and ensured 
public resources are used where they can have the greatest impact. 

2. Legislative proposals are expected to result in ICS’s having a statutory basis in 
future; although the collaboration with non-NHS partners is expected to continue 
to be on an alliance or partnership basis. 

3. In particular, current proposals comprise:  

• Stronger partnerships in local places between the NHS, local government and 
others with a more central role for primary care in providing joined-up care;  

• Provider organisations being asked to step forward in formal collaborative 
arrangements that allow them to operate at scale; and  

• Developing strategic commissioning through systems with a focus on population 
health outcomes. 

4. There are options for giving ICSs a firmer footing in legislation, which sit 
alongside other recommendations aimed at removing legislative barriers to 
integration across health bodies and with social care, to help deliver better care 
and outcomes for patients through collaboration, and to join up national 
leadership more formally. 

 

Developing ICS capability to address Health Inequalities 
 

5. National policy outlines expectations of minimum requirements which systems 
must demonstrate are in place in order to be designated as ICS on or before 1 
April 2021. However, current ICS policy does not specify leadership, governance 
and robust plans for tacking health inequalities specifically, as a core part of the 
minimum requirements for ICS designation. Further NHS Midlands conducted a 
regional COVID lessons learned report which outlined that significant work is 
required to embed Health Inequalities into the work of systems, and really make a 
tangible impact. Finally system plans to tackle health inequalities (submitted to 
NHSEI on 21 Sept 2020) were of variable quality, and further, variable processes 
have been adopted to produce the plans. 

6. Therefore, NHS Midlands has endorsed further Health Inequalities core criteria 
for every system to address within each ICS development plan. 

7. The recommended criteria are below. It is anticipated that systems will either 
demonstrate that they can meet these criteria or explain how alternative 
arrangements will enable them to deliver the same outcomes.  

 

Page 142



 

 
NHS England and NHS Improvement 

 
 

Page 143



 

 
NHS England and NHS Improvement 

HI accountability arrangements within ICS 
 

Scope of Health Inequalities accountability framework 
 

8. There are already frameworks in place governing NHS organisational and 
programme accountability and similarly for local government. Further distinct 
accountability frameworks also apply to key partners such as educational 
institutions, third sector and voluntary organisations etc.  

9. The Health Inequality accountability framework accepts the organisational 
frameworks but recognises the need to build in accountability to each other and 
mutual accountability with the public.  

10. A successful accountability framework requires that all partners acknowledge and 
accept that tackling inequalities is an inherently complex area. There are 
limitations in both key performance measures and, often, the evidence for those 
measures. However, a well-developed health inequalities accountability 
framework should apply the discipline and rigour used in more straightforward 
and ‘mainstream’ settings and enable system partners to tell a convincing story, 
which is backed by credible evidence, about the value added by the programme 
of work and key initiatives and the contribution of the partnership to the public 
and other stakeholders. 

11. Effective arrangements will require partners creating robust local arrangements, 
which are appropriate to local circumstances, are cognisant of differing locally 
democratic and nationally mandated structures, but which, ultimately, better 
enable Health and Well Being boards to fulfil their critical role to ensure the local 
populations needs are being met.  

12. The reality is that addressing Health 
Inequalities requires the public’s 
involvement. This has to be a collaborative 
effort with the Health and Well Being 
boards. So co-production with Health and 
Well Being boards to develop this mutual 
accountability framework – ie: what the 
NHS and wider public sector will do, but in 
return what it needs from the local 
population – is fundamental to the 
development process.  

 

13. The diagram below illustrates the different local footprints over which 
arrangements should apply, and anticipated business cycle. 

Case study 1:  
‘The Wigan Deal’ - is an informal agreement 
between the council and everyone who lives or 
works there to work together to create a better 
borough and it has both pledges from the 
council as well as asks/commitments from the 
public.  
This example highlights that in exemplar cases 
elsewhere in England there is also a clarity about 
the relationship between the institutions and 
the public (and the public’s responsibilities as 
well).  

Page 144



 

 
NHS England and NHS Improvement 

 
 

Oversight and governance 
 

System arrangements for oversight 
 

14. Oversight should be through regular scrutiny by the Health and Well Being Board 
or Boards, on a frequency agreed locally.  

15. Additionally, it is anticipated that systems will apply governance best practice and 
ensure effective non-executive led board oversight arrangements are in place as 
well as systems for regular internal and external assurance on internal control 
systems and response to risk. 

16. Key factors for systems to consider when establishing arrangements to oversee 
the delivery of the system’s health inequalities plan of work: 

• A board comprising some non-executives, representatives of the community, and 
consideration of democratic representation, to provide independent challenge of 
progress. 

• Confirmation of what assurance has taken place on performance data and 
organisational processes critical to delivery of key actions or objectives. 

• Routine review of critical risks and mitigations, in particular jointly held risks 
across the HI programme. 

• Development programme to ensure members of the board are kept up to date 
with both strategic context, and local developments.  

Page 145



 

 
NHS England and NHS Improvement 

• Accessibility of plans and performance reports for the public and other key 
stakeholders should underpin strong local accountability arrangements. For 
health inequalities overt community engagement should also be built into the 
accountability cycle at all stages. This is particularly important for designing and 
then assessing the impact of initiatives on communities. 

17. A critical component of local oversight arrangements is to ensure system 
evaluation and learning as it is this learning process that is going to enable 
organisations and systems to adapt and modify what they are doing in order to 
keep to the overall purpose. Working with and through Health and Well Being 
boards to directly engage the public on what is and isn’t working is critical to 
strong mutual accountability and embedding improvement and learning into the 
cycle. 

•  prioritisation and focus on key groups of citizens.  

 

 

 

 
NHS Midlands 

18. The primary responsibility of the regional team is to ensure that the NHS in the 
Midlands delivers its objectives as agreed nationally and in line with the mandate 
given by the SoS. In this context, there are several key functions; 

• Ensure delivery of the plan to tackle Health Inequalities (noting that this plan will 
be co-produced with shared responsibilities)  

• Provide necessary support systems might require 

• Add value by “doing once” and facilitating development of initiatives and sharing 
of best practice that delivers economies of scale on behalf of local systems 

• work with other regulators to ensure alignment on collective oversight of the 
organisations in the region so that addressing inequalities is at the forefront of 
everyone’s agenda. 

19. The primary method of achieving the regional objective is to work through local 
systems and their stakeholders through; oversight, co-production and peer 
support and scoping and delivering expertise not available within the region. 

20. Local systems and their partners take responsibility for planning, implementing, 
monitoring and resourcing the broad range of services that local communities 
need. From a health and care context this includes services that promote health 
& wellbeing, prevent ill health, diagnose and treat, rehabilitate and support 
individuals and communities achieve a dignified and culturally relevant end of life 
process. 

21. The following arrangements should be in place to support meeting the key 
functions of the region to oversee delivery: 

• A regional SRO for the programme 

Case study here: Lincolnshire HWB and STP oversight arrangements to 

support focus on HI 

Page 146



 

 
NHS England and NHS Improvement 

• The regional SRO and the system SROs will form the key group to deliver the 
programmes on behalf of the NHS and in the context of the local government 
accountability framework. Maybe advisable to involve the LGA reps on the group. 

• The SRO will report to NHS Midlands Regional Director and the Midlands 
leadership team (made up of NHSEI regional leadership plus ICS/STP leads from 
each system). 

22. Reporting of progress will take place according to agreed annual cycle and an 
agreed sub-set of key performance indicators which will include performance 
against specified national targets but should also include metrics which are 
important to local population health objectives. 

 

Leadership and management arrangements within systems 
 

23. Local leadership in the first instance is key and the following arrangements are 
anticipated to support enhancing co-ordination and delivery across the system: 

• An SRO to supported by leads appointed by key stakeholders within the system. 

• The SRO will be responsible on behalf of both the NHS and local government.  

• Local systems will need to agree processes and structures that will enable the 
SRO to deliver work to tackle health inequalities on behalf of the NHS and local 
government. 

• The SRO through the STP/ICS processes and structures will contribute to the 
NHS accountability framework in relation to health inequalities. 

• The SRO will be responsible for work on health inequalities that will include the 
following; 

• A model of health that is owned by the NHS and local government and enables 
the development of a coherent set of actions that will have a measurable impact 
on health inequalities in the short, medium and long term.  

• The work will need to be resourced and it is the responsibility of the Finance 
Directors working with the Executive teams to ensure appropriate resourcing is 
made available. 

• Facilitating the appropriate use of Health Inequalities Impact Assessment  within 
core programmes, at inception and to determine progress 

• Actions need to cover determinants of health and programmes that prevent cure, 
rehabilitate and provide for a dignified death that all their communities can access 
based on needs.   

24. Due to the complexity; co-ordination of joint actions across partners will be 
required. There should be sufficient shared capacity to facilitate effective 
programme management arrangements and this should include applying the 
discipline of standard programme management practice: 

• Defining the shared programme of work, responsibilities of each partner, key 
inputs, outputs and outcomes and metrics to measure progress 

• Management arrangements and processes to regularly update on progress and 
take decisions 

Page 147



 

 
NHS England and NHS Improvement 

• Agreeing a joint risk register and mitigations, particularly for risks which are not 
solely for one partner to own and mitigate. 

• MOUs or other arrangements for personnel working together, which are 
consistent and aligned to organisational objectives 

• Defining consistent internal validation or assurance arrangements around 
tracking progress and measurement of impact. 

25. ICSs need to ensure leaders have the knowledge and capability to deliver on the 
broad health inequalities agenda, both in terms of technical expertise but also 
behavioural skills around effective collaboration, engagement and joint working. 
Therefore, specific developmental support should be in place. Further tackling 
health inequalities is everybody’s business and there should also be support and 
training available for key personnel across partner organisations to reinforce this 
message and how they, in their role, can ensure that health inequalities are 
addressed. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Planning, implementation and monitoring within systems 
 

26. The development of system plans should follow the best practice standards set 
out below and be underpinned by a robust approach to population health 
management. 

27. All ICSs/STPs and place-based bodies are adopting population health, 
prevention and health inequalities as a core priority and should set ambitious 
goals and objectives for improvement. There are strong prospects for positive 
impact at place level- based on active partnerships between NHS providers, local 
government, primary care, public health specialists, third sector and local 
communities. 

28. All healthcare providers should make significant contributions, recognising every 
interaction in primary, community and secondary care offers an opportunity for 
health improvement. All Trusts and primary care providers should therefore 
specify the work programmes they will pursue, particularly in relation to 
secondary prevention and health improvement. 

29. Fundamental to a strong framework for accountability are joint objectives, clarity 
on contribution and role of each partner, what risks there are and where data and 
intelligence will flow.  

30. Given the challenge over timeframes and which measures to use, it will be 
important for each ICS to produce a logic model that sets out assumptions about 
which proxy indicators are likely to be a good predictor for the outcomes that are 
desired over the long-term; the activities that will be undertaken to impact on 
these proxy measures; and the evaluation/feedback process for assessing 

Case study here: Walsall Together emerging arrangements to deliver place 

based integrated care, with reducing health inequalities as core 

objective 

Page 148



 

 
NHS England and NHS Improvement 

whether or not they are effective. Otherwise you could be aiming for targets but 
missing the overall objective. Supporting this learning and evaluation should be a 
part of the ICS remit; with a system decision support function to support this way 
of working. 

31. Individual health and care providers can do much internally to measure, take 
action, and advise on prioritisation of actions during recovery phases. Whilst most 
interventions will take place locally at a neighbourhood level, data analysis and 
leadership/coordination might take place more at place- and system-level.  

32. Partners will need to define a consistent set of key metrics (which include 
nationally prescribed indicators) that enable progress against key deliverables, 
and outcome targets, to be tracked over both the short- and medium-term. Some 
metrics may vary between systems due to the need for local plans to tackle the 
health inequalities priorities for the local population.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 149



 

 

Section 2: Tackling inequalities in Health Outcomes - System Inequalities Plans: Standards   
 

1. Introduction 
 
This paper sets out the standards for local systems to meet in presenting high quality plans to tackle inequalities in health outcomes. 
The fundamental purpose of standards is to describe what good looks like and therefore, where plans can demonstrate that they do 
meet the standards, that should give local communities confidence that the plans will achieve their objectives.  
 
In setting standards, it is important to understand the complexities involved in tackling inequalities.  A useful definition is that 
inequalities in health outcomes are avoidable and unfair differences in health between different groups of people. There is a rich 
history of UK based scientific effort to describe communities affected by these differences and what can be done about those 
differences. The most recent report is the Marmot Review first published in February 2010 with an update published on February 
2020.  
 
In addition to the scientific literature, there is also legislation underpinning the effort in reducing inequalities; 
1.1 The Equality act 2010 and the public sector duty 

1.2 The Health and Social Care act of 2012; a duty to have regard to the need to reduce inequalities in access to care and outcomes 

of care. 

 
However, turning those aspirations into actions with demonstrable improvements is more challenging because of the complexity 
underpinning inequalities in health outcomes; 
1.3 Multiple interacting factors determined not only by a variety of major stakeholders including national and local government but 

also individuals, the public, and voluntary sector.  

1.4 Interactions between factors can continually change with considerable unpredictability associated with any given input  

1.5 The system including organisations, individuals and communities continuously adapt to policy and interventions. The 

unintended consequences can be challenging to identify until they occur. 

1.6 Moreover, organisational constraints, governance structures & processes and ways of working can have a major impact on 

development and delivery of effective plans and for the output of those plans to be sustainable over the longer term 

 
For those reasons, a set of standards may add value to the approach at a system level and by focussing on the output of the 

P
age 150



 

 

planning process, enable judgements to be made by the viability of plans for tackling inequalities. The principles underpinning the 
standards are; 
1.7 Primary purpose is to support local systems and not formal assurance purposes and therefore, are primarily for use by local 

systems 

1.8 Designed to ensure the quality of plans to reduce inequalities are robust and give confidence that inequalities will be reduced 

and that the benefits are sustainable over the longer term. 

There are a range of standards that support high quality planning systems and for the NHS, the most recent initiative was the World 
Class Commissioning Competencies programme (2007). Those competencies are just as appropriate now as they were then. The 
work described in this paper is not about standards for planning but is about defining standards if applied to the plan itself should 
give confidence that the system has a robust and implementable plan. 
 

2. Measurement systems 
Effective plans depend upon good data and intelligence systems to enable progress to be assessed and for plans to adapt to 
changing circumstances. In the context of inequalities, the challenge is to ensure that the distribution of benefits (health outcomes) 
from interventions are equitable across all individuals and communities. In effect this means being able to describe health 
outcomes by particular characteristics of communities; the protected characteristics as set out in the public sector duty with a focus 
on variation by social deprivation. This needs to be the bed rock of the data and intelligence systems needed tackling inequalities in 
every system.  
 

3. Standards 
 

Standards Rationale and comments 

A. The bedrock of the plan  

A1. Model of Health and Inequalities 
Framework 

Given the complexity described previously, a framework is needed to support; 
system wide understanding of the key local factors in the context of the science 
underpinning inequalities, prioritisation, development of interventions and metrics 
and scaling up of programmes. The framework needs to be co-developed by the 
system and be understandable by local communities. The Director/s of Public 
health should lead the development supported by the NHS and local 
stakeholders. The topics set out below should fit cogently within the framework 
and provide a sense of the extent to which the identified inequalities will be 

P
age 151



 

 

reduced as a consequence of implementing the plan. 

A2. Metrics, Data and Intelligence Both quantitative and qualitative intelligence and data is required to both monitor 
implementation as well as enable plans to be adapted as national and local 
politics and policies change. In the context of the framework, ambitions of the 
systems need to be articulated and in a way that is understood by all partners 
and local communities. 

A3. Description of local communities and 
critical demographic features 

Recognise the different communities within the system, their demographic and 
other characteristics, epidemiology and the risks of poor access to services. This 
is a critical element of the work that is required.  

B. Topics within the plan  

B1. Application of Health Equity Assessment 
on priority programmes and appropriate 
action plans to address any challenges. The 
NHS LTP describes the major programmes 
which should be the priority for HEA.  
 

 

This is an assessment of the extent to which communities and individuals most at 
risk, either, because of access challenges and/or higher epidemiological risk of ill 
health have timely access to major programmes. Several tools are available, and 
webinars will be used to provide training to systems. The importance of this 
action lies in the fact that many of the programmes identified within the LTP are 
supported by cost effective interventions which if implemented at scale across 
the Midlands have the potential to transform both health and productivity. 

B2. Promotion of wellbeing and prevention of 
ill health: 
  
a) Health promoting NHS (ensuring in all 

aspects of business, health is actively 
promoted. Includes smoke free sites, 
availability of fruit and vegetables, etc) 
 
 

b) Incorporation of Making Every Contact 
Count and active referrals to support 
health promoting life styles (tobacco, 
alcohol and physical activity and nutrition). 
Prevention interventions included in all 
clinical care pathways 

 
 
 
Numerous surveys have shown the influence that the NHS (the clinicians in 
particular) has on the public. It is important therefore, for the NHS to role model 
and integrate key health promoting messages in everything it does. 
http://www.knowledge.scot.nhs.uk/home/portals-and-topics/health-
improvement/hphs.aspx 
 
Both training for public facing staff and routes for specialist support for individuals 
need to be in place and actively monitored and adapted to suit needs of 
communities within the geography concerned. Element of this is the inclusion of 
assessment and referral processes within clinical care pathways This programme 
of work should be co-developed with the local government public health team. 
 

P
age 152

http://www.knowledge.scot.nhs.uk/home/portals-and-topics/health-improvement/hphs.aspx
http://www.knowledge.scot.nhs.uk/home/portals-and-topics/health-improvement/hphs.aspx


 

 

 
c) Ensuring vaccination and immunisation 

programmes meet national ambitions 
 
d) Ensuring screening programmes meet 

national ambitions 

S&I programmes through their underpinning principles are about reducing 
inequalities. However, to do so, uptake of the programmes needs to in the 90%+. 
There is considerable evidence to show that uptake can be low amongst 
communities most in need and if so, service delivery redesign may be required to 
improve uptake amongst those communities. 

B3. Improvement plans based on national 
bench marking programmes 
 

 

The benchmarking available through the NHS (RightCare), enable the scale of 
the inequalities gaps to be identified and brought to the attention of local 
systems.  These programmes demonstrate the geographical variation in both 
process and outcomes which is incapsulated within the notion of unwarranted 
variation in the context of social deptivation. This variation is an important 
contributor for the variation in outcomes between different communities. All plans 
need to have identified priorities from these national programmes for action 
locally and in doing so, systems need to have used the inequalities challenge as 
one of the criteria.  

B4. Strengthening of primary and community 
services with a focus on those supporting 
deprived communities and within the context 
of community assets in the locality concerned 

Evidence about the importance of primary care and community services in 
supporting local communities in the context of inequalities is strong and the 
importance of the links with the 3rd sector in order to ensure a holistic approach is 
also strong. This standard is about translating that evidence into action in the 
Midlands. 

B4. Determinants of health 
 

The importance of the determinants of health (employment, education, housing, 
etc) are well recognised and it is for system to develop programmes based on 
needs of local communities.  The NHS LTP recognises the value the NHS brings 
to the local place and expects the local NHS to contribute to this work through the 
anchor institution (social value) programme agreed with stakeholders 

B5.  Inclusion health  
 

Working with partners identifying communities for whom access may be 
challenging (e.g. homeless, travellers, etc) and developing programmes that 
enable appropriate and timely access. Application of health equity assessment 
should ensure this risk is mitigated. 

B6. Resources: Financial plan for inequalities 
programme and appropriate use of tools 
supporting return on investment 

Appropriate financial planning and budget allocation is critical. Finance 
professionals need to be active team members in developing plans on 
inequalities. Needs to include deployment of current resources to address 

P
age 153



 

 

 inequalities within existing programmes and transformation funding for key 
priorities. Return on investment tools need to be chosen carefully and the 
assumptions underpinning those tools need to be congruent with the science of 
inequalities.  

B7. Interventions that deliver in the short, 
medium and long term 

 

Complexity of the factors and their interactions leading to inequalities are rooted 
in the socioeconomic factors within which communities live, work. And so, some 
interventions (e.g. determinants) may well take time to delivery whereas others 
will delivery benefits very quickly. Plans need to demonstrate that this insight is 
understood and reflected.   

C. Enablers  

C1. Workforce initiatives; training on 
inequalities, equality and diversity etc. 

Effective planning, delivery and benefit realisation cannot be assured unless the 
workforce involved in those activities are committed and are actively encouraged 
to do so. The CEO and exec directors need to have both, training on inequalities 
and inclusion of inequalities in their objectives as a primary prerequisite to 
effective support. The importance of ensuring the workforce reflects local 
communities cannot be over emphasised and notions of workforce diversity is not 
only morally right but is also right in terms of rooting the NHS in local 
communities and using that as a means of maximising the influence and impact 
of the NHS within communities.  

C2. Community/patient engagement Proactively build continuous and meaningful engagement with public and patients 
to shape services and improve health. Local systems are responsible for 
investing public funds on behalf of their patients and communities. In order to 
make effective decisions that reflect needs, priorities and aspiration of local 
communities, local systems will need to have methods of engagement with local 
communities and in particular with those communities who are least able to act 
as advocates for themselves.  

 

4. Responsibilities of key partners in the context of Inequalities 
 

4.1 Strategic Place based approach to Inequalities: Local Government and its DPH 

Section 12 of the 2012 Act introduced a new duty for all upper-tier and unitary local authorities in England to take appropriate steps 
to improve the health of the people who live in their areas and the DPH has the overall responsibility in relation to this group of 

P
age 154



 

 

functions. Although not specified in the legislative framework, there are strong arguments, for the DPH to take on the responsibility 
for leading and facilitating the development of the place-based model of health framework and the subsequent planning process, 
with the expectation that the NHS will contribute.  
At a structural level, a partnership board is inevitable but its relationship with the statutorily defined Health and Wellbeing Board, 
needs to be carefully considered in developing partnership arrangements. On behalf of the key stakeholders, the partnership board 
should take responsibility for the strategic elements of enabling the system to reduce inequalities but also expect accountability 
within the partnership for delivery of co-developed plans.  
  
4.2 Determinants of health in the Place:  Local government and stakeholders including the NHS 
This is about understanding how factors such as education, economy, housing, health and so on are impacting on local communities. 
The challenge is partners coming together to understand that impact, prioritising and developing programmes in collaboration with 
local communities to strengthen community resilience to adverse social circumstances. From an NHS perspective, this is about the 
anchor institution programme as set out in the LTP and is about adding social value. 

 
4.3 Promotion of health and prevention of ill health: Local government and stakeholders including the NHS 

Considerable scientific literature on the key factors and the interventions needed by communities. Both the NHS and local 
government have specific responsibilities and the challenge is to align those services in such a way, as to make it straight forward 
for diverse communities to utilise services appropriately. Primary care and community services are vital for communities to benefit 
from major innovations and clinical advances and need to be strengthened in order to support communities with socio-economic 
challenges. 
 
4.4 Ill Health: diagnosis, cure/rehabilitation and dignified death: NHS institutions 

Case study 4: Meeting the needs of rough sleepers in Nottingham  
   
During the first lockdown, rough sleepers in Nottingham were accommodated in two city hotels. Local health and care partners worked 
together to provide around-the-clock care and support to people staying at the hotels. This included daily visits from the local homeless 
health team, and drug and alcohol support where appropriate. GPs gave consultations by video and were on call 24 hours a day if face-to-
face assessment was needed. A mental health clinic was set up at one of the hotels, enabling people to receive assessments and, where 
needed, referring to secondary mental health care. As a result, more than 35 people who were sleeping rough before the pandemic are 
now in permanent accommodation with wrap-around support. The City partnership have since established a team made up of colleagues 
from different professional backgrounds and settings to meet the health and care needs of those actually or at risk of sleeping rough.  
  

P
age 155



 

 

In delivering these services, the responsibility is to ensure that the needs of diverse communities within the geography concerned 
are accounted for in service delivery. Of all the NHS sectors, primary care and community services are critically important.  

 
4.5 Engaging with communities: NHS and local government 

The complexity of inequalities is such that, regular engagement with local communities and enabling those communities to contribute 
to development of communication plans, service design and delivery is critical. Partners individually and as a partnership need to 
have methods in place to facilitate that engagement. 
 
4.6 Health and Care Regulatory Functions: CQC [DN: need to explore with CQC] 

The CQC has identified inequalities as a key requirement of health and care services and was/is developing its approach. The focus 
is on; person Centred care, accessible information, equal access to pathways of care and equality and well led provider.  
 

5. Conclusion 
 
This report should be disseminated to STP/ICS Inequalities Leads to utilise in developing inequalities plan for 2021/22.

P
age 156



 

 
NHS England and NHS Improvement 

Section 3: OUR COMMITMENT TO TACKLING THE CAUSES 
OF INEQUALITIES 
 
 

THE MIDLANDS’ CHARTER  

Purpose of the Midlands Charter 

NHS Midlands in partnership with PHE Midlands agreed to make the reduction of 

inequalities in health outcomes a key priority. This commitment has been further 

strengthened by the NHS LTP and the lessons from the COIVID-19 experience within 

communities. In order to galvanise actions and to make the commitment explicit across all 

health and care systems, we propose that a Charter is co-developed by the partners 

involved in the system and signed off for public display. 

 

What should the Charter contain? 

 

The proposal is that the co-produced Charter should include a combination of the following 

outputs/outcomes as agreed by the local system;  

✓ Recognition that communities are different and therefore their epidemiological risk 

and access risks vary. The system partners will work to ensure service delivery takes 

account of these differences. 

✓ Ensure all local communities benefit from the services provided by partners and 

therefore, have appropriate monitoring systems describing differences by protected 

characteristics and deprivation.  

✓ Access to advice on staying well, preventative services and straightforward joined up 

care and treatment in appropriate languages and culturally sensitive formats 

✓ Proactive support for vulnerable and/or high risk individuals and communities 

✓ Support for determinants of health (economic and educational) regeneration of 

XXXXXX 

 

The principles that the partners will uphold:  

 

1. Collective responsibility for the health and wellbeing of the communities in the place 

2. Working together in ensuring effective action on; 

✓ Determinants of health: education, employment, housing and poverty reduction 

programmes 

✓ Health and wellbeing services; smoking, alcohol, nutrition, physical activity and 

recreational drug use promoting parity between mental and physical health  

✓ Ill health prevention programmes; vaccinations, screening programmes 

✓ Health care services (mental and physical health); diagnostic, treatment and 

rehabilitation programmes 

✓ Social care programmes; care in the community including hospital at home, 

domiciliary support and residential care support 

✓ End of life support: services that support a dignified and pain free death  

3. Engaging with local communities and the 3rd sector to; understand their health and 

wellbeing needs, to commission and deliver culturally competent services so that every 

individual who may benefit do access those services and to monitor access and 

outcomes to ensure equitable benefit realisation. 

Page 157



 

 
NHS England and NHS Improvement 

4. Recognise and accept that reducing the inequalities in physical and mental health 

outcomes experienced by communities will take time and so we and the organisations 

commit to programmes that cover the short, medium and long term. 

5. In developing these programmes commit to meeting the requirements of the public 

sector duty (Equalities act), the equalities duty and challenges posed by social 

deprivation. 

6. Recognise that the tax payer provides funds and so commit to ensuring the money given 

is used effectively, efficiently and productively to improve the mental and physical health 

and wellbeing of all the communities. 

7. Commit to working with national government in accessing initiatives and funding that are 

relevant to the mental and physical health and wellbeing needs of local communities. 

 

Conclusion 

It is for local systems to determine the need for a public declaration of their commitment of 

reducing inequalities in health outcomes. On the assumption that, such an act is important to 

galvanise action by the partnership and local communities, a Charter co-developed by the 

partnership containing the range of issues described above may be helpful. 

 

Page 158



 

 
NHS England and NHS Improvement 

Annex A: Core competences of leaders in tackling health 
inequalities 
 

[Drafting Note: to update detail here from leadership competency framework (cross-
ref People Plan urgent actions)] 

Working effectively on health inequalities needs a collaborative and system wide 
approach to leadership, supporting everybody to work together more effectively. 

The leadership skills required for a whole system approach to addressing health 
inequalities include developing four critical capabilitiesi:  

• systems leadership for staff who are working with partners in other local 
services on joining up local health and care services for their communities  

• established quality improvement methods that draw on staff and service 
users’ knowledge and experience to improve service quality and efficiency  

• inclusive and compassionate leadership, so that all staff are listened to, 
understood and supported, and so that leaders at every level of the health system 
demonstrably reflect the talents and diversity of people working in health and care 
services and the communities they serve  

• talent management to support NHS-funded services to fill senior posts and 

develop future leadership pipelines with the right numbers of diverse, appropriately 

experienced people 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

i Page 14, NHS interim People Plan https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/05/Interim-NHS-People-Plan_June2019.pdf  

 

Page 159

https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Interim-NHS-People-Plan_June2019.pdf
https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Interim-NHS-People-Plan_June2019.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



1

WMCA Wellbeing Board

Date 22 January 2021

Report title Working together to promote active travel and 
health – West Midlands Active Travel Fund

Portfolio Lead Cllr Izzi Seccombe – Wellbeing Board 

Accountable Chief
Executive

Deborah Cadman OBE, West Midlands 
Combined Authority
email: Deborah.cadman@wmca.org.uk
Tel: (0121) 214 7800

Accountable
Employee

Simon Hall Physical Activity Strategic Lead
Email: simon.hall@wmca.org.uk
(for the specific programmes listed in this report)
Claire Williams, Head of Cycling and Walking 
TfWM is accountable for the West Midlands 
Active Travel Fund programme

Report has been
considered by

N/A

Recommendations for action and decision:

The Wellbeing Board is asked to:
Note the progress of this work in integrating transport and health priorities and encouraging 
behaviour change in communities most impacted by Covid 19.

Page 161

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Deborah.cadman@wmca.org.uk
mailto:simon.hall@wmca.org.uk


2

1. Purpose

1.1 At its last meeting, the Wellbeing Board approved the WMCA’s Physical Activity 
priorities and the delivery plan. This included priorities for getting more people walking 
and cycling, which is a joint transport and health agenda.

1.2 This report summarises the impact of initial work and sets out the lessons learnt and 
next steps. To support this report, Deborah Fox, the Head of Demand Management at 
TfWM will be providing a presentation on delivery of the West Midlands Active Travel 
Fund, securing investment from Department of Transport for supporting measures to 
get more people walking and cycling.

1.3 The report highlights the relevance to the “Community Recovery of Covid 19” and the 
“Health of the Region” priorities, illustrated through collaboration, as well as enabling of 
and influencing behaviour change, especially amongst BAME and vulnerable groups.  

2. Background

2.1 In its “Gear Change” Strategy, the Government set out its intentions to get more people 
walking and cycling and this was supported by a £2bn package to deliver a series of 
recommendations to improve health, get more people active, improve the environment 
and greater modal shift getting more people to adopt Active Travel and use public 
transport.

2.2 Excellent collaborative work between the 7 Local Authorities and Transport for West 
Midlands/WMCA which has led to £16.85m investment directed at measures to improve 
the “Starley Network” of 500 miles of cycling routes across the West Midlands and a 
range of revenue supporting measures to activate the network and get more people 
walking and cycling.

Page 162



3

3. Delivering the Health of the Region priorities

3.1 Working with TfWM and Local Authority colleagues, our Wellbeing and Prevention focus 
has been on embedding behaviour change, trialling different ways of working and 
offering economies of scale to local authority partners. Much has been achieved and is 
planned by Local Authorities and TfWM to provide new, safer and better opportunities 
for local people to walk and cycle. The collaborative work is having a positive impact in 
encouraging behaviour change. 

3.2 In delivering the Regional Health of the Region priorities, the funding has enabled initial 
delivery has:

BAME and Vulnerable Groups
Engaged 269 families and 235 new disabled people getting cycling through the Midland 
Mencap’s “Parkride” scheme

People Powered Health
Enabled close to 8,000 people to use 9 Black Country parks using the Love Explore app 
between 17 November and end of December and enabled the Black Country to secure 
funding between Local Authorities and Black Country Consortium to launch this app. 

Access to Health and Social Care
40 patients were prescribed walking or cycling by GPs has part of a £15k Black Country 
trial targeting people who suffer from hypertension, identified as pre-diabetic and from 
migrant communities. 70% reported a physical health benefit, 67% a mental health 
benefit and 93% confirmed that they intended to continue with their activity (people 
powered health).

Wider Determinants
Enabled TfWM/WMCA to secure investment to support local areas to bolster community 
engagement and capacity to get more local communities especially in our most 
disadvantaged areas to use the cycling network.

3.3 The TfWM presentation provided at the Board meeting demonstrates the impact that a 
collaborative approach to levering investment to improve the infrastructure and activate 
communities can have. The local collaboration between transport and Local Authority 
public health teams has been instrumental to delivering better health and active travel 
outcomes for local citizens.

4. Legal Implications

4.1 There are no additional legal implications.

5. Equalities Implications

5.1 This has been addressed in the planning and submission of the TfWM bid to 
Department of Transport for which the impact on addressing inequalities will be 
monitored.

6.0 Inclusive Growth Implications

6.1 There are no new inclusive growth implications associated with this report. However, 
the delivery from the West Midlands Active Travel Fund has involved targeting 

Page 163



4

investment at people who face more barriers to walking and cycling, including people 
with disabilities, people from BAME groups, and people living in areas of multiple 
deprivation. As such, the inclusive growth implications associated with this delivery are 
positive, but will need to be sustained and grown, to ensure that the gains realised 
during this programme are not lost as soon as the investment is spent. This is crucial to 
enable positive health outcomes across the region, as well as to meet our climate 
change obligations, as laid out in WM2041.   

7. Geographical Area of Report’s Implications

7.1 This work operates across the WMCA geography creating connected infrastructure and 
supporting measures at a local and through economies of scale across the West 
Midlands.

8 Other Implications
None

Page 164



Wellbeing Board
Date 22 January 2021

Report title Thrive at Work

Portfolio Lead Cllr Izzi Seccombe – Wellbeing 

Accountable Chief
Executive

Deborah Cadman OBE, West Midlands 
Combined Authority
email: Deborah.cadman@wmca.org.uk
Tel: (0121) 214 7800

Accountable
Employee

Sean Russell
Head of Thrive
Sean.russell@wmca.org.uk

Report has been
considered by

N/A

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

1. To consider the report
2. Approve the approach going forward 
3. Support the considerations outlined to amplify the recruitment of organisations.

1. Purpose

1.1. This report is to provide a high-level overview of the Thrive at Work programme and 
to seek support to amplify the programme to businesses across the West Midlands.

2. Background

2.1. In January 2017, WMCA launched the Mental Health Commission chaired by Rt. 
Hon Sir Norman Lamb. One of the key programme areas in the action plan was the 
development of Thrive at Work. 

2.2. Thrive at Work is an evidence-based accreditation programme developed to 
provide the tools for businesses and employers across the East and West Midlands 
to enable them to improve the productivity of their workforce and support an 
improvement in wellbeing.

2.3. In 2019, the WMCA, with partners, developed a Randomised Control Trial 
(“RCT”) to test whether a fiscal incentive would improve the uptake of wellbeing 
programmes in Small and Medium enterprises (“SMEs”). Funding was obtained 

Page 165

Agenda Item 10



from the innovation fund of the Work and Health Unit, to design and deliver the 
programme.

 
2.4. The RCT was split into 4 arms; Full Grant, Half Grant, Toolkit with support from the 

Thrive at Work Team, and assignment onto the trial with no intervention offered, the 
latter of which acted as a control.

2.5. As part of the trial the team developed the Thrive at Work Toolkit. This product 
provides an accredited process for businesses to follow to gain accreditation to 
Bronze, Silver or Gold. The Toolkit comprises a set of tools to enable businesses to 
begin the wellbeing journey and provides an evidence-based approach to 
intervention. The programme starts with a self-assessment and health needs 
assessment including a staff survey. The information obtained from these 
assessments then drives an action plan for delivery within the organisation. The 
Toolkit focuses on 4 structured mental health and wellbeing thematic areas; 
enablers of physical health, Musculoskeletal (“MSK”), Mental Health, and healthy 
lifestyles, providing support and guidance to employers.

2.6. The trial recruited 152 SMEs across the WMCA footprint to create an evidence-
based approach. The final report is due to be published in spring this year. The 
early evidence suggested that a grant supported businesses to deliver wellbeing 
activities that may not have been previously deliverable. However, the evidence 
also suggested that not all wellbeing activities required funding and a structured 
approach to intervention could enable an organisation to make a difference through 
delivering free activities such as a lunchtime running session, mindfulness 
sessions, yoga and Zumba put on by staff members. The overarching evidence 
suggested that organisations that had senior engagement to embed the approach 
were more likely to develop better outcomes.

2.7. Building on the early work, Thrive at Work continued to grow recruiting up to 400 
businesses reaching up to 135,000 employees across the region. In April 2019, 
WMCA in partnership with Coventry and Warwick Universities, and in association 
with the mental Health Charity Mind, bid for £6.7M worth of funding from the 
Midlands Engine to amplify the programme through the Midlands Engine Mental 
Health and Productivity Pilot. 

2.8. The programme seeks to enable businesses across the East and West 
Midlands access to the Thrive at Work programme and the Mind Wellbeing at 
Work programme. In addition, a number of academic trials are being implemented 
through partners at Birmingham, Derby, Lincoln and Nottingham Universities to 
create interventions to support employees whose productivity may be impacted by 
poor mental health. examples of the interventions include providing wearable 
trackers to monitor sleep and supporting with Cognitive Behaviour Therapy or 
providing a toolkit to employers for in-work retention of evidence-based approaches 
to assist people in returning to work.

Page 166



2.9. A key element of the trial is the amplification of mental health literacy 
programmes such as Every Mind Matters, the free NHS toolkit which provides an 
individual Mental Wellbeing action plan; Mental Health First Aid with an ambition to 
bring this in line with the employers statutory responsibility to provide physical first 
aid in the workplace, and finally, ‘This is Me’ the workplace mental health anti-
stigma campaign where staff in the organisation tell their own story of living with 
mental health to raise its profile and break down barriers. 

2.10. However, the COVID-19 pandemic has created a real challenge for the 
programme. Businesses are struggling to survive financially and although 
employees are important, the emphasis on the workforce is not translating into 
programme sign ups.

2.11. Providing the narrative for employers is clear - It is recognised that more employees 
than ever will require support:
 It is estimated 8.5 million adults (20% of all adults) in England will need support 

for depression, anxiety, post-traumatic stress disorders and other mental health 
difficulties following the pandemic. 37% of these will not have experienced mental 
ill health prior to the pandemic. (Centre for Mental Health, 2020),

 Isolation is on the rise. 8% of adults in November reported feeling always or often 
lonely, representing 4.2 million adults (ONS, 2020),

 48% of employees are working long and irregular hours; 43% feel they do not 
have enough time to get work done; 36% feel under too much work pressure 
(Institute of Employment Studies,2020),

 79% of HR Managers believe the widespread implementation of remote working 
has encouraged e-presenteeism (Mental Health Foundation & LinkedIn, 2020).

2.12. Learning from the latest research of all factors, organisational support for mental 
health and wellbeing has the biggest impact on mental health outcomes for 
employees:
 77% of employees working in supportive organisations felt generally happy at 

work compared to 23% of those working in organisations who are not. (Mind, 
2020),

 75% of employees with supportive managers felt generally happy at work 
compared to 28% with unsupportive managers. (Mind, 2020),

 Only 56% of employees feel that their organisation supports their mental health 
(Mind, 2020).

2.13. Adapting to the pandemic, Thrive at Work responded in the early stage of the first 
lockdown to create Thrive at Home. This toolkit provides advice and guidance to 
employers and employees on how to stay mentally well whilst working from home. 
The approach is equally valuable as we move to a more agile work agenda post 
COVID-19.

2.14. Responding to the feedback from businesses that the Bronze accreditation was 
challenging to complete due the volume of work required, a light version called the 
“Foundation” level has recently been launched. This product creates a five-step 
approach to enable an organisation to understand where they currently are on the 

Page 167



wellbeing journey and to develop an action plan to support the migration towards 
Bronze accreditation. It is anticipated that the programme for the foundation 
accreditation will take 90 days to complete. 

2.15. Currently, the programme is working with a total of 369 organisations. Of these, 
22 organisations have achieved Bronze accreditation including WMCA and Solihull 
Metropolitan Borough Council, Dudley Citizens Advice Bureaux as well as a 
number of SMEs and schools. The team have just accredited the first foundation 
level organisation. There are currently four organisations progressing towards Silver 
accreditation.

2.16. However, despite the changes to the programme, recruitment and retention 
continue to be a challenge.

3. Next Steps

3.1. The Thrive at Work programme is seeking to recruit a total of 842 business within 
the next 18 months across the East and West Midlands to amplify the offer and 
drive improvements in productivity. The ambition will be to support 50% of the 
businesses to the Foundation level, 20% of businesses to Bronze, 5% to Silver and 
pushing for 1% to be working towards Gold.

3.2. There are 3 potential opportunities to consider which will support the drive to 
increase the number of businesses involved in the programme, and lever this as 
part of the recovery agenda moving forward.

3.2.1. Commonwealth Games – this provides an excellent opportunity to promote 
Thrive at Work to all business and employers working with the Commonwealth 
Games.

3.2.2. Anchor institutions – this creates an opportunity for major employers in the 
region to adopt the programme and lead by example. As highlighted, we have 
WMCA and Solihull MBC already at Bronze level with Coventry also about to be 
formally accredited to Bronze.

3.2.3. Procurement pipeline – enabling a process in which organisations applying to 
work with the public or private sector demonstrate their social value through the 
commitment to workplace wellbeing. enabling a process to occur where 
organisations who are applying to work with the public or private sector 
demonstrate through the social value approach the commitment to workplace 
wellbeing.

Page 168



4. Conclusion
4.1. This programme is part of the broader Midlands Engine Mental Health and 

Productivity Pilot seeking to improve productivity and increase awareness of mental 
health in the workplace. It should be seen as a strong supporting programme for 
businesses and employers in the West Midlands and across the wider Midlands 
Engine and should be a vital tool to support employees during the pandemic and 
during the recovery phase.

5. Financial Implications

5.1. The overall financial envelope for the programme from 1st July 2019 to 30th June 
2022 is £2,533,998, which included the £1.542m for the initial Randomised Control 
Trial leaving £991,966 to cover the expansion of the Midlands Engine work until 
June 2022. It is anticipated that this will be spent to a net zero position by June 
2022.

5.2. Grant funded programmes (Midlands Engine funding) have ring fenced budgets and 
will operate in line with their terms and conditions, and work is ongoing to secure 
these programmes post their end dates.

6. Legal Implications

6.1. No issues at this stage. 

7. Equalities Implications

7.1. It is recognised that there are growing inequalities, with the prevalence of poor 
mental health in the workplace costing the UK economy £42bn per year through 
absenteeism and presenteeism. There are currently over 70,000 people out of work 
in the region with poor physical and mental health conditions and the pandemic has 
shown that between 30-36% of employees are feeling anxious. It is also recognised 
that the healthy life expectancy across the region is growing and employees are 
likely to be working with long-term conditions for a significant number of years until 
they retire or leave the workplace through poor health. This refresh will seek to 
address these issues and focus on reducing the inequality gap.

8. Inclusive Growth Implications

8.1 The overall inclusive growth implications associated with the Thrive At Work 
programme are positive, given that the aim is to ensure that economic activity is not 
created at the expense of citizen mental health. The Covid-19 pandemic has made mental 
health in the workplace a higher priority than ever, but as the report highlights, the 
capacity of local businesses and organisations to take on new practice is being seriously 
tested. Furthermore, employees are under more pressure than ever to be ‘present’, given 
the heightened risk of unemployment and reduced numbers of vacancies in certain 

Page 169



sectors. Ensuring that the programme retains its focus and drive is important, given the 
opportunities highlighted in the report to grow good practice across more businesses. 
However, continued collaboration with funders and participating businesses will enable 
the programme to be tailored to the needs of employers and employees, which may 
change in nature between now and the end of the programme in June 2022.

9. Geographical Area of Report’s Implications

9.1. The framework is a whole system approach and any decision to test interventions 
or propose action will be considered within the Thrive programmes proposed 
strategy and provide regular update to the Wellbeing Board.

10.Other Implications

10.1. None

11.Schedule of Background Papers

Page 170


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the last meeting
	6 Health of the Region (HoR)  Report
	Health of the Region 2020
	Foreword
	Acknowledgements 
	Executive Summary 
	Introduction 
	Background 
	Health inequalities across the life€course
	Recognising the impacts of€COVID-19

	The Regional Health Impacts of COVID-19 Task & Finish Group 
	Aims and purpose of report 
	Comment on Black Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) phrase and representation 

	Section 1 Health and health inequalities in the West Midlands region
	1.1 Who are our people? 
	1.2 Life expectancy and quality of life 
	Impacts of COVID-19 on length and quality of life

	1.3 Causes of ill health, early death and preventable disease 
	Screening and early intervention 
	Impacts of COVID-19 on health behaviours and risks 

	1.4 Causes of unhealthy lifestyles: understanding the ‘causes of the causes’ 
	1.5 Living with challenges 
	Structural racism and ethnic disparities as determinants of health 
	Vulnerable children and young people 
	Box 3: Impact of COVID-19 on women 
	Increasing risk of harm through violence and€exploitation 
	Box 4: Digital inclusion and the ‘digital divide’ 
	Section 1 summary


	Section 2 Opportunities for change
	2.1 Closing the health and wealth gap through radical prevention
	2.2 Inclusive growth within an inclusive economy 
	2.3 Place-based approaches and community-centred public health 
	2.3.1 Anchor institutions 

	2.4 Local application and developing opportunities for action 
	2.4.1 Crisis response 
	2.4.2 Community engagement 
	2.4.3 Data and intelligence 
	2.4.4 Workforce wellbeing 
	2.4.5 Innovation and system change 

	Section 2 summary 

	Section 3 Commitments to action and recommendations
	2. Tackling the wider determinants of health 
	3. Widening access to health and care 
	4. People-powered health 
	Recommendations to Government

	References 
	Appendix 1 Call for Evidence Submissions
	Appendix 2 Thematic analysis of qualitative evidence submitted to RHIC Call for Evidence, Sept 2020

	Foreword
	Acknowledgements
	Executive Summary
	Introduction
	Background
	Health inequalities across the life€course
	Recognising the impacts of€COVID-19

	The Regional Health Impacts of COVID-19 Task & Finish Group
	Aims and purpose of report
	Comment on Black Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) phrase and representation

	Section 1 Health and health inequalities in the West Midlands region
	1.1 Who are our people?
	1.2 Life expectancy and quality of life
	Impacts of COVID-19 on length and quality of life

	1.3 Causes of ill health, early death and preventable disease
	Screening and early intervention
	Impacts of COVID-19 on health behaviours and risks

	1.4 Causes of unhealthy lifestyles: understanding the ‘causes of the causes’
	The economic and environmental impact of COVID-19

	1.5 Living with challenges
	Structural racism and ethnic disparities as determinants of health
	Vulnerable children and young people
	Inclusion health and vulnerable groups
	Box 3: Impact of COVID-19 on women
	Increasing risk of harm through violence and€exploitation
	Box 4: Digital inclusion and the ‘digital divide’

	Section 1 summary

	Section 2  Opportunities for change
	2.1 Closing the health and wealth gap through radical prevention
	2.2 Inclusive growth within an inclusive economy
	2.3 Place-based approaches and community-centred public health
	2.3.1 Anchor institutions

	2.4 Local application and developing opportunities for action
	2.4.1 Crisis response
	2.4.2 Community engagement
	2.4.3 Data and intelligence
	2.4.4 Workforce wellbeing
	2.4.5 Innovation and system change

	Section 2 summary

	Section 3  Commitments to action and recommendations
	1. Improving outcomes for BAME communities
	2. Tackling the wider determinants of health
	3. Widening access to health and care
	4. People-powered health
	Recommendations to Government

	References
	Appendix 1 Call for Evidence Submissions
	Appendix 2 Thematic analysis of qualitative evidence submitted to RHIC Call for Evidence, Sept 2020
	6b - HealthOfTheRegionNov2020 - Exec Summary A4 (1)
	Health of the Region 2020
	Executive Summary 


	6c - HOTR_Report2020 One Page

	7 Post HoR Wellbeing Programmes Update :
	8 Working Together to promote active travel and health - West Midlands Active Travel Fund
	10 Thrive at work Update

